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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
(Mark One)
[x] ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 25, 2010
Or
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission file number: 000-50307

FormFactor, Inc.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its @rart

Delaware 13-371115¢
(State or other jurisdiction of (LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organizatiol Identification No.)

7005 Southfront Road, Livermore, California 94551
(Address of principal executive offices, includinigp code)

(925) 290-4000
(Registrant's telephone number, including area)code

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(bh@fAct: Common Stock
Name of each exchange on which registelfISDAQ Global Market
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(ghefct:None
Indicate by check mark if the registranaiwell-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rleof the Securities Act. YeEl No

Indicate by check mark if the registranhot required to file reports pursuant to Secli8ror Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act. Yk
No

Indicate by check mark whether the registr(1) has filed all reports required to be filgdSection 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shqégiod that the registrant was required to filetsteports), and (2) has been subject to such
filing requirements for the past 90 days. Y&k No O

Indicate by check mark whether the regigtsubmitted electronically and posted on its oafe Web site, if any, every Interactive Data
File required to be submitted and posted pursuaRiuie 405 of the Regulation S-T during the precgdi2 months (or for such shorter period
that the registrant was required to submit and posh files). YesO No O



Indicate by check mark if disclosure ofiniguent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulat®#K is not contained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of registrant's knowledgefinitive proxy or information statements incorated by reference in Part Ill of this
Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 105K

Indicate by check mark whether the registis a large accelerated filer, an accelerated f non-accelerated filer or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of "large acceleréited" "accelerated filer* and "smaller reportiogmpany" in Rule 1212-of the Exchange Ac

Large accelerated fileEl Accelerated filer[x Non-accelerated filell Smaller reporting compariy

(Do not check if a smaller
reporting company

Indicate by check mark whether the regigtis a shell company (as defined in Rule 12bthefExchange Act). Ye&l No X

Aggregate market value of registrant's wam stock held by non-affiliates of the registrdr@sed upon the closing price of a share of the
registrant's common stock on June 25, 2010 (thdlasness day of the registrant's most recenttypteted second quarter) as reported by
NASDAQ Global Market on that date: $328,049,221ar8k of the registrant's common stock held by eaebutive officer, director and per:
who owns 5% or more of the outstanding common std¢ke registrant have been excluded in that rhons may be deemed to be
affiliates. This determination of affiliate statissnot necessarily a conclusive determination fbeopurposes.

The number of shares of the registramt'sroon stock, par value $0.001 per share, outstgratirof February 10, 2011 was 50,716,377
shares.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant's definitive#dr Statement for the 2011 Annual Meeting of Stad&hrs, which will be filed within 120 days of
the end of the registrant's fiscal year ended Déeera5, 2010, are incorporated by reference in IRdrereof. Except with respect to
information specifically incorporated by referengehis Form 10-K, the Proxy Statement is not degmoebe filed as a part of this Form 10-K.
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NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K containsxfard-looking statements within the meaning of $eeurities Exchange Act of 1934 and the
Securities Act of 1933, which are subject to rigksgl uncertainties. The forward-looking statememttuide statements concerning, among other
things, our business strategy (including anticigatends and developments in, and management fdgraur business and the markets in
which we operate), financial results, operatingittss revenues, gross margin, operating expensedygts, projected costs and capital
expenditures, research and development prograihes, @ad marketing initiatives and competition. dme cases, you can identify these
statements by forward-looking words, such as "mayjght," "will," "could," "should," "expect," "pla," "anticipate," "believe," "estimate,"
"predict,” "intend" and "continue," the negativephural of these words and other comparable tertogyo The forward-looking statements are
based on information available to us as of thadililate of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and@urent expectations about future events,
which are inherently subject to change and invoisies and uncertainties. You should not place urrdliance on these forward-looking
statements. We undertake no obligation to updateofithese statements for any reason. Actual evantssults may differ materially from
those expressed or implied by these statementsdwaious factors, including but not limited teetiatters discussed below, in the section
entitled "ltem 1A: Risk Factors", and elsewher¢hiis Form 10-K.

Our operating results have fluctuated anplst and are likely to continue to fluctuate aAesult, we believe you should not rely on
period-to-period comparisons of our financial résals indicators of our future performance. Somi@important factors that could cause our
revenues, operating results and outlook to fluetfietm period-to-period include:

. customer demand for and adoption of our products;
. market and competitive conditions in our industhg semiconductor industry and the economy as dey
. our ability to improve operating efficiency to aehe operating cash flow break even in the currasiriess environment and

better position our company for long-term, profieagrowth;

. the timing and success of new technologies andustddtroductions by our competitors and by
. our ability to deliver reliable, cc-effective products that meet our customers' testggirements in a timely mann
. our ability to transition to new product architeesi and to bring new products into volume productin time and at acceptable

yields and cost;

. our ability to implement measures for enablingaidincies and supporting growth in our design, apgilbns, manufacturing ar
other operational activities;

. the reduction, rescheduling or cancellation of sd®y our customers;

. our ability to collect accounts receivables owedhy customers

. our product and customer sales mix and geograpséas mix

. a reduction in the price or the profitability ofrquroducts;

. the availability or the cost of components and mialte utilized in our products;

. our ability to efficiently optimize manufacturingacity and to stabilize production yields, anth@sessary to meet custon

demand and ramp production volume at our manufiactdacilities;
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. our ability to protect our intellectual propertyaagst third parties and continue our investmemesearch and development and
design activities;

. any disruption in the operation of our manufactgracility;
. the timing of and return on our investments in agske and development; and
. seasonality, principally due to our customers' pasing cycles

The impact of one or more of these factoight cause our operating results to vary widdlpur revenues, operating results or outlook
fall below the expectations of market analystswestors, the market price of our common stockadekline substantially. You should
carefully consider the numerous risks and unceitamescribed above and in such sections.

PART |
ltem 1. Business

FormFactor, Inc. was incorporated in Deleaia 1993. We design, develop, manufacture, sellsupport precision, high performance
advanced semiconductor wafer probe card produdsalutions. Semiconductor manufacturers use ofenvpmobe cards to perform wafer <
and test on the semiconductor die, or chips, omtii@le semiconductor wafer, which is prior to silagion of the wafer into individual, separ
chips. We work closely with our customers on prddigsign, as each wafer probe card is a custonuptabat is specific to the chip and wafer
designs of the customer. During wafer sort and gestafer probe card is mounted in a prober, whmdlrn is connected to a semiconductor
tester. The wafer probe card is used as an inettaconnect electrically with and test individahlps on a wafer. Our wafer probe cards are
used by our customers in the front end of the sentiactor manufacturing process, as are our imaggosgparametric or in-line probe cards.
We introduced our first wafer probe card based umMicroSpring® interconnect technology in 1995. bféer products and solutions that are
custom designed for semiconductor manufacturerguenvafer designs and enable them to reduce d¢lvenall cost of test.

Semiconductor device shipments saw a coation of the rebound in 2010 that started in 281@9. In fiscal 2010, we saw substantial
growth in our markets in the first half of the yeldowever, the second half of the year began tavsdigns of weakness, especially in the
demand for our products that test Dynamic Randowess Memory, or DRAM, devices. This weakness wasdhult of numerous factors,
including the delay in qualification of our nextrggation products at certain of our customers giasing inventories of DRAM devices and
deterioration of average selling prices. Overall, @venue increased year-over-year in each afdger semiconductor device segments we
address—DRAM, Flash and System on Chip, or SoC.

In 2010, we continued our efforts to impEaur company's operating efficiency, to qualify naxt generation products implementing our
proprietary Matrix architecture structure, and &ttér position our company to address our curredtexpected market opportunities. We
resized the organization through a series of restrimg actions that included reductions of our lidavide workforce, the consolidation of our
property footprint in Livermore, the shut-down afrdack-end manufacturing operations in Korea aedcessation of our transition of
manufacturing operations to Singapore. These sffefiresent a renewed focus on streamlining anpli§jing our overall structure and better
aligning our operations with the current businesgrenment, as well as reducing our manufacturiogt @nd improving our cycle times.

Products

Our products are based on our proprieggkiniologies, including our MicroSpring interconngethnology and design tools. Our
MicroSpring interconnect technology, which includesilient spring-like contact elements, enablewysroduce wafer probe cards for
applications that require
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reliability, speed, precision and signal integritye manufacture our MicroSpring contact elementsuthh precision micro-machining and
scalable semiconductor-like wafer fabrication peses. Our MicroSpring contacts are springs thainige: the relative amounts of force on,

and across, a bond pad during the test procesmaimiain their shape and position over a rangeofpression. These characteristics allow us
to achieve reliable, electrical contact on eitHean or oxidized surfaces, including bond pads aager. MicroSpring contacts enable our
wafer probe cards to make hundreds of thousantisiohdowns with minimal maintenance for many dewpplications. The MicroSpring
contact can be attached to many surfaces, or sidsstincluding printed circuit boards, silicon @f ceramics and various metalized surfaces.

Since developing this fundamental technglege have broadened and refined it to respontbdadricreasing requirements of testing
smaller, faster and more complex semiconductoragsviWwe continue to invest in research and devedopactivities around our interconnect
technologies, including our micro-electro-mechahsyatems, or MEMS, technology, as our MicroSpitogtacts have scaled in size with the
continuing evolution of semiconductors.

Our MicroSpring contacts include geomethcarecise tip structures. These tip structuresthe part of our wafer probe cards that come
into physical contact with the devices being tested are manufactured using proprietary micro-rimicy semiconductor-like processes.
These tip structures enable precise contact withlldiond pad sizes and pitches. Our technologyaliimr the design of specific geometries of
the contact tip that deliver precise and predietabéctrical contact for a customer's particulgliaption.

Our wafer probe cards are custom prodietsdre designed to order for our customers' unicafer designs. For high parallelism merr
test applications, our products require large apgdact array sizes because they must accommadet®t thousands of simultaneous contacts.
Our current technology enables probe cards foateapplications to be populated with over 40,000tacts. This requirement poses
fundamental challenges that our technology addsesseluding the planarity of the array, the formeeded to make contact and the need to
touch all bond pads with equal accuracy. We haveldped wafer probe cards that use array sizesngtfiggm 23 mm x 23 mm up to array
sizes suitable for contacting all die on a 300 mafiewsimultaneously.

We have invested and intend to continuevest considerable resources in our wafer probg d@asign tools and processes. These tools
and processes enable automated routing and tnagth ladjustment within our complex multi-layer ged circuit boards and greatly enhance
our ability to rapidly design and lay out compleinged circuit board structures. Our proprietargida tools also enable us to design wafer
probe cards particularly suited for testing todégwe voltage, high power chips, which require sugepower supply performance. Our
MicroSpring interconnect technology is used to pitewva very low inductance, low resistance electpedh between the power source and the
chip under test.

Because our customers typically use ouewafobe cards in a wide range of operating tentpers, as opposed to conducting wafer p
tests at one predetermined temperature, we haigneescomplex thermal compensation characterigtiosour products. We select our wafer
probe card materials after careful consideratiothefpotential range of test operating temperataneisdesign our wafer probe cards to provide
for a precise match with the thermal expansionattaristics of the wafer under test. As a resuit,veafer probe cards are able to accurately
probe over a large range of operating temperatiités.feature enables our customers to use the seafez probe card for both low and high
temperature testing without a loss of performahtaddition, for those testing situations that liegpositional accuracy at a specific
temperature, we have designed wafer probe card@wiapt for testing at such temperatures.

We have many spring shapes, different gécadly-precise tip structures, various array sizes andrde/printed circuit board layouts t
enable a wide variety of solutions for our custosn€rur
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designers select the most appropriate of theseeslsmor modify or improve upon such existing eletagand integrate them with our other
technologies to deliver a custom solution optimif@dthe specific customer's requirements.

Our technology investment yielded sevedzbaces in fiscal 2010. We achieved a record gettéw product ramp with our second
generation full wafer contact products, SMART MattDO™ for DRAM and TouchMatrix™ for Flash, shipgiover 350 units since
introduction. These product lines have ramped inme approximately four times faster than our presigeneration Harmony product, anc
now in production at four of the top five memorymoéacturers worldwide.

The Matrix platform success is based onriisjue architecture, a combination of three dirfared, or 3D, MEMS springs, singulated
substrate and custom analog ASICs for high demsityanced test equipment, or ATE, signal sharing. rEsulting solution delivers precise
positioning of contacts on a wafer to improve yiatdl minimize setup time, rapid temperature scabngaximize utilization, and extends
native ATE parallelism to maximize test cell thropgt. Customers are achieving measurable yieldfiigriewer repair rates, and substantial
cost of ownership improvement with these new prtsluc

Customers

Our customers include manufacturers inDRAM, Flash and SoC markets. Our customers usevatar probe cards to test DRAM chips
including DDR, DDR2, DDR3, SDRAM, PSRAM, mobile DRRA and Graphic DRAM, NOR and NAND flash memory chigerial data
devices, chipsets, microprocessors, microcontoled analog devices.

Three customers accounted for 46.0% ofewenues in fiscal 2010, one customer accountedSdr%o of our revenues in fiscal 2009 and
three customers accounted for 53.9% of our revemuigscal 2008, as follows:

Fiscal 2010  Fiscal 2009  Fiscal 2008

Elpida Memory(1) 21.2% 49.1% 29.7%
Hynix Semiconductor(2 12.¢ * *
Samsung(3 12.C * *
Intel Corporatior * * 13t
Spansior * * 10.7
Total 46.(% 49.1% 53.9%

Q) Includes Elpida Memory and its consolidated sulasids, Rexchip Electronics Corp. and Tera Probe.
2) Includes Hynix Semiconductor and its consolidateosgliary Hynix-Numonyx Semiconductor.
3) Includes Samsung Semiconductor and its consolidatedidiary Samsung Austin Semiconductor.

* Less than 10% of revenue

The percentages above reflect customerteiteitions as of December 25, 2010. Prior periatcentrations have been updated to reflect
the current customer compositions.

Information concerning revenue by geograpégion and by country based upon ship to locatjgpears under "ltem 7: Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &ebults of Operations—Revenues—Revenue by Geogr&agion" and Note 14—
Operating Segment and
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Geographic Information of the Notes to our Consuikd Financial Statements, which are included éisesvin this Form 10-K.
Backlog

Our backlog was $37.5 million at Decemhbier2010 compared to $43.6 million at December 2892 We manufacture our wafer probe
cards based on order backlog and customer commi$m@raddition, due to our customers' short dejivene requirements, we at times
produce our products in anticipation of receivimgeys for our products. However, backlog includely @rders for which written
authorizations have been accepted and shipmerd wétdgn 12 months have been assigned. In addiianklog includes service revenue for
existing product service agreements to be earngdnithe next 12 months. Customers may delay dsfigéproducts or cancel orders prior to
shipment, subject to possible cancellation peralfrie to possible changes in delivery scheduldsancellations of orders, our backlog on
any particular date is not necessarily indicatifaaual sales for any succeeding period. Delayelivery schedules and/or a reduction in
backlog during any particular period could haveatarial adverse effect on our business and restitiperations.

Manufacturing

Our wafer probe cards are custom prodietswe design and manufacture to order for ourocosts' unigue wafer designs. Our
proprietary manufacturing processes can generellyitided into a front-end process, which includégbonding, photolithography, plating
and metallurgical processes, dry and electro-dépospick and place assembly and complex intereotion system design, and a back-end
process, which includes assembly and test andtgualitrol. The critical steps in our manufacturprgcess are performed in a Class 100 ¢
room environment.

We depend upon suppliers for some critcahponents of our manufacturing processes, inaudaramic substrates and complex printed
circuit boards, and for materials used in our maatufring processes. Some of these components aediagare supplied by a single vendor.
Generally, we rely on purchase orders rather thagderm contracts with our suppliers, which subjeasaurisks, including price increases
component shortages. We continue to evaluate aligensources of supply for these components aridriats.

During fiscal 2010, we undertook a restudciy of our manufacturing operations. The purpafséhe restructuring was to simplify our
overall manufacturing framework, better align opemtions with the current business environmentraddce both manufacturing cost and
cycle times. As part of this simplification, we stdown our Korea back-end manufacturing operatemg ceased the transition of our
manufacturing operations to Singapore. Our prirmayufacturing facility is located in Livermore, @ainia, and we continue to perform
certain manufacturing operations in Japan.

We maintain repair and service capabilityivermore, California, United States. We alsovide repair and service capabilities in our
service centers in Austin, Texas, United StategdBggi-do, South Korea; Dresden, Germany; Yokoh@itya Japan and Jubei City, Taiwan.

Research, Development and Engineering

The semiconductor industry is subject fmddechnological change and new product introdunstiand enhancements. We believe that our
continued commitment to research and developmehbantimely introduction of new and enhanced waf@be test solutions and other
technologies related to our MicroSpring intercoritechnology are integral to maintaining our coritpyet position. We continue to invest
considerable time and resources in creating stredtprocesses for undertaking, tracking and conmgietur development projects, and plan to
implement those developments into new productahrelogy offerings. We continue to allocate sigrafit resources to these efforts and tc
automation and information technology to providditidnal efficiencies in our research and develophaetivities.
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Research and development expenses weré flion for fiscal 2010, $57.5 million for fisc&009 and $65.5 million for fiscal 2008.

Our research and development activitiedutting our product engineering activities, aredied by individuals with significant expertise
and industry experience.

Sales and Marketing

We sell our products utilizing a proprigtaales model that emphasizes the customer'scimsbf ownership as it relates to the costs of
test. With this sales model, we strive to demomsthaw test costs can be reduced by simulatinguktomer's test floor environment, includ
testers and probers, utilizing our products andpaming the overall cost of test to that of convemal and competitive wafer probe cards.

We sell our products worldwide primarilydlhhgh a combination of a global direct sales foicgependent sales representatives and value
added resellers.

Our sales and marketing staff, locatechenWnited States, Taiwan, Japan, South Korea arghfore, work closely with customers to
understand their businesses, anticipate trendslafimte products that will provide significant teatal and economic advantages to our
customers.

We utilize a highly skilled team of fielg@lication engineers that support our custometh@gintegrate our products into their
manufacturing processes. Through these custonaiomrethips, we develop a close understanding dbmesr and product requirements,
thereby accelerating our customers' production amp

Environmental Matters

We are subject to U.S. federal, state andl] and foreign governmental laws and regulatrefeting to the protection of the environment,
including those governing the discharge of polltganto the air and water, the management and s@mé hazardous substances and wastes,
the clean-up of contaminated sites and the maintenaf a safe workplace. We believe that we corpbll material respects with the
environmental laws and regulations that apply tan@uding those of the California Department @fic Substances Control, the Bay Area
Quality Management District, the City of Livermdf¢ater Resources Division and the California Diuisad Occupational Safety and Health.
We did not receive any notices of violations ofieonmental laws and regulations in fiscal 2010fiscal 2009 we did receive one notice of
violation from the City of Livermore regarding aolation of certain applicable waste water dischdirgés. For the notice received, we
promptly investigated the violation, took what wadieved to be appropriate steps to address theaube violation, and implemented
corrective measures to prevent a recurrence. Ndgpon has been made for loss from environmentakdiation liabilities associated with our
facilities because we believe that it is not prdbdbat a liability has been incurred as of Deceniie 2010.

While we believe that we are in compliaircall material respects with the environmentaldaamd regulations that apply to us, in the
future, we may receive additional environmentalation notices, and if received, final resolutiditlee violations identified by these notices
could harm our operations, which may adversely chpar operating results and cash flows. New lamér@gulations, stricter enforcement of
existing laws and regulations, the discovery o¥jmesly unknown contamination at our or othergsivr the imposition of new cleanup
requirements could also harm our operations orestibbis to monetary liabilities, thereby adverseipacting our operating results and cash
flows.

Competition

The highly competitive wafer probe card kediis comprised of many domestic and foreign camgs and has historically been
fragmented with many local suppliers servicing undiial
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customers. Our current and potential competitothénwafer probe card market include Advantest Ga@ijion, Aehr Test Systems,

AMST Co., Ltd., Cascade Microtech, Inc., Feinme@ihbH, Korea Instrument Co., Ltd., Japan Electrdnaterials Corporation, SV

Probe, Inc., Micronics Japan Co., Ltd., Microfridnd., Micro-Probe, Inc., TSC MEMSYS Corporatiorechnoprobe Asia Pte. Ltd., Tokyo
Cathode Laboratory Co., Ltd., Tokyo Electron Libuchdown Technologies (a Verigy, Ltd. company)ET&0., Ltd., and Wentworth
Laboratories, Inc., among others. In addition ® ability to address wafer probe card performassess, the primary competitive factors in
industry in which we compete include product perfance quality and reliability, price, total costasinership, lead times, the ability to
provide prompt and effective customer servicedfegbplications support and timeliness of delivery.

Some of our competitors are also suppbéisther types of test equipment or other semicotattequipment, or offer both advanced w
probe cards and vertical or needle probe cardsneydhave greater financial and other resourcesweado. We expect that our competitors
will enhance their current wafer probe products tnad they may introduce new products that wilcbenpetitive with our wafer probe cards
addition, it is possible that new competitors, irtthg test equipment manufacturers, may offer remhriologies that reduce the value of our
wafer probe cards.

Additionally, semiconductor manufactureraynimplement chip designs that include built-irf-$est capabilities or similar functions or
methodologies that increase test throughput andredite some or all of our current competitive adaigas. Our ability to compete favorably
may also be adversely affected by (1) delays idifigation of our next-generation products, (2) lealume orders that do not meet our present
minimum volume requirements, (3) very short cyaleetrequirements which may be difficult for us teet, (4) long-standing relationships
between our competitors and certain semiconductmufacturers, and (5) semiconductor manufactustrsteategies that include low
performance semiconductor testers.

Intellectual Property

Our success depends in part upon ourabdlitontinue to innovate and invest in researahdgvelopment to meet the semiconductor
testing requirements of our customers, to mairdath protect our proprietary technology and to cabdur business without infringing on the
proprietary rights of others. We rely on a combimrabf patents, trade secrets, trademarks andaingl restrictions on disclosure to protect
our intellectual property rights.

As of December 25, 2010, we had 747 ispaents, of which 398 are United States patent3d@care foreign patents. The expiration
dates of these patents range from 2011 to 2028isSued patents cover many of the features ofrdardonnect technology, as well as some of
our inventions related to wafer probe cards antihiggswafer-level packaging and test, sockets assegmblies and chips. In addition, as of
December 25, 2010, we had 553 patent applicatiendipg worldwide, including 119 United States agations, 417 foreign national or
regional stage applications and 17 Patent Cooperatieaty applications. We cannot provide any asme that our current patent applications,
or any future patent applications that we may fil#l, result in a patent being issued with the segpthe claims we seek, or at all, or whether
any patents that we may obtain will not be chaléehgr invalidated. Even if additional patents asied, our patents might not provide
sufficiently broad coverage to protect our progigtrights or to avoid a third party claim agaiose or more of our products or technologies.
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We have both registered and unregistegatetmarks, including FormFactor, ATRE, DC-Boost,Hamny, MicroSpring, MicroForce,
RapidSoak, SmartMatrix, TouchMatrix, OneTouch, TREjeScale, TrueScale Lite and the FormFactor logo.

We routinely require our employees, custansuppliers and potential business partnerster @mo confidentiality and non-disclosure
agreements before we disclose to them any sensitipeoprietary information regarding our produtéshnology or business plans. We req
our employees to assign to us proprietary inforomatinventions and other intellectual property tbesate, modify or improve.

Legal protections afford only limited protion for our proprietary rights. We also may netduccessful in our efforts to enforce our
proprietary rights. To date, for example, we hagerbunsuccessful in our efforts to enforce ceiour patent rights and obtain injunctive
relief for violation of those rights in South Koresnd through the U.S. International Trade Commigsor ITC. The ITC initiated an
investigation into certain activities of two compambased on a complaint we filed in late 2007 didithot find a violation of Section 337 of -
U.S. Tariff Act of 1930 and terminated its investiign in November 2009 without issuing an excluaigrorder against any products.
Notwithstanding our efforts to protect our propaigtrights, unauthorized parties may attempt toya@gpects of our products or to obtain .
use information that we regard as proprietary. Ftiome to time, we have become aware of situationsres others are or may be infringing on
our proprietary rights. We evaluate these situatiag they arise and elect to take actions ag&iesetcompanies as we deem appropriate.
Others might independently develop similar or cotimgetechnologies or methods, design around owerist or attempt to manufacture and
infringing products in countries that do not striyngnforce intellectual property rights or hold & our intellectual property rights. In
addition, leading companies in the semiconductdustry have extensive patent portfolios and othellectual property with respect to
semiconductor technology. Actions have been fitethe U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and patifices in other countries, challenging
the validity of certain of our patents. In the ftguwe might receive claims that we are infringimigllectual property rights of others or that «
patents or other intellectual property rights anealid. We have received in the past, and may vedeithe future, communications from third
parties inquiring about our interest in licensimgtain of their intellectual property or more geairidentifying intellectual property that may
be of interest to us.

We have invested significant time and resesiin our technology and as a part of our ongeffayts to protect the intellectual property
embodied in our proprietary technologies, including MicroSpring interconnect technology and degigrcesses, we may pursue actions to
enforce our intellectual property rights againétiinging third parties.

For a description of the material patetdtesd proceedings in which we are involved, seamiB: Legal Proceedings".
Employees

As of December 25, 2010, we had 729 redulatime employees, including 180 in research dedelopment, 76 in sales and marketing,
80 in general and administrative functions, and iB93perations. By region, 532 of our employeesaenerNorth America, 64 in Japan, 32 in
South Korea, 76 in Singapore, 20 in Taiwan, ana Burope. No employees are currently covered lglladtive bargaining agreement. We
believe that our relations with our employees aredy

Available Information

We maintain a website fattp://www.formfactor.comWe make available free of charge on our websiteAmnual Reports on Form 10-
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, current report§om 8-K and amendments to those reports filediori$hed pursuant to Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the
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Exchange Act, as soon as reasonably practicatdeaé electronically file such material with, oriish it to, the United State Securities and
Exchange Commission, or SEC. The reference to etsite does not constitute incorporation by refeeesf the information contained at the
site.

The public may also read and copy any nadsethat we file with the SEC at the SEC's PuBleference Room at 100 F Street N.E.,
Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may obtain infation on the operation of the Public ReferencerRbg calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-
0330. The SEC also maintains an Internet websitecbntains reports and other information regarisgers, such as FormFactor, that file
electronically with the SEC. The SEC's Internet svhis located atttp://www.sec.gov

Directors and Executive Officers

Directors. The names of the members of our board of directheir ages as of December 25, 2010 and thaeiemt occupations are set
forth below.

Name of Director Age Current Occupation

Dr. Homa Bahrami(1 55 Senior Lecturer at the Haas Schoo
Business, University of California Berkel

G. Carl Everett, Jr.(z 60 Venture Partner at Accel LL

Dr. Chenming Hu(1 62 TSMC Distinguished Chair Professor

Microelectronics in Electrical Engineering
and Computer Science at the University of
California, Berkeley

Lothar Maier 55 Chief Executive Officer and Director of Line
Technology Corporatio

James A. Prestridc 78 Director of FormFactor, Inc

Thomas St. Dennis 57 Chief Executive Officer and Director of
FormFactor, Inc

Harvey A. Wagner(1 69 Chief Executive Officer, President a
Director of Caregiver Services, Ir

Edward Rogas, Jr 69 Director of Vitesse Semiconduct
Corporation and Vignani Technologies
Pvt Ltd

Q) Homa Bahrami, Chenming Hu and Harvey Wagner resligieen the Board of Directors of the Company effieet
December 26, 2010, the beginning of our fiscal 20tk resignations were not the result of any desament with the
Company and were part of the Company's largertsftorstreamline operations.

(2) Mr. Everett became the Chairman of our Board oéEtiors on December 26, 2010.

Dr. Homa Bahramgerved as a Director from December 2004 througteBder 25, 2010. Dr. Bahrami is a Senior LecturéhatHaas
School of Business, University of California, Bdege Dr. Bahrami is also a Faculty Director of thenter for Executive Education and a
Board Member of the Center for Trading Excelleromth at the Haas School of Business, Universitgalffornia, Berkeley. Dr. Bahrami has
been on the Haas School faculty since 1986 anddislyypublished on organizational design and orgativnal development challenges and
trends in the high technology sector. Dr. Bahranmrently serves on the board of directors of onegpely held company. Dr. Bahrami holds a
Ph.D. in organizational behavior from Aston UnivgrsUnited Kingdom.

G. Carl Everett, Jrhas served as a Director since June 2001 and sasveul interim Chief Executive Officer from May, 910 to mid-
September 2010, and as our Executive Chairman finadrSeptember 2010 through December 25, 2010. Merdit founded GCE Ventures, a
venture advisement firm, in April 2001. Mr. Everk#ts served as a venture partner at Accel LLPpauwe
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capital firm, since 2002. From February 1998 toilfp001, Mr. Everett served as Senior Vice Predidearsonal Systems Group of Dell Inc.
During 1997, Mr. Everett was on a personal sabaktiom 1978 to December 1996, Mr. Everett helees®d management positions with Intel
Corporation, including Senior Vice President anch€al Manager of the Microprocessor Products Graad,Senior Vice President and
General Manager of the Desktop Products Group BMerett currently serves on the board of direatdthree privately held companies.

Mr. Everett holds a B.A. in business administratmo an honorary Doctorate of Laws from New MeX&tate University.

Dr. Chenming Hiserved as a Director from December 2009 throughe®éer 25, 2010. Dr. Hu is the TSMC Distinguishe@i€h
Professor of Microelectronics in Electrical Engiriag and Computer Sciences at the University off@ailia, Berkeley, and has been a
Professor of Electrical Engineering and ComputéerBes at the University of California, Berkelegcg 1976. From 2001 through 2004,
Dr. Hu was the Chief Technology Officer at Taiwaan8conductor Manufacturing Company Limited, a datéd semiconductor foundry.
From 1995 through 2003, Dr. Hu served as the Clairof the board of directors of Celestry Designhifedogies, Inc., a complete, full-chip
SoC silicon accurate sign-off solution provider,iethCadence Design Systems, Inc. acquired in 2D03-u was also the co-founder of
Celestry Design Technologies. From 1973 through61®7 Hu was an assistant professor at the Massatisunstitute of Technology. Dr. Hu
has served as a member of the Board of Directok$o8ys, Inc., a publicly traded company, since 3ayn2005, and of SanDisk Corporatior
publicly traded company, since September 2009, evheris a member of the Compensation CommittegdDcurrently serves on the boarc
directors of one privately held company, wheresha member of the Audit Committee. Dr. Hu holds.&.Bn Electrical Engineering from
National Taiwan University, Taiwan and an M.S. anidh.D. in Electrical Engineering from the Univergif California, Berkeley

Lothar Maierhas served as a Director since November 2006. Mieivhas served as the Chief Executive Officerantember of the
board of directors of Linear Technology Corporatiarsupplier of high performance analog integraieclits, which is a publicly traded
company, since January 2005. Prior to that, Mr.dvlaerved as Linear Technology's Chief Operatirfgc@ffrom April 1999 to December
2004. Before joining Linear Technology, Mr. Maieglth various management positions at Cypress Sewhimbor Corporation, a provider of
high-performance, mixed-signal, programmable sohsgj from 1983 to 1999, most recently as Senioe Wresident and Executive Vice
President of Worldwide Operations. Mr. Maier hatédB.S. in chemical engineering from the Universityalifornia at Berkeley.

James A. Prestridgleas served as a Director since April 2002, andskaged as Chairman of our Board of Directors frongést 2005 to
June 2008, and from May 2009 to September 2010Pkésstridge served as our Lead Independent Diréetior June 2008 to May 2009 and
from September 2010 to December 2010. Mr. Prestrgdgved as a consultant for Empirix Inc., a prevaf test and monitoring solutions for
communications applications, from October 2001Ititober 2003. From June 1997 to January 2001 P¥stridge served as a Director of
five private companies that were amalgamated impiEix. Mr. Prestridge served as a member of therdbof directors of Teradyne, Inc., a
manufacturer of automated test equipment, whiehgsblicly traded company, from 1992 until 2000. Mrestridge was Vice-Chairman of
Teradyne from January 1996 until May 2000 and skagExecutive Vice President of Teradyne from 19®# May 1997. Mr. Prestridge
holds a B.S. in general engineering from the U.8&/al Academy and an M.B.A. from Harvard Universir. Prestridge served as a Captai
the U.S. Marine Corps.

Thomas St. Dennlsas served as our Chief Executive Officer and adar since mid-September 2010, when he joineconpany.
Mr. St. Dennis previously held various position®\aplied Materials, Inc. from 1992 to 1999 and agfaom 2005 to 2009. His most recent r
at Applied Materials, Inc. was the Senior Vice Rtest and General Manager of the Silicon Systenmi@rHe also worked at Novellus
Systems, Inc. as the Executive Vice President &sSand Marketing from
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2003 to 2005. From 1999 to 2003 Mr. St. Dennis thasPresident and CEO of Wind River Systems, Inc.3#l Dennis holds a B.S. in Phys
and a M.S. in Physics, both from UCLA.

Harvey A. Wagneserved as a Director from February 2005 througheDder 25, 2010. Mr. Wagner joined Caregiver Sesyitiec., a
provider of in-home care services, as the PresidedtChief Executive Officer and a member of thardf directors on April 7, 2008.
Mr. Wagner founded the H.A. Wagner Group, LLC, asudting firm, where he has served as managingipahsince July 2007. Mr. Wagner
previously served as President and Chief Exec@iifieer of Quovadx, Inc. (now Healthvision, Inca) software and services company, from
October 2004 to July 2007, and as a member ofdhedof directors of Quovadx from April 2004 toy@007. From May 2004 through
October 2004, Mr. Wagner served as acting PreselethtChief Executive Officer of Quovadx. Prior ¢ining Quovadx, he served as ExecL
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Mit&orporation, an independent energy company, ffanuary 2003 through April 2004.
Prior to joining Mirant, Mr. Wagner was Executivéc¥ President of Finance, Secretary, TreasurerCinief Financial Officer at Optio
Software, Inc., a provider of business process avgment solutions, from February 2002 to DecemBé22From May 2001 to January 2002,
he performed independent consulting services faowa corporations. He was Chief Financial Offiaed Chief Operating Officer for PaySys
International, Inc. from December 1999 to April 200r. Wagner also serves on the board of direabGree, Inc., a publicly traded
company, since February 2004 where he is ChairmhrecAudit Committee and a member of the Nomirgaind Governance Committee.
Mr. Wagner also serves on the Board of Startek, mpublicly traded company, since May 2008 wherés Chairman of the Audit Committ
a member of the Governance Committee and a menfilee €ompensation Committee. Mr. Wagner holdsBiA. in accounting from the
University of Miami.

Edward Rogas, Jr. has served as a Director since October 2010Rdgas currently serves on the Boards of Vitegsai®nductor
Corporation and Vignani Technologies Pvt Ltd. ModRs served as a Director of Photon Dynamics, fram May 2006 to October 2008.
Mr. Rogas held management positions at Teradymre fon over 30 years, including serving as Senime\WPresident from 2000 through 2005.
Mr. Rogas holds degrees of M.B.A. (with distinclidrom Harvard Business School and B.S. from théddihStates Naval Academy.

Executive Officers. Our executive officers, their ages and thesifians with our company as of December 25, 20&0sat forth below.

Name Age Position

Thomas St. Denni 57 Chief Executive Office

Richard DelLateu 52 Chief Financial Office|

Stuart L. Merkadea 49 Senior Vice President, General Counsel
Secretary

Richard DeLateuhas served as our Chief Financial Officer since [a%0, when he joined our company. He is a 20-yetaran of
Intel's finance team, where he held various pasitincluding the role of Vice President and GrQgmtroller of Worldwide Technology and
Manufacturing. Mr. DeLateur more recently serve&® at the private companies Fluidigm Corporaind Topsin Corporation. He had also
served as a Director at Numonyx Corp., a leadingufacturer of flash memory which is now part of ki Technology, Inc.

Stuart L. Merkadeathas served as one of our Senior Vice Presidente shetober 2003 and as our General Counsel anétascsince
October 2002. Mr. Merkadeau previously served asajdrour Vice Presidents from October 2002 to Saptr 2003, and as our Vice President
of Intellectual Property from July 2000 to Octo2&02. From 1990 to July 2000, Mr. Merkadeau practiaw as an associate and then a
partner with Graham & James LLP, where he speeidlim licensing and strategic counseling in intalial property matters. Mr. Merkadeau is
admitted to practice in California and registeregtactice before the U.S. Patent and Trademaric®©ffr. Merkadeau holds a B.S. in
industrial engineering from Northwestern Universityd a J.D. from the University of California atd.Angeles.
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Iltem 1A: Risk Factors

In addition to the other information ingkAnnual Report on Form 10-K, you should carefatiyisider the risk factors discussed in this
Form 10-K in evaluating FormFactor and our busindsany of the identified risks actually occur,rdaisiness, financial condition and results
of operations could be materially adversely affédciéhe trading price of our common stock could ohechnd you may lose all or part of your
investment in our common stock. The risks and uag#res described in this Annual Report on ForrrKl@re not the only ones we face.
Additional risks that we currently do not know abouthat we currently believe to be immaterial nadégo impair our business operations.

Periodic economic and semiconductor industry dowts could continue to negatively affect our busirgesesults of operations, an
financial condition.

The recent and historical global economid semiconductor industry downturns negativelycéd and could continue to negatively
affect our business, results of operations andfired condition. We may experience continued dedim demand for our probe cards resulting
from our customers continuing to conserve cashuiyng production, postponing the implementationtaafling cycles and delaying the ramj
new technology nodes in response to slow demancbimsumer and other products incorporating devtiested with our wafer probe cards. We
may experience continued pricing pressure on eeafadur products, which may reduce our gross niargh protracted downturn could cause
additional customers to file for bankruptcy protectas occurred in 2009 with our customers Spars@hQimonda, resulting in our loss of
revenue. In the past environment, customers weldrgg extended payment terms or delaying paymerddo products past their original due
dates, which could impact their payment historesilting in our deferral of revenue and which cdotttease our potential bad debt exposure.
In fiscal 2009, we recorded a $5.0 million pre-tpense to increase our allowance for doubtful aatsoas a result of the heightened non-
payment risk of accounts receivable primarily redato three customers.

We may also experience the insolvency gfdpliers, leading to delays in the developmentshipment of our products, increased
expense and loss of revenue. In addition, we magrance increased impairment charges due to @sclimthe fair values of marketable debt
securities.

We derive a substantial portion of our revenuesrit@ small number of customers, and we could congnio experience significant declines
in our revenues if any major customer does not pacancels, reduces or delays a purchase of oudpieis, or does not pay us, or delays or
extends payment for our products past their origlriue dates.

A relatively small number of customers haeeounted for a significant portion of our revesiireany particular period. Three customers
represented 21.2%, 12.8% and 12.0% of total re\eimuiscal 2010. One customer represented 49.18btafrevenues in fiscal 2009. In fiscal
2010 and in fiscal 2009, our ten largest custoraec®unted for 82.8% and 88.4% of our revenuesentisgely. We anticipate that sales of our
products to a relatively small number of custonveitiscontinue to account for a significant portiohour revenues. Consolidation in the
semiconductor industry may increase this conceatrafs a result of the global economic and semdcmtor industry downturns, we have in
the more recent past experienced significant deslin our revenues. In the future, the cancellatieduction or deferral of even a small nun
of purchases of our products could significantiyuee our revenues in any particular period. Caatetis, reductions or deferrals could result
from a delay in the recovery of the semiconduatdustry, or a weaker than anticipated recovergnmther downturn in the semiconductor
industry, from manufacturing delays, quality oiabllity issues with our products, or from intertigms to our customers' operations due to
natural disasters or other events. Furthermoregusecour probe cards are custom products designedif customers' unique wafer designs,
any cancellations, reductions or delays can réswsignificant, non-recoverable costs. In someatitins, our customers might be able to cancel
or reduce orders without a significant penalty.
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Our customers could also fail to pay all or paraofinvoice for our products. If a customer failpty us or delays payment for our products,
we may be unable to recognize revenue, our finhooiadition and liquidity could be adversely impatttand we may incur additional charges
for bad-debt reserve to the extent certain of astamers continue to face financial difficultiegidg this downturn. It is also possible that if
we make the decision to initiate legal proceedemgginst customers to seek payment of outstandoeivables that it will negatively impact a
customer relationship and result in lost revenndbeé future. Customers with financial difficultiegy be forced to materially reduce or
discontinue operations, file for bankruptcy or otredief, or may be acquired by one of our othestomers, any of which would further reduce
our customer base.

The markets in which we participate are competitiead if we do not compete effectively, our opengtresults could be harmed.

We are experiencing increased competitiothé wafer probe card market and we expect cotigretd intensify in the future. Increased
competition has resulted in, and in the futurekisly to result in, price reductions, reduced gneesgins or loss of market share. Competitors
might introduce new competitive products for theneamarkets that our products currently serve. Thesgucts may have better performance,
lower prices and/or broader acceptance than owlugste. Competitive products may not have betteiopmance, lower prices and/or broader
acceptance than our products, but may be able ¢b sherter delivery times required by customersrasdlt in the loss of revenue for us. In
addition, for products such as wafer probe camsiconductor manufacturers typically qualify mdnart one source, to avoid dependence on &
single source of supply. As a result, our customersld likely purchase products from our compe$it@@urrent and potential competitors
include Advantest Corporation, Aehr Test SystemdSA Co., Ltd., Cascade Microtech, Inc., Feinme&tibH, Korea Instrument Co., Ltd.,
Japan Electronic Materials Corporation, SV Prohe,,IMicronics Japan Co., Ltd., Microfriend Inc.jdw-Probe, Inc., TSC MEMSYS
Corporation, Technoprobe Asia Pte. Ltd., Tokyo @dthLaboratory Co., Ltd., Tokyo Electron Ltd., Thdown Technologies (a Verigy, Ltd.
company), TSE Co., Ltd., and Wentworth Laboratories., among others.

Many of our current and potential compesitbave greater name recognition, larger customeed) more established customer
relationships or greater financial, technical, nfanturing, marketing and other resources than weAda result, they might be able to respond
more quickly to new or emerging technologies anahgies in customer requirements, devote greateunesoto the development, promotion,
sale and support of their products, and reducegtia increase market share. Some of our competteo supply other types of test equipm
or offer both advanced wafer probe cards and ngedlee cards. Those competitors that offer bottaaded wafer probe cards and needle
probe cards might have strong, existing relatigpshiith our existing customers or with potentiadtoumers. Because we do not offer a needle
probe card or other conventional technology wafebe cards for less advanced applications, it neaglifficult for us to introduce our
advanced wafer probe cards to these customersadedtial customers for certain wafer test applaragi It is also possible that one or more of
our competitors may be able to increase theiriveaevenue with mutual customers, resulting insslof revenue share to us. It is further
possible that existing or new competitors, inclgdiest equipment manufacturers, may offer new teldgnes that reduce the value of our w.
probe cards.

If we fail to protect our proprietary rights, ourampetitors might gain access to our technology, efhtould adversely affect our ability
compete successfully in our markets and harm oueogting results.

If we chose not to protect our proprietaghts or fail in our efforts to protect our progtary rights, our competitors might gain access to
our technology. Unauthorized parties might attetoptopy aspects of our products or to obtain ardinfermation that we regard as
proprietary. Others might independently developilsinor competing technologies or methods or desigrund our
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patents. In addition, the laws of many foreign daes in which we or our customers do businessat@rotect our intellectual property rights
to the same extent as the laws of the United Statedate, we have not been successful in ourtsfforenforce our proprietary rights and
obtain injunctive relief for violation of those hitgs in South Korea and in the United States. Assalt, our proprietary rights could be
compromised, our competitors might offer produatsilar to ours and we might not be able to cometecessfully. We also cannot assure
that:

. our means of protecting our proprietary rights wdl adequate;

. patents will be issued from our pending or futyspleations;

. our existing or future patents will be sufficientdcope or strength to provide any meaningful gtaia or commercial advanta
to us;

. our patents or other intellectual property will et invalidated, circumvented or successfully @rajed in the United States or

foreign countries; or

. others will not misappropriate our proprietary teslogies or independently develop similar techn@sgduplicate our products
or design around any of our patents or other itélial property, or attempt to manufacture andis&lhging products in
countries that do not strongly enforce intellecfu@perty rights.

We have spent in the past and may be redjtir spend in the future significant resourcamomitor and protect our intellectual property
rights. We presently believe that it is likely tthab or more of our competitors are using methodiele or have implemented structures into
certain of their products that are covered by anmare of our intellectual property rights. We havehe past brought claims to protect our
rights, and we are currently involved in patentimjement litigation, including an ongoing Unitetht®s Federal District Court action against a
competitor, Phicom Corporation, with a current epieag name of TCS Memsys Corp. We have also filhauit in the United States District
Court for the Northern District of California agatrMicro-Probe Incorporated charging, in our amehncamplaint, that it is willfully infringing
five of our U.S. patents that cover aspects ofwaprietary technology and wafer probe cards. @uersded complaint also seeks injunctive
relief and damages against Micro-Probe for unfampetition and further includes claims directediasfsa former employee for
misappropriation of trade secrets, breach of cenfte relative to FormFactor's confidential and petp information and against the former
employee and Micro-Probe for conspiring to bredwtt tonfidence. We may not obtain a favorable gulinthis U.S. federal district court
action.

In certain cases, our competitors havésiteitl re-examination proceedings in the USPTO awdlidity proceedings in foreign patent
offices against certain of our patents. Micro-Prbbe submitted to the USPTO requests to re-exaatiifiee of our U.S. patents that are in the
litigation; three of the requests have been graatetthe USPTO has not yet made a determinatitmakether it will grant the requests
directed to the other two patents. Any litigatismether or not resolved in our favor, and whethérated by us or by a third party, could result
in significant and possibly material expense tang divert the efforts of our management and tegthpiersonnel. In addition, while patents
territorial and a ruling on a certain given patéoés not necessarily impact the validity or enfabikity of a corresponding or related patent
different country, an adverse ruling in one coumight negatively impact our ability to enforce t@responding or related patent in other
countries. Finally, certain of our customer consamntain provisions that require us to defend@middemnify our customers for third party
intellectual property infringement claims, which wld increase the cost to us of an adverse rulirgpah a claim. An adverse determination
could also negatively impact our ability to licercsstain of our technologies and methods to otteerd,result in our competitors being allowed
to sell products with, or add to their productstéees and benefits contained in our productsethereducing our competitive advantages over
these competing products.
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If we do not innovate and keep pace with technolajidevelopments in the semiconductor industry, gquoducts might not be competitiy
and our revenues and operating results could suffer

We must continue to innovate and to inuesesearch and development to improve our conipetitosition and to meet the testing
requirements of our customers. Our future growibedels, in significant part, upon our ability to weffectively with and anticipate the test
needs of our customers and to develop and supparpnoducts and product enhancements to meet tleesks on a timely and cost-effective
basis. Our customers' testing needs are becomimng challenging as the semiconductor industry comtno experience rapid technological
change driven by the demand for complex circuigs #re shrinking in size and at the same timerameasing in speed and functionality and
becoming less expensive to produce. Examples onfisrdriving demand for technological research awkbpment include semiconductor
manufacturers' transitions to 3x nanometer (DRANY ax nanometer (Flash) technology nodes, to highgabit density devices, and to
Double Data Rate Il architecture devices. Our @ogrs expect that they will be able to integrateveafer probe cards into any manufacturing
process as soon as it is deployed. Therefore, & these expectations and remain competitive, wa oantinually design, develop and
introduce on a timely basis new products and probdobancements with improved features.

In October 2009, we acquired certain ietglhal property rights and other technology assddted to precision motion control automation
from Electroglas, Inc. ("Electroglas"), a compamgdar Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection, in ordesamplete the development of a custom
pick and place assembly system for use in the naatwfe of products incorporating our proprietarytiifaarchitecture. Our development eff
was delayed by, among other things, the finan@atition and absence of a dedicated and focuseidesming effort at Electroglas. This
development delay resulted in our next-generatiatrirtarchitecture products being late to be qiedifor testing certain memory devices,
which negatively impacted our revenues and opega#sults. In the future, it is possible that oternal development efforts and engagements
with third parties regarding the development of ofanturing equipment having similar functionalitaynhave a lengthy bring-up time and
negatively impact our ability to complete new produand realize revenue from those products.

Successful product design, developmenti@noduction on a timely basis require that we:

. design innovative and performarenhancing product architectures, technologies eatlifes that differentiate our produ
from those of our competitors;

. in some cases engage with third parties who hasteplar expertise in order to complete one or mespects of the design and
manufacturing process;

. transition our products to new manufacturing tedbgies;

. identify emerging technological trends in our tangearkets;

. maintain effective marketing strategi

. respond effectively to technological changes odpod announcements by others; i
. adjust to changing market conditions quickly anstaifectively.

Not only do we need the technical expettisienplement the changes necessary to keep dunaéagies current, but we must also rely
heavily on the judgment of our management to gudiei future market trends. If we are unable toliirpeedict industry changes or industry
trends, or if we are unable to modify our produwmtslesign, manufacture and deliver new producta timely basis, or if a third party with
which we engage does not timely deliver a compoaoeservice for one of our product modificationsiew products, we might lose customers
or market share. In addition, we might not be ableecover our research and development expendjtutgich could harm our operating
results.
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If semiconductor manufacturers do not migrate elents of final test to wafer probe test, market actapce of other applications of oL
technology could be delayed.

We are working with some customers as thajve the focus of their semiconductor test efférdom the individual device level to the
wafer level. This evolution is typically a long-temprocess in which the outcome and the effect arbasiness are not clear. Semiconductor
manufacturers might not adopt wafer-level finat,tés some device types, in a way that uses amtelogy. Our technology's ability to
perform elements of final test on the wafer maysuale with the needs of semiconductor manufaguFanther, the pace and manner in wt
wafer-level testing is adopted will also vary bynmatacturer and will be affected by factors like italtooling cycles and end market growth in
different application segments. We believe, forragke, that testing in stacked packaging or 3-D pguig applications is more likely to
migrate to wafer level test than other applicatidhthe migration of elements of final test to waprobe test does not grow as we anticipate, or
if semiconductor manufacturers do not adopt ounrietogy for their wafer probe test requirementsrkagacceptance of other applications for
our technology could be delayed. In addition, & éfxtent manufacturers do not invest in wafertezdinology enabling the identification of
known good die, or KGD, or if the projected or aitated investment in such technology is delayeduced, it could delay the introduction
of certain of our technologies and negatively affae business.

Changes in test strategies, equipment and processefd cause us to lose revenues.

The demand for wafer probe cards depentis@e part upon the number of semiconductor dssitpe pace of technology and architec
transitions in chip designs and overall semiconalughit volume. The time it takes to test a wafepehds upon the number of devices being
tested, the complexity of these devices, the tfsivare program and the test equipment itself.e&s programs become increasingly effective
and test throughput increases, the number of waifdye cards required to test a given volume ofa@evdeclines. Therefore, advances in the
test process could cause us to lose sales. Funtiest,semiconductor manufacturers are implemertig designs featuring built-in seést, ol
BIST, capabilities or similar "design for testatyiti or DFT, functions or methodologies that in@eaest throughput and reduce the cost of
These efforts include strategies to reduce thenieahrequirements on test equipment, or to impmbata about device performance early in the
manufacturing process, or to test the device latére life of the product for quality assurancepgmses. In some cases, BIST or DFT can ci
opportunities for our technologies. In other caBEXT or DFT can reduce requirements for wafer legst and reduce our opportunities.
Although we seek to work with our customers to sheays that our technologies can be applied togetiterBIST and DFT approaches to
create opportunities to further reduce the cosestf the overall impact of BIST and DFT technodsgias they exist today and as they may be
developed in the future, could slow the migratiom&fer level testing and adversely affect our nenss. Similar results could occur if new ¢
designs are implemented which we are unable teeféstently, or if semiconductor manufacturerswed generally the amount or degree of
wafer test they perform. We incur significant resbaand development expenses in conjunction wighintroduction of new product
architectures and platforms. Often, we time oudpm introductions to the introduction of new teqtiipment platforms or the declination of
manufacturers to adopt a new test platform. Becauseustomers require both test equipment andnvpaéde cards, any delay or disruptior
the introduction of new test equipment platformsidmnegatively affect our growth.

We have recorded significant restructuring, invemyowrite-offs and asset impairment charges in thagb and may do so again in the future,
which could have a material negative impact on dursiness.

We recorded material restructuring chargésted to our global workforce reductions and impant charges related to our long-lived
assets in fiscal 2008, fiscal 2009, and fiscal 20d€luding the cessation of the transition of nfacturing operations to Singapore in the third
quarter of our
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fiscal 2010. We have also recorded material asgghirment charges in the third quarter of fiscal®@e@elated to an enterprise-wide asset
impairment. As we continue to align our operatiwith our business requirements, we may implemeditiathal cost reduction actions, which
would require us to take additional, potentiallytemal, restructuring charges related to emplogeminations or asset disposal or exit costs.
We may also be required to write off additionaléntory if our product build plans or usage of inen experience further declines, and such
additional write-offs could constitute material ofpas. In addition, a further decline in our stock® or significant adverse change in market
conditions could require us to take additional matémpairment charges related to our long-livedets. Our long-lived assets, including
intangible assets, are amortized over their respeestimated useful lives using the straight-lmethod and are reviewed for impairment
annually, or whenever events or changes in circanegts indicate that their carrying amount may eatdgoverable. The valuation of our long-
lived assets requires assumptions and estimatesuoy critical factors, including revenue and marketwth, operating cash flows, market
multiples, and discount rates. Other adverse claimgmarket conditions, particularly if such chasgave the effect of changing one of the
critical assumptions or estimates we used to cafeuhe amount of impairment charge, if any, coaillt in a change to the estimation of fair
value that could result in future impairment chargény such additional material charges, whethlated to restructuring or asset impairment,
may have a material negative impact on our opeyatisults and related financial statements.

Our restructuring plan may not properly align ourast structure with our business needs and overalirsconductor industry requirements
and may adversely affect our business, financiahdd@ion, or operating results.

During the second quarter of our fiscal04e conducted a reduction in force as part aragany-wide cost reduction plan in order to
help focus our resources more strategically towhtdsness needs and industry requirements as fpaut global reorganization activities.
During the third quarter of our fiscal 2010, onsulé of our announced decision to cease transifaur manufacturing activities to Singapore
was a substantial reduction in force in Singapbrging the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, we furtheduced our global workforce across the
organization. We expect to realize quarterly sasjmxcluding stock-based compensation expenseppobximately $4.0 million in the
guarters commencing in fiscal 2011 as a resuli@$é restructuring actions. If we experience exgeirsexcess of what we anticipate in
connection with these restructuring activities,hsas unanticipated costs associated with our aectsi focus our manufacturing operations in
Livermore and Japan and to not bring up assemluytest operations in Singapore or in Korea, ouirass, financial condition, or operating
results could be adversely and materially affecfat. business, financial condition and operatirsyts could also be materially adversely
affected if we experience unanticipated inefficiesas a result of our restructuring activitieghsas impaired customer relationships caused
by reduced headcount or delay in ramping the matwfa of our SmartMatrix and TouchMatrix produdtg,the delay in qualifying such
Matrix-platform based products, or by our decision to am@nt an "end of life" plan for our Harmony produd¥/e also cannot assure you !
we will not undertake additional workforce reduasothat any of our restructuring efforts will hecsessful, or that we will be able to realize
the cost savings and other anticipated benefita fvar previous or future restructuring plans. Afiyhese issues could render our restructuring
plan ineffective, which could have a material adeegffect on our business, financial conditionpmerating results.

If we do not successfully restructure our operat®to better position our company for lo-term, profitable growth, we might not succeed.

During an extended period of rapid growtld @xpansion in 2007 and the several years priempmmarily focused on growing capacity
and meeting customer mission-critical needs. Ihtlaf the
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semiconductor slow down which started impactingnud008, we are now focusing on improving our ofiagpefficiency to achieve operating
cash flow break even in the current business enmient and to better position our company for logigrt profitable growth. The timing,

length and severity of the cyclical downturns ia gemiconductor industry are difficult to predithis cyclicality affects our ability to
accurately predict our future operating results plath our business, and could also impair the vafueur tangible and intangible assets. We
implemented global cost reduction plans in fis&20& 2009 and 2010, and are continuing to purswesuares to improve our operating
efficiency. Such measures have included workfoeckictions, the implementation of a shared sereceer, the consolidation of
manufacturing capacity and the centralization gfpsut functions to regional and global shared sergenters. If we do not successfully
implement our global cost reduction plan and otheasures for optimizing our financial model foryaiéing market conditions, our
competitiveness could be seriously harmed, ouitald invest in our business for future growth nimynegatively impacted and our company
might not succeed. If we do not successfully restme our operations by, for example, strengthenimglocal design, application and service
capabilities to improve customer responsivenesagimg our manufacturing structure for shorter eyche and improved product delivery
capabilities, and realigning our research and agreent efforts, and continue to motivate and retainkey employees, we may experience
continued deterioration in our business and ourgany might not succeed. In addition, as the busiresironment improves, if we are unable
to proactively and effectively manage our operatiand/or realign our controls, systems and infuastire to changing business conditions, we
may not be in a position to boost our personnehufecturing capacity, service capabilities and pmtivity, and support growth in response to
increasing customer demand for our products, wivghld, in turn, have a negative impact on our ofiegaresults. Adverse general economic
conditions may also impair the recovery of our hass.

Our efforts to introduce and implement price incrses for certain of our products could result in ¢ain customers deciding to not purchase
our products, which could negatively impact our hnsss and financial results.

During our second fiscal quarter we issned pricing guidelines to customers for certaimof products based on our belief that our
company pricing strategy and guidelines had fatlelow normal industry cost-down trend rates. Wéebelthat our new pricing guidelines are
consistent with normal industry cost learning cgpMaut certain customers have reacted, and méaeifuture react, negatively to our new
pricing and elect to not purchase our productpurehase fewer of our products as compared to thioger competitors, or to phase out the
purchase of our products, in which case our busijrfgncial condition and operating results cduddnaterially and adversely impacted.

Our delay in qualifying our SmartMatrix and TouchMaix products at certain of our customers could rdsin the continued loss of market
share at those customers, which could negativelp&uot our business and financial result

We are transitioning from our Harmony pdath products to our SmartMatrix and TouchMatrixguot lines and have notified our
customers of our end of life, or EOL, plans for élarmony products. Although we believe our new SMatrix and TouchMatrix products
enable our customers to lower their cost of owriprahd we are in, or have completed, the qualificephase of this transition at our
customers for DRAM and flash memory applications,are late to market with these new products atfd e lost and do expect to conti
to lose market share as we make this product transirhis share loss is the result of the timeuneggl for SmartMatrix and TouchMatrix
product qualifications and of our customers' mactufidng lead times as they move from qualificat@miumes to full commercial production
volumes, which could result in lost opportunities @is and negatively impact our business, finaranial operating results. Because of this
market timing, our products are not being useddryain of our customers in their current high voduproduction runs for certain devices,
which could result in our losing follow-on orders those devices, and could also
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result in customers electing to continue purchasiafer probe cards from suppliers other than usgbtheir future semiconductor devices,
which could result in our loss of market share hade a negative impact on our business and finaresalts.

Changes in our tax rates, inability to realize odeferred tax assets or exposure to additional tebilities could adversely affect our
operating results.

We are subject to income taxes in both.thi#ted States and various foreign jurisdictiong] anr domestic and international tax liabilities
are subject to the allocation of expenses in difiejurisdictions. The amount of income taxes we gr@ subject to audits in various
jurisdictions and a material assessment by a gowgtax authority could adversely affect our opeigtresults. Our effective tax rate could
adversely affected by changes in the mix of eagiingountries with different statutory tax ratesbanges in tax laws. Realization of our
deferred tax assets, which are predominantly irlthiéed States, is dependent on our ability to geteesufficient future taxable income. If we
determine that we may not be able to realize soonigom of our deferred tax assets in the future weoeilld record a valuation allowance against
the deferred tax assets that could result in amditiincome tax expense. This valuation allowanitlenat limit our ability to utilize our federal
and state deferred tax assets to offset future frdits.

Our equity plans have evergreen provisions that@uftically increase the number of shares availafide issuance each year without
stockholder approval, and as a result of this anfuiacrease in shares, you may experience dilutiomdawe may not seek your approval
further additions to our existing plans or for neplans.

Our 2002 Equity Incentive Plan and 2002 Exyge Stock Purchase Plan have evergreen provitiabsutomatically increase the number
of shares available for issuance under these placis year without stockholder approval. Specifjcallr 2002 Equity Incentive Plan's
evergreen provision increases the number of staaable for issuance on each January 1st by aanequal to 5% of the total amount of
our outstanding common stock as of December 31tteoprior year, and our 2002 Employee Stock Pwelidan's evergreen provision
increases the number of shares available for igguan each January 1st by an amount equal to 1be dabtal amount of our outstanding
common stock as of December 31st of the prior yEagse evergreen provisions, which have a compagreffect, have been in place since
the adoption of the plans in 2003. In 2011, thesegreen provisions added 2,524,395 shares todd2 Equity Incentive Plan and 504,879
shares to the 2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plachwhares were available for issuance on Janyag1l. In 2010, these evergreen
provisions added 2,488,180 shares to the 2002 {etngéentive Plan and 497,636 shares to the 2002&rap Stock Purchase Plan, which
shares were available for issuance on JanuarylD. 20 2009, these evergreen provisions added 2,45%hares to the 2002 Equity Incentive
Plan and 490,623 shares to the 2002 Employee $toahase Plan, which shares were available foamg®ion January 1, 2009. In 2008, tt
evergreen provisions added 2,432,112 shares 2002 Equity Incentive Plan and 486,422 sharesda@@02 Employee Stock Purchase Plan,
which shares were available for issuance on Jariy&2908, and we had 49,062,308 shares of comneghk sutstanding on December 27,
2008. In 2007, these evergreen provisions addetB2)87 shares to the 2002 Equity Incentive Plan4&8J613 shares to the 2002 Employee
Stock Purchase Plan, which shares were availablesoance on January 1, 2007, and we had 48,683182&es of common stock outstanding
on December 29, 2007. In 2006, these evergreensgwos added 2,011,834 shares to the 2002 Equintive Plan and 402,366 shares to the
2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, which shares aw@ilable for issuance on January 1, 2006, andatiel6,861,334 shares of common
stock outstanding on December 30, 2006. In 20@setevergreen provisions added 1,944,281 shatks 8002 Equity Incentive Plan and
388,856 shares to the 2002 Employee Stock Purdtlase which shares were available for issuanceaanaly 1, 2005, and we had 40,236,686
shares of common stock outstanding on Decembe2(IB. In 2004, these evergreen provisions addetD582 shares to the
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2002 Equity Incentive Plan and 368,100 sharesa@@®2 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, which shazesawvailable for issuance on
January 1, 2004, and we had 38,885,637 sharesmohoo stock outstanding on December 25, 2004. Sircadoption of the plans, we have
added 15,513,091shares to the 2002 Equity InceRie and 3,102,616 shares under the 2002 EmpBiged Purchase Plan. Due to the
annual increase in the amount of shares availablisfuance under these equity plans and to tlemetitat we issue these shares and they
become outstanding, you will continue to experieditgtion. While the equity plans are in effectistmore likely that due to the plans'
evergreen provision, we will not ask our stockhadd®e approve or disapprove further additions ®ghans. In addition, while the equity plans
are in effect, it is more likely that due to thamd' evergreen provisions, we will not ask ourldtotders to approve or disapprove the adoption
of any new equity plans.

Cyclicality in the semiconductor industry is currélg adversely impacting our sales and may do sthie future, and as a result we have
experienced and may continue to experience reduacnues and operating results.

The semiconductor industry has historichlyn cyclical and is characterized by wide fluttues in product supply and demand. From
time to time, this industry has experienced sigaifit downturns, often in connection with, or iniéipation of, maturing product and
technology cycles, excess inventories and declimgsneral economic conditions. The current gl@zalinomic and semiconductor downturns
have caused and may continue to cause our operasnoys to decline dramatically from one periodh® next. For example, our revenues in
fiscal 2009 declined by 35.6% compared to our reesrfor fiscal 2008, due in significant part to twoming challenges in semiconductor
market conditions, particularly in the DRAM and $tlamarkets; and our fiscal 2010 fourth quartermees declined from our fiscal 2010 third
guarter revenues by 7.3%. Our business depend#yhepon the development and manufacture of newicemductors, the rate at which
semiconductor manufacturers make transitions tdlem@anometer technology nodes and implementrgddiycles, the volume of production
by semiconductor manufacturers and the overalhfited strength of our customers, which, in turmpeted upon the current and anticipated
market demand for semiconductors and products, asigersonal computers and cell phones, that nsie@eductors. Semiconductor
manufacturers generally sharply curtail their spegdncluding their equipment spending, and déffieir adoption of emerging technologies
during industry downturns and historically have éved their spending disproportionately more thandicline in their revenues. This is
particularly true when there is a point during adustry cycle in which the semiconductor manufaalrcosts related to semiconductor dev
approach or exceed the sales price of the devieea.result, we would experience reduced revenuedalthe decreased demand for our wafer
probe cards by our semiconductor manufacturer mests, which is what we are experiencing in thigentrdownturn. Accordingly, if we are
unable to adjust our levels of manufacturing anché resources or manage our costs and delivedesduppliers in response to lower
spending by semiconductor manufacturers, our graggin may continue to decline and cause us toreeqgee further operating losses.

If we are unable to efficiently manufacture and rgmmproduction of our new probe card products, ourdiness may be materially advers:
affected.

We must continuously improve our manufaogiprocesses in an effort to increase yields andyct performance, lower our costs and
reduce the time it takes for us to design, manufacand deliver our products in volume. If we canoar new products may not be
commercially successful, our revenues may be adiyeadfected, our customer relationships and oputation may be harmed and our
business may be materially adversely affected nffrd@ve our manufacturing processes, we have inguared may incur in the future,
substantial costs as we optimize capacity and gigéhdplement new manufacturing technologies, medtaotl processes, purchase new
equipment, upgrade
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existing equipment and train technical personned.N&ve experienced, and may experience in thesfuttenufacturing delays and other
inefficiencies in connection with implementationtbése improvements and customer qualificatiorse®f processes, and expansion of
manufacturing capacity and ramp of production vaummeet customer demand, which have caused ad cause in the future, our
operating results to decline. We have also expeeiénand may experience in the future, difficultresnanufacturing our complex products in
volume on time and at acceptable yields and cabirestallation issues in the field due to complexit customer design requirements,
including integration of wafer probe cards withyiag customer test cell environments and testingeofiiconductor devices over a wide
temperature range. For example, we experienceteadigals transitioning our Harmony architecture-bgseducts from a lower-volume,
engineering-assisted process to a high-volume naatwing process. These problems resulted in misgpdrtunities with customers. If we
experience challenges in our transition to our Matrchitecture products, or other next generagiducts, such difficulties could cause
additional product delivery delays and lost saldss increases our vulnerability to our competitansl the likelihood that our customers will
seek solutions from other suppliers or to develdpt®ons themselves. If demand for our productge®ses, we could have excess
manufacturing capacity. The fixed costs associaf#itlexcess manufacturing capacity could causeoparating results to decline. If we are
unable to achieve further manufacturing efficiea@ed cost reductions, particularly if we are eigeing pricing pressures in the marketpl:
our operating results could suffer.

Industry consolidation could adversely affect theanket for our products, which could cause a decliimeour revenues

Consolidation in the semiconductor induspgrticularly among manufacturers of DRAM deviogsuld reduce our customer base and
could adversely affect the market for our produetsich could cause a decline in our revenues. Tblead economic downturn caused
significant disruption within the semiconductor urstiy. The semiconductor industry now has a smallstomer landscape than in past years.
The loss of additional customers could further emiate, and could adversely affect, the markebémrmproducts. Consolidation may lead to
lost or delayed sales, reduced demand for our vpeédre cards, loss of market share and increaseidgpressures. Additionally, certain
customers may not want to rely entirely or sub&é#ligton a single wafer probe card supplier anda assult, such customers could reduce their
purchases of our wafer probe cards.

We depend upon the sale of our wafer probe cardssigbstantially all of our revenues, and the majtyriof our wafer probe cards are utiliz:
by semiconductor manufacturers for testing DRAM dess; if we continue to experience a downturn inrdand for our DRAM products,
our revenues could decline further.

We have historically derived substantialllyof our revenues from the sale of our wafer probrds to manufacturers of DRAM, flash
memory devices, and microprocessor, chipset arelr & C devices. For fiscal 2010 and for fiscal 2G@%es to manufacturers of DRAM
devices accounted for 69.6% and 80.4%, respectieélgur revenues; sales to manufacturers of flasmory devices accounted for 15.9% .
5.4%, respectively, of our revenues and sales taufaaturers of SoC devices accounted for 14.5%:1dn20%, respectively, of our revenues.
We anticipate that sales of our wafer probe caitlgapresent a substantial majority of our revenfm the foreseeable future. Our success
depends in large part upon the continued acceptafinmer products within these markets and our ghiti continue to develop and introduce
new products that meet our customers' requirentangstimely basis for these markets. In particutagontinue to grow our business, we need
to further penetrate the full wafer contactor flasamory and SoC markets and to gain additional etafkare with manufacturers of flash
memory and SoC devices. To the extent that we rmabla to realize cost reductions and manufactieffigiencies in the production of our
wafer probe cards, or if we are not able to tindsiiver our products, our revenues and businessatipes could be adversely impacted anc
ability to grow could suffer. As our next generatimafer probe cards are used in greater
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volume in commercial production, it is possiblettha will identify certain areas of technical perfance that require improvement, and if we
are unable to continually, efficiently and in adijnmanner improve our products, which could resuteduced demand for our products and
our operating results could be harmed. If chip nfiacturers fail to make architecture, node or tedbmgpotransitions as we anticipate, or if
anticipated or announced transitions are delayeduild adversely impact our revenues and operagisglts. In addition, we might not be able
to sustain or increase our revenues from salesofvafer probe cards, particularly if conditiongli®e semiconductor market continue to
deteriorate or do not improve or if the market entnother downturn. Any decrease in revenues §ales of our wafer probe cards could h
our business more than it would if we offered aendirversified line of products.

If our relationships with our customers and compags that manufacture semiconductor test equipmentedierate, our product developme
activities could be harmed.

The success of our product developmenttsfitepends upon our ability to anticipate martetds and to collaborate closely with our
customers and with companies that manufacture semictor test equipment. Our relationships wittséheustomers and companies provide
us with access to valuable information regardinguuf@cturing and process technology trends in th@anductor industry, which enables us
to better plan our product development activitidsese relationships also provide us with opportesito understand the performance and
functionality requirements of our customers, whidiprove our ability to customize our products ttifiutheir needs. Our relationships with
test equipment companies are important to us bedags equipment companies can design our waféeprards into their equipment and
provide us with the insight into their product pdahat allows us to offer wafer probe cards forwghk their products when they are introduced
to the market. Our relationships with our custonzarg test equipment companies could deteriordteif:

. become concerned about our ability to protect timédllectual property

. become concerned with our ability to deliver quyatitoducts on a timely basis;

. develop their own solutions to address the neete&img improvement;

. implement chip designs that include enhanced-in self-test capabilities

. regard us as a competiti

. introduce their own wafer probe card product;

. establish relationships with others in our industry

. acquire or invest in a competitive wafer probe gaehufacturer or enter into a business venture avitbmpetitive wafer prok

card manufacturer; or

. attempt to restrict our ability to enter into réaiships with their competitors.

Many of our customers and the test equiiroempanies we work with are large companies. Tresequences of deterioration in our
relationship with any of these companies couldXscerbated due to the significant influence theseganies can exert in our markets. If our
current relationships with our customers and tgstmment companies deteriorate, or if we are untebtievelop similar collaborative
relationships with important customers and tesi@gant companies in the future, our long-term &ptld produce commercially successful
products could be impaired.
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Consolidation within the semiconductor test equipnmienarket could negatively impact our ability to epete and negatively impact our
revenue and operating results.

There has been a recent move toward calaimn within the semiconductor test equipment rearkor example, in 2009, Touchdown
Technologies, Inc., a probe card manufacturer,aggsiired by Verigy Ltd., a tester company, andda® after Verigy announced an intent to
combine with LTX Credence, a tester company, Adestn€Corporation, made an unsolicited bid to acgdergy. This consolidation trend
could change our interactions and relationshiph s&miconductor tester and prober companies aratinely impact our revenue and
operating results.

Because we generally do not have a sufficient backbf unfilled orders to meet our quarterly reventergets, revenues in any quarter a
substantially dependent upon customer orders reediand fulfilled in that quarter.

Our revenues are difficult to forecast hesgawe generally do not have sufficient backlogrdflled orders to meet our quarterly revenue
targets at the beginning of a quarter. Ratherpatantial percentage of our revenues in any qudeeend upon customer orders for our wafer
probe cards that we receive and fulfill in that geia Because our expense levels are based impanr expectations as to future revenues and
to a large extent are fixed in the short term, vghtnbe unable to adjust spending in time to corspénfor any unexpected shortfall in
revenues. Accordingly, any significant shortfallrefenues in relation to our expectations could bur operating results.

We manufacture substantially all our products at ofacility in Livermore, California, and any disrupion in the operations of this facility
could adversely impact our business and operatiegults.

Our manufacturing processes require saphted and costly equipment and a specially dedigmeility, including a semiconductor clean
room. We manufacture the majority of our wafer gralards at our facility located in Livermore, Califia, and we have certain manufacturing
capabilities in our Japan facility. Any disruptionour manufacturing, whether due to contaminatiaur manufacturing process, technical or
labor difficulties, destruction or damage from fineearthquake, infrastructure failures such asqvaw water shortage or any other reason,
could interrupt our operations, impair critical ®mms, disrupt communications with our customerssargpliers, and cause us to write off
inventory, thereby potentially resulting in thedasf revenues. In addition, if the previous eneamgges in California that resulted in disruptions
in power supply and increases in utility costs wereecur, we might experience power interruptiand shortages, which could disrupt our
manufacturing operations. This could subject usse of revenues as well as significantly higheste@f energy. Further, current and potential
customers might not purchase our products if trexggive our lack of a fully operational alternatamafacturing facility to be a risk to their
continuing source of supply.

If we are unable to continue to reduce the timeakes for us to design and produce a wafer probedc@ur growth could be impede:

Our customers continuously seek to redbediime it takes them to introduce new productsiéoket. The cyclicality of the semiconduc
industry, coupled with changing demands for sendcator devices, requires our customers to be flexdbd highly adaptable to changes in
the volume and mix of products they must produeehEof those changes requires a new design ancheactesign requires a new wafer
probe card. For some existing semiconductor deytbesmanufacturers' volume and mix of product iregients are such that we are unable to
design, manufacture and ship products to meetszctufacturers' relatively short cycle time requiests. We, for example, have lost sales in
the past where we were unable to meet a customguged delivery schedule for wafer probe cardsafparticular design. If we are unable to
reduce the time it takes for us to design, manufacand ship our products in response to the nefeaisr customers,
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our competitive position could be harmed and wddttase sales. If we are unable to grow design cigpan the event demand increases, our
ability to respond to customer requirements coddalallenged and our revenues could be negatirgipéted.

We obtain some of the components and materials we in our products from a sole source or a limitgebup of suppliers, and the patrtial ¢
complete loss of one of these suppliers could caueeluction delays and a substantial loss of revesu

We obtain some of the components and nadgensed in our products, such as printed circugiréh assemblies, plating materials and
ceramic substrates, from a sole source or a lingitedp of suppliers. Alternative sources are notantly available for sole source components
and materials. Because we rely on purchase ord#rerrthan long-term contracts with the majorityof suppliers, we cannot predict with
certainty our ability to obtain components and mate in the longer term. A sole or limited soustgplier could increase prices, which could
lead to a decline in our gross margin. Our depecel@pon sole or limited source suppliers exposes ssveral other risks, including inability
to obtain an adequate supply of materials, latveléés and poor component quality. In additiorg #ility of any of these suppliers to timely
provide us with sufficient quality materials would adversely affected if they are forced to redurodiscontinue operations due to financial
difficulties, which is a heightened risk during therrent economic downturn. Disruption or termioatof the supply of components or
materials could delay shipments of our productsjaige our customer relationships and reduce ountege For example, if we were unable to
obtain an adequate supply of a component or matesamight have to use a substitute componentateral, which could require us to make
changes in our manufacturing process. From tim#rte, we have experienced difficulties in receivaigpments from one or more of our
suppliers, especially during periods of high demfamabur products. If we cannot obtain an adeqsatgly of the components and materials
we require, or do not receive them in a timely neaanwe might be required to identify new supplié& might not be able to identify new
suppliers on a timely basis or at all. We, as welbur customers, would also need to qualify any sigpliers. The lead-time required to
identify and qualify new suppliers could affect alnility to timely ship our products and cause operating results to suffer. Further, a sole or
limited source supplier could require us to entén hon-cancelable purchase commitments or pagiiarece to ensure our source of supply. In
an industry downturn or in an environment in whighwth is not at a level we projected or anticigatsmmitments of this type could resul
charges for excess inventory of parts. Furthex,distomer's needs for a particular probe cargydesid purchase orders for those probe cards
are spread out over several months as opposedny leced at one time in a single purchase oitlaray require us to purchase excessive
materials in light of minimum purchase requirement$o be unable to realize volume discounts fotemials because of the lack of visibility
into the customer's overall purchase plan. Thesehage issues would require us to incur a greatgraf goods sold than we might otherwise
realize. Additionally, if we are unable to predictr component and materials needs accurately,aurisupply is disrupted, we might miss
market opportunities by not being able to meetddsmand for our products.

Wafer probe cards that do not meet specificatiomghat contain defects could damage our reputatiaecrease market acceptance of our
technology, cause us to lose customers and revenaieg result in liability to us.

The complexity and ongoing developmentwfwafer probe card manufacturing process, comhividdincreases in wafer probe card
production volumes, have in the past and coulthénftiture lead to design or manufacturing probldras.example, we have experienced the
presence of contaminants in our plating baths, iwhave caused a decrease in our manufacturingsyeeltlave resulted in unanticipated stress-
related failures when our wafer probe cards aregoesed in the manufacturing test environment. Thigamination problem caused a yield
decline that, in turn,
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resulted in our inability to timely ship productsdur customers. Manufacturing design errors ssdha miswiring of a wafer probe card or the
incorrect placement of probe contact elements lbaused us to repeat manufacturing design stepsldition to these examples, problems
might result from a number of factors, includingide defects, materials failure, failure of compaisemanufactured by our suppliers to meet
our specifications, contamination in the manufaotyenvironment, impurities in the materials usatknown sensitivities to process
conditions, such as temperature and humidity, @uipenent failures. As a result, our products hawthe past contained and might in the fu
contain undetected errors or defects. Any errodetects could:

. cause lower than anticipated yields and lengthdimetg schedules

. cause delays in product shipmet

. cause delays in new product introductions;

. cause us to incur warranty expenses;

. result in increased costs and diversion of develgmesources

. cause us to incur increased charges due to unusablatory;

. require design modifications; or

. decrease market acceptance or customer satisfactiothese product:

The occurrence of any one or more of tleesmts could adversely affect our operating results

In addition, if any of our products faits ieet specifications when installed in the custrest environment, or has reliability, quality o
compatibility problems, our reputation could be @aed significantly and customers might be reluctamiuy our products, which could result
in a decline in revenues, an increase in produatme or warranty costs and the loss of existingtamers or the failure to attract new
customers. Our customers use our products witretpgpment and software in their manufacturinglifiées. Our products must be compatible
with the customers' equipment and software to famntegrated system. While we have designed stuctpabilities and standards to replic
the actual test environment of our customers andirngally work to improve our capabilities, it isgsible that our wafer probe card will
perform differently in the customers' actual tastimnments. If our wafer probe card does not fiamcproperly within a customer's specific
test environment, we could be required to providk fapplication engineers to locate the probletictv can take time and resources. If the
problem relates to our wafer probe cards, we ntigle to invest significant capital, manufacturiagacity and other resources to correct it.
Our current or potential customers also might deelecover from us any losses resulting from dsfectfailures in our products. Liability
claims could require us to spend significant timd enoney in litigation or to pay significant damage

If our ability to forecast demand for our productdeteriorates or the predictability of our manufaaing yields does not improve, we cot
incur higher inventory losses than we currently esqence.

Each semiconductor chip design requirasstéotn wafer probe card. Because our products aigrdspecific, demand for our products is
difficult to forecast. Due to our customers' shimlivery time requirements, we often design, preauaterials and, at times, produce our
products in anticipation of demand for our produetber than in response to an order. Our manufagtyields, particularly for new products,
have historically been unpredictable and consedyiemé generally produce more components for predrels, or actual probe cards, than
forecasted demand. If we do not obtain orders aantieipate, or if we continue to produce excesgiory to compensate for unpredictable
manufacturing yields, we could have excess or @bsahventory for a specific customer design thatwould not be able to sell to any other
customer, which would likely result in inventoryiteroffs or material charges for scrap.
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If we fail to maintain an effective system of inteal and disclosure controls, we may not be abletzurately report our financial results ¢
prevent fraud, which may adversely affect our busss and reputation. In addition, current and potéaltstockholders could lose confiden:
in our financial reporting, which may adversely inggt the trading price of our securities.

Effective internal and disclosure contrale necessary for us to provide reliable finan@pbrts, to prevent fraud and to operate
successfully as a public company. If we cannot igi®veliable financial reports or prevent fraudr business and reputation may be harmed.
We regularly review and assess our internal comvel financial reporting and our disclosure colstand procedures. As part of that process,
we may discover material weaknesses or signifidafitiencies in our internal control as defined enstandards adopted by the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board, or PCAOB, tleafuire remediation. A material weakness is a d@gfiry, or combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over financiapogting, such that there is a reasonable possilbiiat a material misstatement of the company’s
annual or interim financial statements will notdrevented or detected in a timely basis. A sigaiitadeficiency is a deficiency or combination
of deficiencies, in internal control over financiaporting that is less severe than a material wesd yet important enough to merit attentio
those responsible for the oversight of the comgsafityancial reporting. For example, in November 208e completed a review of our
historical practices with respect to inventory \alan. That review indicated that during fiscal 8@&hd the first half of fiscal 2007 we did not
consistently follow our accounting policies for elehining inventory valuation. Specifically, we didt maintain effective controls to ensure
that the estimation process to value inventory da@dmvith our accounting policies. As a result, kgstated our annual and interim financial
statements for fiscal 2006 and interim financiatatents for the first and second quarters of fid@87 and made audit adjustments to our
annual financial statements for fiscal 2007. Assult of weaknesses that may be identified in ot@rnal controls, we may also identify cert
deficiencies in some of our disclosure controls pratedures that we believe require remediatioweltliscover weaknesses, we will make
efforts to improve our internal and disclosure colst However, there is no assurance that we wiblccessful. If we fail to maintain effective
controls or timely affect any necessary improven@mtur internal and disclosure controls, we mayhave accurate information to make
management decisions, our operating results caultabmed or we may fail to meet our reporting @lns, which could affect our ability to
remain listed with the NASDAQ Global Market. Inaffeve internal and disclosure controls could alaose stockholders to lose confidence in
our reported financial information and our abilitymanage our business, which would likely havegative effect on the trading price of our
securities.

We might be subject to claims of infringement ohet parties' proprietary rights which could harm awbusiness.

In the future, as we have in the past, ighbreceive claims that we are infringing intetlesd property rights of others or inquiries about
our interest in a license, or assertions that veglrzelicense, to the intellectual property. Theisenductor industry is characterized by
uncertain and conflicting intellectual propertyioia and vigorous protection and pursuit of theghts. The resolution of any claims of this
nature, with or without merit, could be time consugy result in costly litigation or cause produbimnent delays. In the event of an adverse
ruling or settlement, we might be required to palystantial damages, cease the use or sale ofgirfgrproducts, spend significant resources to
develop non-infringing technology, discontinue tise of certain technology and/or enter into liceaggeements. License agreements, if
required, might not be available on terms acceptabls or at all. The loss of access to any ofrttetlectual property or the ability to use any
of our technology could harm our business. Finagrtain of our customer contracts contain prowisithat require us to defend and/or
indemnify our customers for third party intelledtpeoperty infringement claims, which would increabe cost to us of an adverse ruling or
settlement.
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We may not be able to recruit or retain qualifie@gsonnel, which could harm our business.

We believe our ability to successfully mgaa@and grow our business and to develop new prediegends, in large part, on our ability to
recruit and retain qualified employees, particylduilghly skilled technical, sales, management, kendstaff personnel. Competition for
qualified resources is intense and other companashave greater resources available to providstantial inducements to lure key persor
away from us or to offer more competitive compeinsapackages to individuals we are trying to hidditionally, we have implemented
global cost reduction plans in which we have redumgr workforce, which could make it challengingétain key people and recruit new
talent, as needed. While we are implementing pragréhat will include goals for attracting employessd we may grant additional equity
compensation to certain employees outside of onuarequity grant program for retention purposesmplement retention bonus programs
for certain employees, there can be no assuraatevehwill be able to successfully recruit and irethe qualified personnel we require.

We may make acquisitions and investments, whichldquut a strain on our resources, cause ownershifution to our stockholders and
adversely affect our financial results.

We may make acquisitions of complementarsitesses, products or technologies in the futor@®ctober 2009, we completed the
acquisition of certain precision motion control@ugtion assets from Electroglas, a company undapteh 11 bankruptcy protection in
Delaware. Prior to the acquisition, Electroglas wagaged in the supply of semiconductor manufargueguipment and software to the
semiconductor industry. The assets acquired ceusaftmanufacturing and testing equipment, spars pad components related to the
purchased equipment and other technology assateddb precision motion control automation anaathe intellectual property rights of
Electroglas, with the exception of certain traddoréghts.

We may also make certain investments ingtementary or supplementary businesses, produd¢ebnologies in the future. Integrating
newly acquired businesses, products or technolagiesur company could put a strain on our resesircould be expensive and time
consuming, may cause delays in product deliveryraigtht not be successful. Future acquisitions amdstments could divert our
management's attention from other business coneschgxpose our business to unforeseen liabititiesks associated with entering new
markets. In addition, we might lose key employeagenintegrating new organizations. We might nosshecessful in integrating any acquired
businesses, products or technologies, and mighactoeve anticipated revenues and cost benefitastments that we make may not result in a
return consistent with our projections upon whiablsinvestments are made, or may require additiomaktment that we did not originally
anticipate. In addition, future acquisitions cotdgult in customer dissatisfaction, performancéjams with an acquired company, potentially
dilutive issuances of equity securities or the mence of debt, contingent liabilities, possiblgoarment charges related to goodwill or other
intangible assets or other unanticipated eventéroumstances, any of which could harm our business

As part of our sales process, we could incur sulbsii sales and engineering expenses that do natulein revenues, which would harm ot
operating results.

Our customers generally expend signifiedfdrts evaluating and qualifying our products ptim placing an order. The time that our
customers require to evaluate and qualify our wafebe cards is typically between three and 12 hrwahd sometimes longer. While our
customers are evaluating our products, we mightrisabstantial sales, marketing, and research emelabment expenses. For example, we
typically expend significant resources educatingmospective customers regarding the uses anditseokour wafer probe cards and
developing wafer probe cards customized to therpialecustomer's needs, for which we might notéimbursed. Although we commit
substantial resources to our sales efforts, we hnigher receive any revenues from a customer. ¥ample,
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many semiconductor designs never reach produdtioluding designs for which we may have expendesigieeffort and expense. In addition,
prospective customers might decide not to use afiemprobe cards. The length of time that it tfkeshe evaluation process and for us to
make a sale depends upon many factors including:

. the efforts of our sales force and our distrib@tod independent sales representati

. the complexity of the customer's fabrication preess

. the internal technical capabilities of the custgnaed

. the customer's budgetary constraints and, in paaticthe customer's ability to devote resourcebecevaluation process.

In addition, product purchases are fregyentbject to delays, particularly with respectarge customers for which our products may
represent a small percentage of their overall mgeb. As a result, our sales cycles are unpretictélve incur substantial sales and
engineering expenses without generating revenugperating results could be harmed.

Our failure to comply with environmental laws andgulations could subject us to significant fines étiabilities, and new laws and
regulations or changes in regulatory interpretatiasr enforcement could make compliance more difficahd costly.

We are subject to various U.S. federatestad local, and foreign governmental laws andlegipns relating to the protection of the
environment, including those governing the discharfjpollutants into the air and water, the manag@rand disposal of hazardous substances
and wastes, the cleanup of contaminated siteshench&intenance of a safe workplace. We could isgbstantial costs, including cleanup
costs, civil or criminal fines or sanctions anddhparty claims for property damage or personairinjas a result of violations of or liabilities
under environmental laws and regulations or nongd@nce with the environmental permits requiredat facilities.

These laws, regulations and permits alstdcequire the installation of costly pollutionrtool equipment or operational changes to limit
pollution emissions or decrease the likelihoodatfidental releases of hazardous substances. Itiagdihanging laws and regulations, new
laws and regulations, stricter enforcement of éxgstaws and regulations, the discovery of previpusknown contamination at our or others'
sites or the imposition of new cleanup requirementdd require us to curtail our operations, reswour future expansion, subject us to liability
and cause us to incur future costs that could lmnmnoperations, thereby adversely impacting ouratpey results and cash flow.

Because we conduct most of our business internadiyn we are subject to operational, economic, fir@al and political risks abroad

Sales of our products to customers outiddJnited States have accounted for a signifiparnitof our revenues. Our international sale
a percentage of our revenues were 79.7% and 8hB%s¢al 2010 and fiscal 2009, respectively. Audially, certain of our South Korean
customers purchase through their North Americasigligries. In the future, we expect internatioradés, particularly in Japan, South Korea
and Taiwan, to continue to account for a signiftqaercentage of our revenues. Accordingly, we béllsubject to risks and challenges that we
would not otherwise face if we conducted our bussneplely in the United States. These risks antiectrges include:

. compliance with a wide variety of foreign laws aedulations

. legal uncertainties regarding taxes, tariffs, qapéxport controls, export licenses and other thadeers;
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. political and economic instability in, or foreigonrlicts that involve or affect, the countries afr@ustomers;

. difficulties in collecting accounts receivable dodger accounts receivable payment cyc

. difficulties in staffing and managing personneftdbutors and representatives;

. reduced protection for intellectual property riglmsome countries;

. currency exchange rate fluctuations, which coutdafthe value of our assets denominated in logakaocy, as well as the pri

of our products relative to locally produced pratic
. seasonal fluctuations in purchasing patterns ierotbuntries; and

. fluctuations in freight rates and transportatiosrdptions.

Any of these factors could harm our exiptimternational operations and business, impairadility to continue expanding into
international markets or materially adversely affaer operating results.

The trading price of our common stock has been dadikely to continue to be volatile, and you mighot be able to sell your shares at or
above the price that you paid for them.

The trading prices of the securities ohtemogy companies have been highly volatile, anchfdanuary 1, 2010 through February 10,
2011, our stock price has ranged from $6.95 a dbab21.92 a share. The trading price of our comstook is likely to continue to be subject
to wide fluctuations. Factors affecting the tradprgce of our common stock include:

. variations in our operating results;
. our forecasts and financial guidance for futurequs;
. announcements of technological innovations, newdyets or product enhancements, new product adapéibsemiconductc

customers or significant agreements by us or bycouarpetitors;

. reports regarding our ability to bring new produate volume production efficiently;
. the gain or loss of significant orders or custom
. changes in the estimates of our operating resultb@nges in recommendations by any securitieystsahat elect to follow ot

common stock;

. rulings on various of our pending litigations andqeedings relating to intellectual property matt

. seasonality, principally due to our customers' pasing cycles

. market and competitive conditions in our indussgmiconductor industry and the economy as a whaoie;
. recruitment or departure of key personnel.

In addition, if the market for technologpaks or the stock market in general experiences &b investor confidence, the trading price of
our common stock could decline for reasons unreéladeur business, operating results or finanaaldition. The trading price of our common
stock also might decline in reaction to events #ifct other companies in our industry even isthevents do not directly affect us.
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Provisions of our certificate of incorporation antdylaws or Delaware law might discourage, delay oeyent a change of control of ot
company or changes in our management and, therefatepress the trading price of our common stock.

Delaware corporate law and our certifiaz#tencorporation and bylaws contain provisions tbatild discourage, delay or prevent a change
in control of our company or changes in our managerthat the stockholders of our company may desdrargageous. These provisions:

. establish a classified board of directors so tloatali members of our board are elected at one;time

. provide that directors may only be removed "forsettand only with the approval of 663 % of our stockholders;

. require supe-majority voting to amend some provisions in outtifieate of incorporation and bylaw

. authorize the issuance of "blank check" prefertedksthat our board could issue to increase thebaurof outstanding shar

and to discourage a takeover attempt;

. limit the ability of our stockholders to call spakimeetings of stockholder

. prohibit stockholder action by written consent, gfhrequires all stockholder actions to be takesmmeeting of our stockholde
. provide that the board of directors is expressihatized to make, alter or repeal our bylaws; and

. establish advance notice requirements for nominatior election to our board or for proposing mattbat can be acted upon

stockholders at stockholder meetings.

In addition, Section 203 of the Delawaren@al Corporation Law may discourage, delay or @nea change in control of our company
addition, each of our named executive officers @thin other officers of the company have entaremichange of control severance
agreements, which were approved by our Compens@tiommittee, which could increase the costs assstiaith a change of control and th
potentially deter such a transaction.

Iltem 1B: Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2:  Properties

Our corporate headquarters, which incligddss, marketing, administration, manufacturingiireeering, and research and development
facilities, is located in Livermore, California, Wed States. Our corporate headquarters is contpaka campus of six buildings totaling
approximately 210,000 square feet, with one ofsilkébuildings currently vacant. We presently letigese six buildings. We also own one
building which was a part of our older manufactgrfacility and which we are no longer using. Thailding is presently available for sale. In
addition, we lease office, repair and service, nfasturing and/or research and development spadeihsitie and outside of the United States.
The leases expire at various times through 202&oimection with our restructuring actions impleteenn fiscal 2010, we ceased using
certain manufacturing properties in Singapore anérnmore, California. These properties are curgewdicant and marketed to sublease. We
believe that our existing and planned facilities suitable for our current needs.
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Information concerning our properties aBetember 25, 2010 is set forth below:

Square
Location Principal Use Fc?otage Ownership
Livermore, California, United States(. Corporate headquarters, sales, 208,11 Leased
marketing, product design,
manufacturing, service and repair
engineering, distribution, research an
developmen
Livermore, California, United States( Manufacturing 13,53 Owned
Austin, Texas, United Stat: Service and repa 2,02t Leasec
Singapore(1 Sales, finance, design, service, fi 46,87( Leasec
service, supply chain , factory,
stockroom, warehousing and
manufacturing
Jubei City, Hsinchu, Taiwan Sales office, product design, field 9,30¢ Leased
service and service and repair cel
Yokohama City, Japa Field service, service and repair cer 8,771 Leasec
and manufacturin
Gyeongg-do, South Korei Sales office, product design, fie 7,97¢ Leasec
service, service and repair cer
Tokyo, Japan Sales office, marketing, product desic 7,81¢ Leased
research and developme
Hiroshima, Japa Research and developmt 1,61t Leasec
Munich, Germany Sales office 91¢€ Leasec
Milan, Italy Sales office and field servir 91E Leasec
Shanghai, Chin Sales office 21E Leasec

@ Portions of certain properties are vacant and ntedke sublease.

(2) The property is available for sale.
Item 3: Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may be subject tamlggoceedings and claims in the ordinary courdeusfness. As of the filing of this Form K)-
we were not involved in any material legal procegdi other than the proceedings summarized belothel future we may become a party to
additional legal proceedings that may require usptend significant resources, including proceeddegggned to protect our intellectual
property rights and to collect past due accourdsivable from our customers.

We believe that the factual allegations eincumstances underlying the legal proceedingsried below that have been filed against us
are without merit. We also believe that our compdogs not have a material monetary damages expistirese legal proceedings that would
individually or in the aggregate have a materialeade effect on our financial condition, liquidity results of operations; however, these legal
proceedings have been costly and it is possiblavilténcur significant, and possibly material, atteys' fees, which may not be covered by our
insurance policies. These legal proceedings maydilert our management's time and attention away business operations, which could
prove to be disruptive to our business operatibnaddition, an unfavorable outcome or settleménih@se proceedings, particularly if it is not
covered by or exceeds our insurance coverage, @udikldually or in the aggregate adversely impaet financial condition, liquidity or
results of operations.
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Patent Litigation

We initiated patent infringement litigationthe United States against Phicom Corporatidforea corporation, and its U.S. subsidiary,
both collectively "Phicom", and against Microniepan Co., Ltd., a Japan corporation, and its WSsidiary, both collectively "Micronics
Japan." In 2005, we filed a patent infringementdaitvin the United States District Court for thesict of Oregon against Phicom charging
that it is willfully infringing four U.S. patent$at cover key aspects of our wafer probe cards—RaBnt Nos. 5,974,662, 6,246,247,
6,624,648, and 5,994,152. In 2006, we also filedmended complaint in the same Oregon districtt@mating two additional patents to the
litigation—U.S. Patent Nos. 7,073,254 and 6,615,485. Als®@62we filed a patent infringement lawsuit in theited States District Court f
the Northern District of California against MicrasiJapan charging that it is willfully infringingdr U.S. patents that cover key aspects of our
wafer probe cards—U.S. Patent Nos. 6,246,247, 6/5096,624,648, and 7,073,254.

These two district court actions were stbgending resolution of the complaint that we fileith the United States International Trade
Commission, or ITC, on or about November 13, 2@@¢eking institution of a formal investigation irtee activities of Micronics Japan and
Phicom. The requested investigation as filed enamsed U.S. Patent Nos. 5,994,152, 6,509,751, 88355,624,648 and 7,225,538 and
alleged that infringement by each of Micronics Japad Phicom of certain of the identified patemsstitute unfair acts in violation of 19
U.S.C. Section 1337 and alleged violations of $&c837 of the Tariff Act of 1930 in the importatiorto the United States of certain probe
card assemblies, components thereof, and cerstiedt® RAM and NAND flash memory devices and proglecintaining such devices that
infringe patents owned by us.

In November 2009, in response to a regieeseview of prior decisions by an ITC Administket Law Judge, the Commission issued a
decision, which is termed a "final determinaticiintiing certain of FormFactor's asserted patenindavalid, but not infringed, and other
asserted patent claims invalid. The Commissiomdidfind a violation of Section 337 of the Tariftof 1930 and terminated the investigation
without issuing an exclusionary order against amdpcts. We did not appeal the final determinatmthe Court of Appeals for the Federal
Circuit. The stay in the district court action agsiMicronics Japan was lifted, and in July 2010resched an amicable resolution of the action
against Micronics Japan resulting in the dismis§ahe patent infringement lawsuit in the Unite@t8s District Court for the Northern District
of California. The terms and conditions of thelsetient agreement are confidential. The stay irdtstict court action against Phicom was
lifted and the parties engaged in a non-bindingiatixh in an attempt to resolve the litigationtHé matter is not resolved amicably, we
anticipate the action will proceed forward.

In July 2010, we filed a patent infringerhlwsuit in the United States District Court foetNorthern District of California against Micro-
Probe Incorporated charging that it is willfullyfiimging six U.S. patents that cover aspects offoprietary technology and wafer probe ce
The complaint sought both injunctive relief and rprlamages for Micro-Probe's alleged infringemémiup U.S. Patent No. 6,441,315 for
"Contact Structures With Blades Having A Wiping Mat," U.S. Patent No. 6,825,422 for "Interconnettitiement With Contact Blade,” U.S.
Patent No. 6,965,244 for "High Performance Prob&te3y," U.S. Patent No. 7,227,371 for "High PerfanoeProbe System," U.S. Patent
No. 6,246,247 for "Probe Card Assembly and Kit, Methods of Using Same," and U.S. Patent No. 6&M®ifor "Probe Card Assembly." T
complaint also sought injunctive relief and damaagainst Micro-Probe for unfair competition anctlfier includes claims directed against a
former employee for breach of confidence relativeur confidential and propriety information anchagt the former employee and Micro-
Probe for conspiring to breach that confidenceeARlicro-Probe and the former employee filed madiemdismiss, we voluntarily filed an
amended complaint, which was substantially simdawur original complaint, except that we addedbaént against the former employee
alleging misappropriation of trade secrets and méted the infringement allegation related to ouslPatent No. 6,624,648, which is the
subject of a re-examination proceeding before
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the USPTO. Micro-Probe and the former employee ik filed answers to our amended complaint. Mierobe is seeking a stay of part of
the claims pending the outcome of certain USPT®xa@nination procedures it initiated against thepstin-suit.

In addition to the United States litigaomve also initiated actions in Seoul, South Kagainst Phicom. In 2004 we filed two actions in
Seoul Southern District Court, located in SeouljtBdorea, against Phicom alleging infringemenvwof Korean Patent Nos. 252,457, 324,
278,342 and 399,210. In the action alleging infeimgnt of our Korean Patent Nos. 278,342 and 399{A&(5eoul Southern District Court
closed the case after rejecting our petition. Walfan appeal to the Seoul High Court regardingif@sions on our Korean Patent
Nos. 278,342 and 399,210, but elected to voluntarithdraw the appeal. The Seoul Southern Dis@iotirt also rendered decisic
unfavorable to us related to our Korean Patent R68,457 and 324,064 and the Seoul High Court @ised our appeals of those decisions.
The Seoul High Court decisions are subject to @l fappeal to the Korea Supreme Court but we elauétb file such appeals. We also in 2
filed in the Seoul Central District Court two actf) including a preliminary injunction action, aggti Phicom alleging infringement of certain
claims of our Korea Patent No. 252,457. The Seamitf@l District Court did not accept the prelimiyparjunction action and both actions have
been closed.

In response to our initiation of the inffement actions in Korea, Phicom filed in the Kor&aellectual Property Office, or KIPO,
invalidity actions challenging the validity of soroeall of the claims of each of our four paterttgsaue in the Seoul Southern District Court
infringement actions. KIPO dismissed Phicom's amgkes against all four of the patents-at-issueedPhiappealed the dismissals of the
challenges to the Korea Patent Court. In 2006Kitrea Patent Court issued a ruling upholding tHelig of our Korean Patent No. 252,457,
then the only one of the four patents still subteditigation. Phicom appealed the Patent Coumguon Korean Patent No. 252,457 to the
Korea Supreme Court. In June 2008, the Korea Supr@ourt reversed the Patent Court ruling, findimgalid certain claims of our Korean
Patent No. 252,457 and remanding the case forduttlal. We also filed a correction trial with KOPon certain claims of Korean Patent
No. 252,457. KIPO issued decisions unfavorablestboth of the actions relating to our KoreaneRalNo. 252,457, and, on appeal,
Korea Patent Court also issued decisions advensg ito both actions.

Additionally, one or more third parties leanitiated challenges in the U.S. and in foreigtept offices against certain of the above and
other of our patents. These actions include re-éxation proceedings filed in the U.S. Patent arad&mark Office, USPTO, against three of
our U.S. patents that were at issue in the ITCdtigation. With respect to our U.S. Patent No. 8,892, the re-examination proceeding has
concluded and a re-examination certificate hasdswith respect to our U.S. Patent No. 6,624, 88 matter is still pending before the
USPTO. With respect to our U.S. Patent No. 6,61%,48 matter is on appeal from the decision ofUB®€TO examiner. Micr@robe has file
requests for re-examination with the USPTO direttedur U.S. Patent No. 6,246,247, U.S. Patentd\&BR5,422, U.S. Patent No. 6,441,315,
U.S. Patent No. 6,965,244 and U.S. Patent No. 73227 The USPTO granted the re-examination requissted to U.S. Patent
Nos. 6,246,247, 6,825,422 and 6,441,315, and hagetonade a determination as to whether it wilrgrthe requests directed to U.S. Pa
Nos. 6,965,244 and 7,227,371. The foreign actinolside proceedings in Taiwan against several off@iwan patents

No provision has been made for patent-eeléitigation because we believe that it is notoatale that a liability had been incurred as of
December 25, 2010. We have incurred and will incuhe future material attorneys' fees in prosexutind defending the various identified
actions.

Securities Litigation
None.
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Stockholder Derivative Litigation
None.
Commercial Litigation

On February 20, 2009, we filed a compl&intoreach of contract, common counts, accoungédtand injunctive relief against
Spansion, LLC, a Delaware limited liability compafi$pansion”), in the state superior court locate8anta Clara County, California. The
complaint alleges that Spansion, in breach of Spafssobligations under a purchase agreement ehiet@ by us and Spansion, has failed to
pay us for probe cards that we designed, develapddnanufactured pursuant to several purchasesoptized by Spansion with us pursual
the agreement. The complaint states that as oluBgpd 3, 2009, Spansion owed us $8.1 million fabercards delivered by us and not paic
by Spansion. In the complaint, we are seekinggynpent of at least $8.1 million, (ii) a temporarptective order and an injunction enjoining
Spansion from assigning or in any way divestinglitef any monies that we believe Spansion recefvauh a certain third party entity, (iii) a
prejudgment writ of attachment in favor of us o$@ansion’'s corporate assets and property, (iv} ewst (v) attorney's fees. Prior to making
any appearance or filing any answer in the acpansion filed for protection under Chapter 11hef Bankruptcy Laws of the United States,
which served to stay our complaint against SpansioNovember 2009, we sold all rights, title anterest in the bankruptcy claim in the
aggregate face amount of $8.1 million to a thirchypa exchange for net proceeds of $3.5 milliomg & October 2010, we voluntarily
dismissed our complaint against Spansion.

ltem 4: (Removed and Reserved)
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PART Il
ltem 5: Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Skbolder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seities

Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock is listed on the NASDAQ@I& Market under the symbol "FORM". The followitaple sets forth the range of high
and low sales prices per share as reported ondkdad Global Market for the periods indicated.

Fiscal 201C High Low

First Quarte! $ 2231 $ 15.2(
Second Quarte 20.47 10.67
Third Quartel 11.3¢ 6.9t
Fourth Quarte 10.71 8.2¢
Fiscal 2009 High Low

First Quarte! $ 19.0¢ $ 13.1(
Second Quarte 21.7¢ 15.43
Third Quartel 26.0¢ 17.0¢t
Fourth Quarte 24.6: 15.2(

The closing sales price of our common stmtkhe NASDAQ Global Market was $9.28 per shar&ebruary 10, 2011. As of
February 10, 2011, there were 62 registered holaferescord of our common stock.

Repurchase of Common Stock

On October 20, 2010, the Company's Boai@igdctors authorized a program to repurchase #5@0 million of outstanding common
stock. Under the authorized stock repurchase pnogittee Company may repurchase shares from tiniemeodn the open market; the pace of
repurchase activity will depend on levels of caghagation, current stock price, and other facfbie stock repurchase program was annou
on October 26, 2010 and expires on October 19,.2D4 program may be modified or discontinued gttane. In December 2010, we
repurchased and retired approximately 70,000 steiresmmon stock for $0.6 million under this rephase authorization. There were no
additional common stock repurchases during fis6al2

Total Number
of Shares Maximum Amount
Total Number Average Price Purchased as Part of that May Yet Be
of Shares Paid per Publicly Announced Purchased Under
Period (Fiscal months) Purchased Share Plans or Programs the Plans or Programs
October 20, 201—
October 23, 201 — % — — $ 50,000,00
October 24, 2010—
November 20, 201 — — — 50,000,00
November 21, 20—
December 25, 201 70,00( 8.9t 70,00( 49,373,81
70,00( 8.95 70,00(

Additionally, we have repurchased and eetit 30,000 shares of common stock for $1.2 mikiobsequent to December 25, 2010.

Repurchased shares are retired upon thiersenit of the related trade transactions. Ourcgaklated to repurchases of our common stock
is to charge the excess of cost over par valudddianal
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paid-in capital. All repurchases were made in coamgle with Rule 10b-18 under the Securities Exchaket of 1934, as amended.
Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividem our common stock. We currently expect tameth available funds and any future
earnings for use in the operation and developmiotiobusiness. Accordingly, we do not anticipageldring or paying cash dividends on our
common stock in the foreseeable future.

Stock Price Performance Graph

The following graph shows the total stodklleo return of an investment of $100 in cash onddgoer 31, 2005 through December 31,
2010, for (1) our common stock, (2) the S&P 500ebndnd (3) the RDG Semiconductor Composite Inddixvalues assume reinvestment of
the full amount of all dividends. No cash dividerds/e been declared on shares of our common ssbokkholder returns over the indicated
period are based on historical data and are netssacily indicative of future stockholder returns.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among FormFactor, Inc., The S&P 500 Index
And The RDG Semiconductor Composite Index

180 -
F160 4
£140 4
$120 4
100 -
380 4
$60
$40 -
520 -
sn. i i L i i i
1208 12106 12107 12/08 12/08 12h0
—— FormFactor, Inc. =e=oDe-= S&P 500 — -4 — RDG Semiconductor Camposite
Cumulative Total Return
December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
FormFactor, Inc. $ 100.0¢ $ 152.4¢ $ 135.4¢ $ 59.7¢ $ 89.11 $ 36.3¢
S&P 500 100.0( 115.8( 122.1¢ 76.9¢ 97.3: 111.9¢
RDG Semiconductor
Composite 100.0( 94.21 106.4: 53.8¢ 88.82 101.7(
* $100 invested on December 31, 2005, including estment of dividends.

Fiscal year ending December !
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Iltem 6: Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated finahciata are derived from our consolidated finansiatements. This data should be read in
conjunction with our consolidated financial statemseand the related notes, and "ltem 7: ManagemBigtussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations" containedvetgge in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2010 2009 2008 Fiscal Fiscal
(1)(2)(3)(4)(6) (1)(2)(5)(6) (1)(2)(6) 2007 2006

(in thousands, except per share date
Consolidated Statements o
Operations Data:

Revenue! $ 188,56 $ 135,33 $ 210,18¢ $ 462,19: $ 369,21
Gross profit (loss (2,272) 81¢ 36,26: 246,70° 185,12¢
Net (loss) incoms (188,28f) (155,65}  (80,62) 72,89( 57,217
Basic earnings per she $ (3.75) $ (315 $ (169 % 152 $ 1.27
Diluted earnings per sha $ (3.75) $ (315) $ (1.6 $ 147 $ 1.21
Consolidated Balance Sheet

Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and

marketable securitie $ 347,231 $ 449,23t $ 522,89 $ 570,04t $ 492,39
Working capital 370,76' 482,60" 576,75¢ 622,09: 517,21¢
Total asset 466,05¢ 655,96¢ 785,71( 855,32: 694,47
Total stockholders' equit 411,20: 577,78: 706,06¢ 756,95( 614,04:
Number of employee 72¢ 80¢ 94C 1,12¢ 93¢

(1)  Fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008 net losses includeuasting charges of $15.9 million, $8.8 million a$@.2 million,
respectively, relating to our global restructurargl reorganization actions (See Note 4—RestrugCimarges of the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

(2)  Fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008 net losses include immeait charges of $56.4 million, $1.3 million and%#illion,
respectively. See Note 6—Impairment of Long-livessats of the Notes to the Consolidated Financ&k8tents.

3) Fiscal 2010 gross profit (loss) includes an oupefiod adjustment related to cost of revenuesridsatited in $2.9 million
of additional expense offset by an income tax biepéf0.5 million. See Note 1—Formation and Busisef the
Company of the Notes to the Consolidated Finar&tialements.

4) Fiscal 2010 net loss includes a $3.5 million gasutting from the release of the liability previyusecorded as a secured
borrowing due to the dismissal of our complaintiagiga customer.

(5) We recorded a valuation allowance of $57.7 milliofiscal 2009 against the U.S. excess tax benéfittuding prior
years, based on our assessment of realizabilibyiot).S. deferred tax assets. This charge resiitad income tax
provision, rather than an income tax benefit, fecdl 2009.

(6) Fiscal 2009 and 2008 selling, general and admatise expenses include a provision for doubtfuloaits receivable of

$5.0 million and $4.1 million, respectively. Fis@l10 includes a $1.1 million benefit from collects on amounts
previously reserved as bad del
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Item 7: Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations should kad in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and the relategs included elsewhere in this Annual Report om+0-K. In addition to historical
consolidated financial information, the followingsdussion and analysis contains forward-lookingestaents that involve risks, uncertainties
and assumptions as described under the "Note RegaFebrward-Looking Statements" that appears eaiiliethis Annual Report on Form 10-
K. Our actual results could differ materially frotmose anticipated by these forwrlooking statements as a result of many factorduiting
those discussed under "ltem 1A: Risk Factors" dsevehere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

We design, develop, manufacture, sell anqubsrt precision, high performance advanced serdiector wafer probe card products and
solutions. Semiconductor manufacturers use ourmmfibe cards to perform wafer sort and test orsémiconductor die, or chips, on the
whole semiconductor wafer, which is prior to sirggidn of the wafer into individual separate chiy& work closely with our customers on
product design, as each wafer probe card is amugtoduct that is specific to the chip and wafesigies of the customer. During wafer sort
test, a wafer probe card is mounted in a probercandected to a semiconductor tester. The wafdyepeard is used as an interface to connect
electrically with and test individual chips on afera Our wafer probe cards are used by our custeinghe front end of the semiconductor
manufacturing process, as are our image sensa@mngdric, or in-line, probe cards. We operate imgls industry segment and have derived
substantially all of our revenues from the salevafer probe cards incorporating our proprietanhtedogy, including our MicroSpring®
interconnect technology.

During fiscal 2010, we saw revenue growtardiscal 2009 across all of our product markétsr revenues increased by 39.3%, or
$53.2 million, in fiscal 2010 as compared to fis2809. This growth is attributed to a recoveryha semiconductor manufacturing equipment
industry, as well as faster than expected quatificeof our new SmartMatrix and TouchMatrix prodiioes for the DRAM and Flash markets
which has resulted in the fastest volume ramprdva product architecture in our history. Howevhis revenue growth continues to be offset
by extended qualification periods for the Matrixoguct family at certain of our major customerswad as lost business opportunities due to
pricing pressures and quoted lead times.

During fiscal 2010, we undertook a restudicty of our operations to simplify our overalligtture and better align our operations with the
current business environment, streamline our matwfiag structure and reduce both manufacturing aod cycle times. As part of this
simplification, we reduced our workforce througlesk restructuring actions by approximately 150 egre#s, or 19%, during fiscal 2010, shut-
down our Korea back-end manufacturing operatiomsiduhe second quarter of fiscal 2010, and ceasedransition of our manufacturing
operations to Singapore in the third quarter afdi010. We continue to perform our manufactudpgrations in both Livermore and Japan.

We incurred net losses of $188.3 milliod &155.7 million in fiscal 2010 and fiscal 2009%pectively. The net loss for fiscal 2010 is
primarily due to lower gross margins on products,s$15.9 million of pre-tax restructuring chargaed the impairment of certain long-lived
assets of $56.4 million, offset by a $3.5 millicargresulting from the release of a liability prewsly recorded as a secured borrowing due to
the dismissal of our complaint against a custorfiee. net loss for fiscal 2009 was primarily duedwér revenues, the recognition of a
valuation allowance of $57.7 million for our defedrtax assets, restructuring charges of $8.8 mjl2.5 million in a stock-based
compensation charge related to an option modificaiti connection with the retirement of our
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founder and former executive chairman of our badrdirectors in May 2009, as well as $5.0 milliengrovision for bad debts due to the
heightened risk of non-payment of certain accousteivable.

Our cash, cash equivalents and marketaiolerigies totaled approximately $347.2 million &December 25, 2010 as compared to
$449.2 million at December 26, 2009. The decreasair cash, cash equivalents and marketable siesupélances was primarily due to the
of cash for operating activities in fiscal 2010. Wadieve that we will be able to satisfy our woikicepital requirements for the next twelve
months with the liquidity provided by our existingsh, cash equivalents and marketable securitie® &re unsuccessful in improving our
operating efficiency, reducing our cash outlayforeasing our available cash through financing,aash, cash equivalents and marketable
securities will further decline in fiscal 2011.

We believe the following information is ilmant to understanding our business, our finarstatements and the remainder of this
discussion and analysis of our financial conditimal results of operations:

Fiscal Year. Fiscal years ended December 25, 2010, DeceR&@009 and December 27, 2008 had 52 weeks eacHisCal year enc
on the last Saturday in December.

Revenues. We derive substantially all of our revenuesfrproduct sales of wafer probe cards. Revenues friameustomers are subject
to fluctuations due to factors including, but riotited to, design cycles, technology adoption ratempetitive pressure to reduce prices,
cyclicality of the different end markets into whiolir customers' products are sold and market dondiin the semiconductor industry.
Historically, increases in revenues have resultedhfincreased demand for our existing productsirtreduction of new, more complex
products and the penetration of new markets. Wea@xpat revenues from the sale of wafer probescailil continue to account for
substantially all of our revenues for the foresés&iture.

Cost of Revenues.Cost of revenues consists primarily of manufang materials, payroll, shipping and handlingtsend,
manufacturingrelated overhead. Our manufacturing operationsupbn a limited number of suppliers to provide keynponents and materi
for our products, some of which are a sole souie order materials and supplies based on backlddaarcasted customer orders. Tooling
and setup costs related to changing manufactuoitsgek our suppliers are also included in the obstvenues. We expense all warranty costs
and inventory provisions as cost of revenues.

We design, manufacture and sell custommaké wafer probe cards into the semiconductomiesket, which is subject to significant
variability and demand fluctuations. Our wafer pralards are complex products that are custom pecif&c chip design of a customer and
must be delivered on relatively short lead-times@sapared to our overall manufacturing processodtsadvanced wafer probe cards are
manufactured in low volumes and must be deliveredetatively short leadimes, it is not uncommon for us to acquire productnaterials an
start certain production activities based on eggch@roduction yields and forecasted demand poiartin excess of actual demand for our
wafer probe cards. We record an adjustment torougmitory valuation for estimated obsolete and saleable inventories based on assump
about future demand, changes to manufacturing psese and overall market conditions.

Research and DevelopmentResearch and development expenses include sapeslated to product development, engineering and
material costs. Almost all research and developroestis are expensed as incurred. We plan to cantminvest in research and development
activities to improve and enhance existing prodechnologies and to develop new technologies fareot and new products and for new
applications.

Selling, General and Administrative.Selling, general and administrative expenselsidie expenses related to sales, marketing, and
administrative personnel, provision for doubtfutaints, internal and
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outside sales representatives' commissions, magkearch and consulting, and other sales, marketindyadministrative activities. These
expenses also include costs for protecting andreinfp our patent rights and regulatory compliancsts.

Restructuring Charges. Restructuring charges include costs relategirtployee termination benefits, cost of ldhgd assets abandon
or impaired, as well as contract termination costs.

Impairment of Long-Lived AssetsAsset impairment charges include charges astsativith the write down of assets that have noréut
expected benefit or assets for which circumstainzisate that the carrying amount of these assagsmot be recoverable, as well as
adjustments to the carrying amount of our assdtsfbesale.

Use of Estimates. The preparation of consolidated financial steets in conformity with generally accepted accmgnprinciples in the
United States of America ("GAAP") requires managetite make estimates and assumptions that affeaeforted amounts of assets and
liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assetd kabilities at the date of the financial statetseand the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual reseduld differ from those estimates. Estimates ofenge as new information is obtained.
Significant items that are subject to such estimatelude the fair value of revenue elements,aiue of marketable securities, allowance for
doubtful accounts, reserves for product warrargjyation of obsolete and slow moving inventory uaion of our long-lived assets, the
assessment of recoverability of long-lived ass&thjation and recognition of stock-based compeasafirovision for income taxes and
valuation allowance for deferred tax assets andiabiities and accruals for other liabilities.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our finanmiedition and results of operations are basedhuqo consolidated financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. Thegpation of these financial statements requir@usdke estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liadslisit the date of the financial statements andejerted amounts of net revenue and expenses
in the reporting period. Our accounting policies amdamental to understanding our financial caoiand results of operations reported in
our financial statements and related disclosuresh@ve identified the following accounting policesbeing critical because they require our
management to make particularly difficult, subjeetand/or complex judgments about the effect otensithat are inherently uncertain. We
evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an angesis and we base these estimates and assunmticosrent facts, historical experien
and various other factors and assumptions thatelreved to be reasonable under the circumstaAatsal results may differ materially and
adversely from our estimates. Our management lsasisied the development, selection, applicatiordautbsure of these critical accounting
policies with the Audit Committee of our Board oir&ctors.

Revenue Recognition: We recognize revenue when persuasive eviddrgsales arrangement exists, delivery has occunrsdrvices
have been rendered, the sales price or fee is &ikeeéterminable and collectability is reasonalsigused. In instances where final acceptance of
our product is specified by our customer, revesudeiferred until all acceptance criteria have beeh

We offer product maintenance and repaaragements to our customers. Amounts due from atomers under these arrangements are
initially recorded as deferred revenues. The feesecognized as revenue on a straight-line bagisthe service period and related costs are
recorded as incurred.

In multiple element arrangements, we deigenwhether there is more than one unit of accagniVhen a sale involves multiple eleme
such as products sold along with services, theeefage from the arrangement is allocated to eagpeaive element based on its relative fair
value
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and recognized when revenue recognition critenigézh element are met. The amount of revenue nezexdjin a given period is affected by
our judgment as to whether an arrangement inclodégple elements and, if so, whether evidenceaofv¥alue exists. Changes to the elements
in an arrangement and our ability to establishvalue for those elements could affect the timifithe revenue recognition.

Revenues from the licensing of our desigth @manufacturing technology, which have not beetera to date, are recognized over the
term of the license agreement or when the sigmificantractual obligations have been fulfilled.

Marketable Securities: Our marketable securities consist primarilyigfly liquid investments with maturities of greatkean 90 days
when purchased. We generally classify our marketabturities at the date of acquisition as avalédn-sale. These securities are reported at
fair value with the related unrealized gains arg$és included in accumulated other comprehensogerie (loss), a component of stockholder's
equity, net of tax. Any unrealized losses which@esidered to be other-than-temporary impairmardésecorded in "Other income (expense),
net" in the Consolidated Statements of OperatiBeslized gains (losses) on the sale of marketa&glerities are determined using the specific-
identification method and recorded in "Other incof@epense), net” in the Consolidated Statemen@pefrations. We measure our cash
equivalents and marketable securities at fair vaieenever possible, the fair values of our finahassets and liabilities are determined using
guoted market prices of identical assets or quotatket prices of similar assets from active marketsel 1 valuations are obtained from real-
time quotes for transactions in active exchangeetaiinvolving identical assets. Level 2 valuatians obtained from quoted market prices in
active markets involving similar assets. Level Biations are based on unobservable inputs to thatian methodology and include our own
data about assumptions market participants wowddrupricing the asset or liability based on thetleformation available under the
circumstances. Each level of input has differemtlle of subjectivity and difficulty involved in datmining fair value.

All of our available-for-sale investmentg aubject to a periodic impairment review. We rdacharge to earnings when a decline in fair
value is significantly below cost basis and judgete other-than-temporary, or have other indisatdrimpairments. If the fair value of an
available-for-sale investment is less than its dired cost basis, an other-thamporary impairment is triggered in circumstanebsre (1) w
intend to sell the instrument, (2) it is more liké&han not that we will be required to sell thetinment before recovery of its amortized cost
basis, or (3) a credit loss exists where we daerpect to recover the entire amortized cost bddisecinstrument. If we intend to sell or it is
more likely than not that we will be required tdl see available-forsale investment before recovery of its amortizest basis, we recognize
other-than-temporary impairment in earnings equdahé entire difference between the investmentsrianed cost basis and its fair value.

Restructuring Charges: Restructuring charges include costs relateahtployee termination benefits, costs of long-liasdets
abandoned or impaired, as well as contract termoinabsts. The determination of when we accruesfoployee termination benefits and wh
standard applies depends on whether the terminbé&nafits are provided under a one-time benefétrayement or under an on-going benefit
arrangement. For restructuring charges recordeah a-going benefit arrangement, a liability fospemployment benefits is recorded when
payment is probable, the amount is reasonably abtenand the obligation relates to rights thateheested or accumulated. For restructuring
charges recorded as a one-time benefit arrangementcognize a liability for employee terminatimenefits when a plan of termination,
approved by management and establishing the tefrthe denefit arrangement, has been communicatethfdoyees. The timing of the
recognition of one-time employee termination beisefi dependent upon the period of time the emp®yse required to render service after
communication. If employees are not required taleerservice in order to receive the terminationgfiégmor if employees will not be retained
to render service beyond the minimum legal notiftcaperiod, a liability for the termination bertsfis
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recognized at the communication date. In instamtese employees will be retained to render sev@mnd the minimum legal notification
period, the liability for employee termination béiteis measured initially at the communicationedbased on the fair value of the liability a:
the termination date and is recognized ratably tdvefuture service period. We continually evaluhgadequacy of the remaining liabilities
under our restructuring initiatives.

We record charges related to long-liveetss® be abandoned when the assets cease tochaNlsen we cease using a building or other
asset with remaining non-cancellable lease paynoemtnuing past our use period, we record a ligtlibr remaining payments under lease
arrangements, as well as for contract terminatasts; that will continue to be incurred under atret for its remaining term without
economic benefit to us at the cease-use date. @eesignificance of, and the timing of the exemuitdf such activities, this process is complex
and involves periodic reassessments of estimatde rathe time the original decisions were madsuding evaluating real estate market
conditions for expected vacancy periods and suseleants. Although we believe that these estimeatesrately reflect the costs of our
restructuring plans, actual results may differyelg requiring us to record additional provisiongeverse a portion of such provisions.

Warranty Accrual: We provide for the estimated cost of productramties at the time revenue is recognized. Whaeanwgage in
extensive product quality programs and processgsyarranty obligation is affected by product fauates, material usage and service
delivery costs incurred in correcting a produchufid. We continuously monitor product returns farmanty and maintain a reserve for the
related expenses based upon our historical experi@nd any specifically identified field failuréss we sell new products to our customers
must exercise considerable judgment in estimatiegeikpected failure rates. This estimating protebased on historical experience of similar
products, as well as various other assumptionsatbdielieve to be reasonable under the circumssance

Inventory Valuation: We state our inventories at the lower of cpsin€ipally standard cost which approximates actoat on a first in,
first out basis) or market. We review the adequafayur inventory reserves on a quarterly basisraoedrd adjustments to our inventory
valuation for estimated obsolescence or saleable inventories equal to the difference beatvike cost of inventories and the estimated m:
value based upon assumptions about future demahtharket conditions.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts: A majority of our trade receivables are derifiexin sales to large multinational semiconductor
manufacturers throughout the world. In order to itworpotential credit losses, we perform ongoingdit evaluations of our customers'
financial condition. An allowance for doubtful acods is maintained for probable credit losses bapet our assessment of the expected
collectability of all accounts receivable. The alince for doubtful accounts is reviewed on a quigrtasis to assess the adequacy of the
allowance. We take into consideration (1) any airstances of which we are aware of a customer'dlilyaio meet its financial obligations,
and (2) our judgments as to prevailing economia@ns in the industry and their impact on ourtousers.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets: We test long-lived assets or asset groupsefmoverability when events or changes in circums&anc
indicate that their carrying amounts may not b@vecable. Circumstances which could trigger a mieclude, but are not limited to:
significant decreases in the market price of tleesignificant adverse changes in the businégsstd or legal factors; accumulation of costs
significantly in excess of the amount originallypexted for the acquisition or construction of tesed; current period cash flow or operating
losses combined with a history of losses or a fiseof continuing losses associated with the uskeoésset; and current expectation that the
asset will more likely than not be sold or disposédignificantly before the end of its estimatesful life.
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Recoverability is assessed based on thgiegramounts of the asset and its fair value wigofpenerally determined based on the sum of
the undiscounted cash flows expected to result ff@use and the eventual disposal of the assefelhas specific appraisals in certain
instances. An impairment loss is recognized whercrrying amount is not recoverable and exceedsdhe.

Significant judgments and assumptions ageired in the forecast of future operating resustsd in the preparation of the estimated future
cash flows, including profit margins, long-termdoasts of the amounts and timing of overall magketvth and our percentage of that market,
groupings of assets, discount rates and termimaVtiprrates. In addition, significant estimates asdumptions are required in the determine
of the fair value of our tangible long-lived assételuding replacement cost, economic obsolesceare the value that could be realized in
orderly liquidation. Changes in these estimatedccbave a material adverse effect on the assesahent long-lived assets, thereby requiring
us to write down the assets.

Accounting for Income Taxes: We utilize the asset and liability method of@enting for income taxes, under which deferreeseare
determined based on the temporary differences leetwee financial statement and tax basis of assetdiabilities using tax rates expected to
be in effect during the years in which the basifedénces reverse and for operating losses andréalit carryforwards. We estimate our
provision for income taxes and amounts ultimatelygble or recoverable in numerous tax jurisdictiarmind the world. Estimates involve
interpretations of regulations and are inhereniyplex. Resolution of income tax treatments invidlial jurisdictions may not be known for
many years after completion of any fiscal year. &erequired to evaluate the realizability of oefedred tax assets on an ongoing basis to
determine whether there is a need for a valuatiowance with respect to such deferred tax asgetaluation allowance is recorded when i
more likely than not that some of the deferredassets will not be realized. Significant managemetgment is required in determining any
valuation allowance recorded against deferred $aeta. In evaluating the ability to recover defétex assets, we consider available positive
and negative evidence giving greater weight toreaent cumulative losses and our ability to carciddasses against prior taxable income and,
commensurate with objective verifiability, the foast of future taxable income including the revieo$géemporary differences and the
implementation of feasible and prudent tax planrstrgtegies.

We recognize and measure uncertain taxipositaken or expected to be taken in a tax refutis more likely than not that the tax
position will be sustained on examination by thertg authorities, based on the technical meritefposition. The tax benefits recognized in
the consolidated financial statements from suclitipas are then measured based on the largestibdrafhas a greater than 50 percent
likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settleth&Ve report a liability for unrecognized tax bétseresulting from uncertain tax positions
taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. Wesathese reserves in light of changing facts@raimstances, such as the closing of a tax
audit or the refinement of an estimate. To therexteat the final tax outcome of these matterdffergnt than the amounts recorded, such
differences will impact the provision for incomeés in the period in which such determination iglead'he provision for income taxes
includes the impact of reserve provisions and charg reserves that are considered appropriateglaas the related net interest. We
recognize interest and penalties related to unrgzed tax benefits within the income tax provisiéiccrued interest and penalties are included
within the related tax liability line in the congdted balance sheet.

We file annual income tax returns in mudifaxing jurisdictions around the world. A numloéryears may elapse before an uncertain tax
position is audited and finally resolved. Whilésibften difficult to predict the final outcome tire timing of resolution of any particular
uncertain tax position, we believe that our resefee income taxes reflect the most likely outcomke adjust these reserves, as well as the
related interest, in light of changing facts andwinstances. Settlement of any particular posttimund require the use of cash.
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Stock-Based Compensation: Under provisions of accounting standards, stuaed compensation cost is estimated at the dedat
based on the fair-value of the award and is reaaghas expense ratably over the requisite serededgof the award. Determining the
appropriate fair-value model and calculating thievalue of stock-based awards at the grant dapeimes considerable judgment, including
estimating stock price volatility, expected optlda and forfeiture rates. We develop our estimdta@sed on historical data and market
information which can change significantly overéin small change in the estimates used can riesaltelatively large change in the
estimated valuation. We use the Black-Scholes opt&duation model to value employee stock awards.

The most significant assumptions impactednanagement's judgment are the expected volatititythe expected life of the options. The
expected dividend yield and expected risk-freerggerate are not as significant to the calculatibfair value. In addition, adjustments to our
estimates of the number of share-based paymentawat we expect to vest did have a significamtaiod on the recorded share-based
compensation expense.

Expected volatility: The value of a stock option is derived frompitdential for appreciation. The more volatile theck, the more
valuable the option becomes because of the grpassibility of significant changes in stock pri€ur computation of expected volatility is
based on a blend of historical volatility of ounomon stock and implied volatility of traded opticdnspurchase shares of our common stock.
Our decision to incorporate implied volatility wiaased on our assessment that implied volatilitguiflicly traded options in our common st
is expected to be more reflective of market condgiand, therefore, can reasonably be expecteel addletter indicator of expected volatility
than historical volatility of our common stock aton

Expected life and forfeiture rate: The expected life also has a significant eftecthe value of the option. The longer the tetm,more
time the option holder has to allow the stock pténcrease without a cash investment and thesntbre valuable the option. Further, longer
option terms provide more opportunity to exploitrke highs. However, employees are not requireslaid until the end of the contractual te
of a nontransferable option to exercise. Accordingle are required to estimate the expected tertheobption. We determine the expected life
by considering several factors, including histdriation exercise behavior, post vesting turnoates and terms and vesting periods of the
options granted. Similarly, we base our estimatidéiture on historical option cancellation betmmincluding pre-vesting turnover rates.

Out of Period Adjustment

In the third quarter of fiscal 2010, weorted a $4.1 million adjustment to cost of revemugtsof $0.5 million income tax benefit, which
resulted from an error in the calculation of cdpitad manufacturing variances starting in the fipgarter of fiscal 2009 through the second
quarter of fiscal 2010. The error caused the undennient of cost of revenues and the overstateai¢he overhead capitalized in inventory
most quarters. The income tax benefit resulted finégher net losses in 2009 due to higher costwdmae expenses. We are able to carry back
the increase in the 2009 loss to recover more paar tax payments. Out of the total adjustme®g.8 million adjustment to cost of revenues
net of $0.5 million income tax benefit was relatediscal 2009. Management and the Audit Commiltekeve that such amounts are not
material to current and previously reported finahstatements.

In fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2008, we did rextord any out of period adjustments.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our opergtnesults as a percentage of revenues:

Revenue!
Cost of revenue

Gross margit
Operating expense
Research and developme
Selling, general an
administrative
Restructuring
Impairment of long lived asse

Total operating expens:
Operating los!
Interest income, ne
Other income (expense), r

Loss before income tax
Provision for (benefit from)
income taxe:

Net loss

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2010 2009 2008
100.% 100.% 100.(%

101.2 99.4 82.7
(1.2 0.6 17.2
29.4 42.F 31.2
35.7 58.C 45.2
8.4 6.5 4.3
29.¢ 0.9 2.1
103.¢ 107.¢ 82.C
(104.6)  (107.9  (65.)
14 24 5.¢
2.3 (0.4) 0.2
(100.9 (1059  (59.9
(1.0 9.8  (21.0

(99.9% (115.)% (38.9%

Fiscal Years Ended December 25, 2010 and Decembe2209

Revenues

The increase in revenue for the year efszbmber 25, 2010 was primarily due to increasecaael for our advanced wafer probe cards
caused by an overall improvement in the semicomduntrket, in particular the memory segment, as$ agincreased average selling price of

our products.

Our revenues for the year ended Decemhe2@B) were primarily generated by sales of wafebe cards to manufacturers of DRAM
devices. Revenues in fiscal 2010 increased sigmiflg from fiscal 2009 primarily due to the indystamp of DDR3, the introduction of our
SmartMatrix products and the increased sales dfdnigriced products as a percentage of total DRAMSss as well as the overall improvement

Fiscal % of
2010 Revenue:

Fiscal % of __ Change
2009 Revenue: $ %

(In thousands)

Revenue

by
Market

DRAM  $131,20° 69.€%$108,82(

80.4%%$22,387 20.%

Flash 30,06¢ 15.¢ 7,282 54 22,78¢ 312.¢
SoC 27,29( 14.F 19,23: 14.2 8,057 41.¢
Total

revenu $188,56! 100.(%%$135,33!

100.(%%$53,23( 39.2%

in the semiconductor market in the current year.

Revenues from sales to flash memory daviaeufacturers increased significantly in the yeatesl December 25, 2010 compared to the
prior year. The increase was partly driven by arl $8illion increase in the sale of NAND Flash wabeobe cards, resulting from further
expansion of our NAND market penetration via theerg qualification of TouchMatrix at one of ourdast customers. NOR Flash also saw a

substantial year over year increase of $14.7 milliaven by
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customer demand across our probe cards that sehigcmarket. The increases were also partiallyréiselt of the overall improvement in the
memory segment of the semiconductor market.

Revenues from sales to SoC device manufastincreased in the year ended December 25, @yhared to the prior year, primarily ¢

to the overall upturn in the semiconductor industng market trends to more complex devices whiditigely impacted revenues from sale:
our wafer probe cards.

Revenue by Geographic Region

The following table sets forth our revenbgggeographic region for the periods indicated:

Fiscal % of Fiscal % of
2010 Revenues 2009 Revenues
(In thousands)
Taiwan $ 72,61¢ 38.5%% 26,96¢ 19.€%
North America 38,33¢ 20.2 24,53: 18.1
Japar 28,47¢ 15.1 64,57¢ 47.7
South Kore: 25,98¢ 13.€ 5,45¢ 4.1
Asia Pacific(1) 15,10¢ 8.0 5,60: 4.1
Europe 8,04 4.3 8,201 6.1
Total revenue. $ 188,56! 100.(%$ 135,33! 100.(%

(1)  Asia Pacific includes all countries in the regioept Taiwan, South Korea and Japan, which ardodisd
separately

Geographic revenue information is basetherlocation to which we ship the customer prodiot.example, if a certain South Korean
customer purchases through their North Americasigiigry and requests the products to be shippead tddress in Asia-Pacific, this sale will
be reflected in the revenue for Asia-Pacific ratthan North America.

The significant increase in Taiwan, Soutiréd, Asia Pacific and North America revenueslierytear ended December 25, 2010
compared to the prior year was primarily due toitftistry ramp up of DDR3 and the introduction af 8martMatrix and TouchMatrix
products. The decrease in Japan revenue for threepead December 25, 2010 compared to the priarwas primarily due to the decrease in
our DRAM product sales, caused by the lack of djgalion of the SmartMatrix product line due toextled qualification periods. Europe
revenue remained flat in fiscal 2010 due to thesistant demand for all of our products in this oegi

Gross Profit (Loss)

Fiscal Fiscal
2010 2009
(In thousands)
Gross profit (loss $ (2,277 $ 81¢
Gross margit 1.22% 0.€%

Gross margin fluctuates with revenue levaleduct mix, selling prices, factory loading, andterial costs. For the year ended
December 25, 2010, gross margin declined compard#uktprior year primarily due to a $4.4 milliorcirase in inventorgrovision charges, &
out of period adjustment to cost of revenues 09 $2illion that was recorded in the third quartefis€al 2010, an increase of temporary
personnel costs of $2.9 million to support increlesi@pment volumes at various times during the ,yeed the expense for incentive bonuses of
$2.1 million. This decline was partially mitigatbgl the favorable changes in product mix from lowsrgin to higher margin products, the
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increased selling prices of our products and tteeedesed depreciation expense resulting from thernige-wide asset impairment and the
multiple restructuring actions during fiscal 2010.

Inventory provision charges increased f@fr0 million in fiscal 2009, to $11.4 million insital 2010. The total inventory provision cha
of $11.4 million in fiscal 2010 was the result ofMer customer demand for certain products, low petidn yields and minimum purchase ol
guantities. Excess custom inventories are not unoomfor us as our advanced wafer probe cards ateroudesigns manufactured in low
volumes and must be delivered on relatively sheatllitimes, which requires us to acquire productiaterials and start certain production
activities based on estimated production yieldsfanecasted demand prior to or in excess of actealand for our wafer probe cards. In fiscal
2010, the value of previously reserved materiads trere used in manufacturing and shipped wasailidn.

In the near future, our gross margins likélly continue to be adversely affected by lowerdls of product revenues, even though we have
taken significant steps to reduce our operating stogcture. Additionally, our gross margins maytioue to be adversely affected if we are
required to record additional inventory provisidrarges and inventory write-downs if estimated ayerselling prices of products held in
finished goods and work in process inventorieshatew the manufacturing cost of those products.

Research and Developme

Fiscal Fiscal
2010 2009
(In thousands)
Research and developm: $ 55,38¢ $ 57,50¢
% of revenue: 29.4% 42.5%

Research and development expenses foredreended December 25, 2010 decreased $2.1 miicd37%, compared to the prior year
primarily due to the decrease in certain new tetdgoproduct development related costs and theedserin other costs as a result of our cost
reduction efforts offset by the increase in pergbuosts. As a percent of revenues, research areagenent expenses decreased in fiscal 201C
as compared to fiscal 2009 primarily due to theeased revenue base.

In the year ended December 25, 2010, ecektted to new technology projects decreased byoappately $8.8 million from fiscal 2009
a result of our decision to terminate certain nvatsgic research and development activities irstte®nd and third quarter of fiscal 2010.
Additionally, depreciation expense decreased b$ #iillion year over year due to the lower carryargount of our fixed assets resulting from
impairments recorded in the second and third quaakfiscal 2010. Offsetting these decreases wk& Z&imillion increase in personnel costs
primarily due to headcount increases as well asafemployee incentive programs for which we rid record any charges in fiscal 2009.
Stock-based compensation included within reseandhrdavelopment expenses was $5.6 million for tlee gaded December 25, 2010
compared to $4.4 million for fiscal 2009, with tinerease being primarily due to the increase inleyge stock awards.

We are continuing our strategic investmémt®search and development, including investmieriise development of our next generation
parallelism architecture and products, fine pittivanced MicroSpring interconnect technology and pecess technologies. We remain
committed to product development in new and emertgehnologies.
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Selling, General and Administrativ

Fiscal Fiscal
2010 2009
(In thousands)
Selling, general and administrati $ 67,20¢ $ 78,42¢
% of revenue: 35.7% 58.(%

Selling, general and administrative expsrgecreased $11.2 million, or 14.3%, for the yeaied December 25, 2010 compared to the
prior year primarily due to a decrease in personelated costs and other discretionary spendinga parcent of revenues, selling, general and
administrative expenses decreased in fiscal 20t@mpared to the prior year, primarily due to theréased revenue base along with the
reduction in expenses resulting from our on-goiost ceduction efforts.

The $11.2 million decrease in fiscal 20bfnhpared with the prior year was composed of a 86llion decrease in bad debt expense dt
a reduction in additional bad debt as compared@®2as well as benefits from collections on amsunéviously reserved as bad debts, a
$4.4 million decrease in stock-based compensatipereses related to fewer awards being granted¢alf2010, a $3.2 million decrease in
salary and wages due to the headcount decreaseah 2010, and a $2.1 million decrease in legdl @ntside service fees due to a reduction in
litigation activity as well as our cost reductidifoets, offset by a $2.8 million increase for intiee bonuses and a $1.2 million increase in
severance costs related to the departure of cexxaicutives in fiscal 2010.

Restructuring Charge:

Fiscal Fiscal
2010 2009
(In thousands)
Restructuring charge $ 15,90¢ $ 8,78(
% of revenue: 8.4% 6.5%

Restructuring charges increased $7.1 millay 81.2%, from fiscal 2009 to fiscal 2010. Therease was primarily due to the number of
actions that were taken in 2010 along with an $&ilBon impairment of property and equipment inchatdin the restructuring charges of fiscal
2010 compared with the $0.4 million impairment ud#d in the restructuring charges of fiscal 200% festructuring plans we implemente:
fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2010 are discussed below.

In fiscal 2009, we implemented two restmuictg plans that included primarily reductions ur global workforce in an effort to lower our
guarterly operating expense run rate, which extérhle cost reduction plans implemented during fi26&8.

Q1 2010 Restructuring Plan

In the first quarter of fiscal 2010, we il@mented a restructuring plan (the "Q1 2010 Resiring Plan”) intended to align resources in
continuation of our global regionalization stratégylace more decision-making in regions closeuosemiconductor customers. As part of
this regionalization strategy, we initiated the nimgvof certain assembly and test operations frombagk-end manufacturing processes in
Livermore, California to Asia, and planned to brimg and qualify our back-end manufacturing operetim Singapore. As a result of this
restructuring plan, our worldwide headcount waseekgd to be reduced by 106 full-time employees. adiwities comprising this reduction in
force were expected to be completed by the endeofitst quarter of fiscal 2011.

We recorded $3.4 million in charges for @i 2010 Restructuring Plan in fiscal 2010, whickswall related to severance and related
benefits.
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Q2 2010 Restructuring Plan

In the second quarter of fiscal 2010, wecamced a series of corporate initiatives, inclgdirreduction in workforce, which represented a
renewed focus on streamlining and simplifying opemtions as well as reducing our quarterly opegatbsts (the "Q2 2010 Restructuring
Plan"). These actions included reducing the scdpleeopreviously contemplated manufacturing operegiin Korea, resulting in a reduction of
workforce of 16 employees related to the assemtudiytast function, and undertaking a plan to resthidpreviously issued severance
arrangements for certain employees impacted b@th2010 Restructuring Plan. As a result of thigissson plan, as of June 26, 2010, we had
reversed the existing accrual for the severances tmoked in conjunction with the Q1 2010 RestraotuPlan, of $3.3 million, including the
accrued retention bonus to date. As of Septemhe2@H), we completed this rescission plan.

Additionally, the reduction in workforce jpacted 67 employees spread across all functiotieeafrganization to further streamline and
simplify our operations and reduce operating coite. activities comprising this reduction in forgere substantially completed by the end of
fiscal 2010. As a result of the Q2 2010 Restrunmi?lan, we have realized and expect to realizetgplyasavings in fiscal 2010 and the future
years of approximately $3.0 million, excluding $¢-based compensation expenses, starting from tlwdejarter for fiscal 2010.

We recorded $4.8 million in charges foresawce and related benefits, and $1.0 million fopprty and equipment impairments for the
Q2 2010 Restructuring Plan in fiscal 2010, respetti The impairment charges were related to theainment of certain equipment and
software assets related to our assembly and tesatipns in Korea that would no longer be utilized.

Q3 2010 Restructuring Plan

In the third quarter of fiscal 2010, we annced a restructuring plan (the "Q3 2010 RestringuPlan”) to cease the transition of
manufacturing operations to Singapore. This degisésulted in a reduction in force of 60 employgesarily at our Singapore facility. The
manufacturing activities that were scheduled terémsitioned to Singapore will remain in Livermoasd Livermore will continue as the
primary manufacturing operating location for then@any. The Company expects that the activities cimimg this reduction in force will be
substantially completed by the end of the firstrtpreof fiscal 2011. In addition, we ceased thézatiion of a portion of the facility in
Singapore that was expected to be utilized fomoanufacturing operations in the fourth quarterigddl 2010 as an additional restructuring
action in connection with our Q3 2010 Restructufitign. As a result of the Q3 2010 RestructuringnPlge have realized quarterly savings,
excluding stock-based compensation expenses, obeipmtely $0.4 million in the fourth quarter o$dial 2010 and we expect to realize
quarterly savings of $0.6 million in the quarteosrenencing in fiscal 2011.

In fiscal 2010, we recorded $1.2 milliom tbe Q3 2010 Restructuring Plan for severanceralated benefits, $7.8 million impairment
charges for certain equipment and leasehold impnevis in Singapore that would no longer be utiliaad $0.4 million in charges for the
remaining lease obligations that will continue tibcurred under operating lease contracts of thgapore facilities. In addition, due to the
combined effect of the significant change in ousibass strategy in connection with the Q3 2010rRes&tring Plan, recurring operating losses
and the sustained decline in the Company's stdck,pre reviewed the recoverability of our lolied assets in the third quarter of fiscal 2(
as discussed in Note 6—Impairment of Long-livedets®of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statesnen

Q4 2010 Restructuring Plan

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, weplemented a restructuring plan (the "Q4 2010 Regiring Plan®) including reducing our global
workforce by 10 employees across the organization.
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We recorded $0.6 million in charges for severamzkralated benefits in fiscal 2010. We expect thatactivities comprising this reduction in
force will be substantially completed by the endhsf first quarter of fiscal 2011. As a resulttod 1Q4 2010 Restructuring Plan, we expect to
realize quarterly savings of approximately $0.4lionl, excluding stock-based compensation experssaging from the first quarter of fiscal
2011.

The liabilities we have accrued for themgsturing plans discussed above represent ourdstistate of the obligations we expect to incur
and could be subject to adjustment as market dondithange. The cash payments associated withapiaus reductions in force are expected
to be substantially paid by the end of the firsarger of fiscal 2011.

Impairment of Lonc-lived Assets

Fiscal Fiscal
2010 2009
(In thousands)
Impairment of lon-lived asset: $ 56,401 $ 1,28¢
% of revenue: 29.% 0.€%

Impairment charges increased $55.1 milliom fiscal 2009 to fiscal 2010 primarily due teetbnterprise-wide asset impairment recorded
in the third quarter of fiscal 2010.

In the third quarter of fiscal 2010, weieved the recoverability of our long-lived assatg do a significant change in our business
strategy in connection with the Q3 2010 RestruntuRlan, recurring operating losses and net casglows from operations and the sustained
decline in the Company's stock price. As a reduihis review, we concluded that our business watsable to fully recover the carrying
amounts of our assets. Accordingly, we reviewecdcdreying amounts at September 25, 2010 of aluoflong-lived assets for impairment.
Based on this analysis, an impairment charge ofceqapately $52.0 million was recorded as of Septenftb, 2010. This charge was
comprised of $27.7 million for leasehold improverse$11.2 million impairment for manufacturing eguient, $8.5 million impairment for
computer equipment and software, $4.4 million fanstruction-in-progress and $0.2 million for pursbd intangible assets.

In addition, we recorded impairment charigesling $4.4 million in fiscal 2010 as follows:

. $2.7 million impairment related to certain constimie-in-progress projects for the development amitltof manufacturing
equipment, including additional related equipméiat tvas in-service, that was identified as excaepadity;

. $1.1 million impairment of certain purchased intdngiassets related to precision motion controlmatmn that were acquire
in conjunction with our acquisition of certain assttom Electroglas, Inc. in 2009 out of bankruppcgceedings;

. $0.5 million related to certain leasehold improvetseand furniture and fixtures that will be abanelbas a result of the
consolidation of office space in Livermore; and

. $0.1 million write down of a building held for séleits estimated fair value.

In fiscal 2009, we recorded total impairiseof $1.3 million related to certain equipmentttivas determined to be held for sale, as we
for the termination of certain on-going projectbe®e impairment charges were originally recordealyh "Cost of revenues" in the
Consolidated Statement of Operations in our ForaK T6r fiscal 2009. However this amount has beerfassified to "Impairment of lontived
assets" in the Consolidated Statement of Operaiiotiss Form 10-K for fiscal 2010 to conform wite current year presentation of asset
impairments.
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Management believes it is reasonably ptessitat additional impairment charges that woultliee further the carrying amounts of the
Company's property and equipment and intangibletaissay arise in fiscal 2011 if the Company is Uméb achieve operating results
anticipated by the Company's 2011 financial plan.

Interest Income and Other Income (Expense), M

Fiscal Fiscal
2010 2009
(In thousands)
Interest income, ne $ 2,54¢ $ 3,28
% of revenue: 1.4% 2.4%
Other income (expense), r $ 4,42¢ $ (53%)
% of revenue: 2.3% (0.9%

Interest income is primarily earned on cash, cash equivalents and marketable securitiesd&crease in interest income for fiscal 2010
as compared to fiscal 2009 was primarily the reslbwer average balances. Cash, cash equivalastsicted cash and marketable securities
were $347.9 million at December 25, 2010 compaoefi®9.9 million at December 26, 2009. The weigfsedrage yield on our cash, cash
equivalents and marketable securities for the gaded December 25, 2010 was 0.70% compared to (0fat3¥e year ended December 26,
20009.

Other income (expense), net is compris@danily of foreign currency impact and various atgains and losses. The change in other
income (expense), net for fiscal 2010 comparedstaf 2009 was primarily due to the $3.5 millionrgeecorded in the third quarter of fiscal
2010 which resulted from the release of the liabpireviously recorded as a secured borrowing dube dismissal of our complaint against a
customer.

Provision for (Benefit from) Income Taxe

Fiscal Fiscal
2010 2009
(In thousands)
Provision for (benefit from) income tax $ (1,920 $ 13,21«

Effective tax rate (1.0% 9.2%

The provision for income taxes differs fréime amount computed by applying the statutory Begleral rate principally due to a valuation
allowance recorded against U.S. and certain nondferred tax assets. The remaining tax provifofiscal 2010 was primarily comprised
of tax expense for non U.S. cost plus entitiesatffyy a tax benefit related to settlement of alddh. tax audit.

In fiscal 2009 we recorded a valuationwHoce against our U.S. deferred tax assets. Toal 2909 tax provision was offset by a benefit
related to our ability to generate tax refunds tigto Federal net operating loss carry back.

We anticipate that we will continue to reta valuation allowance against our U.S. and gertan U.S. deferred tax assets. We expec
future tax provisions, during the time such valomtallowances are recorded, will consist primaofighe tax provision of our profitable non-
U.S. jurisdictions. At December 25, 2010, we hadé¥al, state and foreign net operating loss candods of approximately $104.1 million,
$163.6 million and $16.0 million, respectively. Thederal net operating loss carryforwards expir20i80, the state net operating loss
carryforwards expire at various dates from 2028ufh 2030, and the foreign net operating loss t@mmards can be carried forward
indefinitely.
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From time to time, we engage in certairiodbmpany transactions and legal entity restrungistiWe consider many factors when
evaluating these transactions, including the aligminof our corporate structure with our organizaicobjectives, the operational and tax
efficiency of our corporate structure, as welltas ong-term cash flows and cash needs of ourrdifiteousinesses. These transactions may
impact our overall tax rate and/or result in addiitil cash tax payments. The impact in any periog Imeasignificant. These transactions may
complex in nature and the impact of such transastam future periods may be difficult to estimawethe fourth quarter of 2010, we initiated a
legal entity restructuring to align our corporateisture with our organizational objectives. Thstrecturing activities did not significantly
impact the tax provision due to valuation allowanoecorded against U.S. and Singapore deferreastsets.

Fiscal Years Ended December 26, 2009 and Decemi@e2R08

Revenues

Fiscal % of Fiscal % of Change
2009  Revenue: 2008  Revenue: $ %
(In thousands)

Revenue
by
Market
DRAM  $108,82(  80.2%$139,53:  66.4%$(30,717) (22.0%
Flash 728. 54 3843( 187 (31,149 (81.])
SoC 19,23: 14.2 32,22 15.5 (12,989 (40.9)
Total

revent $135,33¢  100.(%$210,18¢ 100.(%$(74,854) (35.6)%

The decrease in revenue for the year ebDdegmber 26, 2009 was primarily due to weak denfiandur advanced wafer probe cards
caused by the slow recovery in the semiconductokebaFor certain of our products we also expemehgricing pressure due to the availab
of competitive products, which also contributedite decrease in revenues.

Our revenues for the year ended Decemhe2(@® were primarily generated by sales of wafebe cards to manufacturers of DRAM
devices. Revenues for our products that addred3fR#eM segment declined in the year ended Decem&g2@09 as compared to fiscal 2008,
primarily due to a number of factors including tetative supply and demand of various semiconduid¢eices and end products incorporating
those devices, semiconductor manufacturers' effortsirtail spending and conserve cash by takipgcigy offline, reducing production,
delaying the transition to new technology nodes ostponing the implementation of tooling cyclese ¥Wso experienced pricing pressure on
certain DRAM test product due to the competitiveimnment.

Revenues from sales to flash memory daviaeufacturers also decreased significantly in e ynded December 26, 2009 compared to
fiscal 2008, with the decrease driven by salesideslin both NOR and NAND Flash wafer probe cafde weakness in NOR Flash can be
attributed to a decline in purchases by certaindiestomers, specifically from our largest NOR cowofiling for bankruptcy protection in the
first quarter of fiscal 2009. Additionally, reversussfom NAND Flash wafer probe cards declined as lARash memory device manufacturers
significantly reduced their output in the first quga of fiscal 2009, in an attempt to promote induabsorption of excess inventories.

Revenues from manufacturers of SoC devdegseased in the year ended December 26, 2009 cedhmefiscal 2008, primarily due to t
overall downturn in the semiconductor industry whiregatively impacted the revenues from sales ofuafer probe cards.
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Revenue by Geographic Regit

The following table sets forth our revenbgggeographic region for the periods indicated:

Fiscal % of Fiscal % of
2009 Revenues 2008 Revenues
(In thousands)
Taiwan $ 26,96« 19.%%$ 48,00¢ 22.%%
Japar 64,57¢ 47.7 77,15¢ 36.7
North America 24,53: 18.1 41,65 19.€
Asia Pacific(1) 11,06: 8.2 25,52t 12.1
Europe 8,201 6.1 17,85: 8.t
Total revenue. $ 135,33! 100.(%$ 210,18t 100.(%

Q) Asia Pacific includes all countries in the regiomept Taiwan and Japan, which are disclosed segbar

Geographic revenue information is basetherlocation to which we ship the customer prodiot.example, if a certain South Korean
customer purchases through their North Americasigigry and requests the products to be shippead tddress in Asia-Pacific, this sale will
be reflected in the revenue for Agtacific rather than North America. The decreasewenues across all geographic regions was geyelze
to the semiconductor industry downturn, characeerizy weak demand for semiconductor devices, deélpyeduction ramps and weak device
pricing environments.

The decrease in revenues across all geloigreggions for fiscal 2009 as compared to fis€1®was primarily due to the decrease in sales
in those regions in each of the product marketaddress—DRAM, Flash and SoC. Additionally, revendesreased due generally to the
semiconductor industry downturn, characterized kgkvdemand for semiconductor devices, delayed ptmiuramps and weak device pric
environments.

Gross Profit

Fiscal Fiscal
2009 2008
(In thousands)
Gross profil $ 81¢ $ 36,26!
Gross margit 0.€% 17.2%

Gross margin fluctuates with revenue levgteduct mix, selling prices, factory loading, andterial costs. For fiscal 2009, gross margin
declined compared to fiscal 2008, primarily du¢h® significant decline in revenue driving lowectfary utilization, thereby increasing unit
manufacturing costs, combined with declines in agerselling prices as well as an unfavorable changeoduct mix from higher margin to
lower margin products. This decline was partiallgigated by lower personnel costs as a result offisaal 2008 and 2009 global cost
reduction plans as well as a decline in inventorigeadowns. Inventory charge-offs decreased fro®.$illion or 7.7% of revenues in fiscal
2008 to $7.0 million, or 5.2% of revenues, in fis2809. The higher inventory write-downs in fis@8I08 were associated with deterioration in
the DRAM memory segment in that period. Inventontevdowns declined in fiscal 2009 despite the targd deterioration in the DRAM
memory segment primarily due to stronger inventagnagement in fiscal 2009. Excess custom inverstarie not uncommon for us as our
advanced wafer probe cards are custom designs a@uaréd in low volumes and must be delivered oatiradly short lead times, which
requires us to acquire production materials and séatain production activities based on estimaextiuction yields and forecasted demand
prior to or in excess of actual demand for our wafebe cards. Stock-based compensation includgtbiss margin
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was $3.6 million or 2.6% of revenues, in fiscal 2@hd $4.8 million, or 2.2% of revenues for fise@D8. The decline of stock-based
compensation was primarily a result of reductioneeéadcount as a result of our 2008 and 2009 glaistireduction plans.

Research and Developme

Fiscal Fiscal
2009 2008
(In thousands)
Research and developm $ 57,50¢ $ 65,50¢
% of revenue: 42.5% 31.2%

Research and development expenses decrieasistal 2009 compared to fiscal 2008 primadiye to a decrease in certain new
technology product development related costs, peedacosts, and depreciation, facilities and infation technology costs. As a percent of
revenues, research and development expenses iedrieaiscal 2009 as compared to fiscal 2008 prilpadue to the declining revenue base.

For the year ended December 26, 2009, pred@osts decreased $6.5 million primarily duestductions in headcount as a result of our
global reorganization plans. Expenses related woteehnology and product development remained diad, depreciation and facilities and
information technology costs decreased $0.9 millpimarily due to the implementation of corporatst reduction initiatives. Stock-based
compensation included within research and developrvas $4.4 million for fiscal 2009 compared toGhnillion for fiscal 2008. The decline
in stock-based compensation was primarily duedactons in headcount resulting from the 2008 ad@P2global cost reduction plans.

Selling, General and Administrativ

Fiscal Fiscal
2009 2008
(In thousands)
Selling, general and administrati $ 78,42¢ $ 95,20¢
% of revenue: 58.(% 45.2%

Selling, general and administrative experdexreased for fiscal 2009 compared to fiscal 2008arily due to a decrease in personnel-
related costs and other discretionary spendinga psrcent of revenue, selling, general and admétigé expenses increased in fiscal 2009 as
compared to fiscal 2008, primarily due to the denlj revenue base.

For the year ended December 26, 2009, peedaelated costs decreased by approximately $illién, primarily due to the work force
reductions as well as lower discretionary spendigside legal and other professional fees decddag&6.1 million in the year ended
December 26, 2009 as compared to fiscal 2008 pilyrtara decrease in legal fees. The decreaseyel fees for the year ended December 26,
2009 was primarily due to the scheduling of thednational Trade Commission hearing on the invatitig (337-TA-621) of two of our
competitors which arose out of our complaint filedate 2007. The majority of the fees and codited to the hearing and post hearing
activities were completed by the end of the fitsader of fiscal 2009.

Additionally, we recorded a provision fayubtful accounts of $5.0 million and $4.1 millianthe year ended December 26, 2009 and
December 27, 2008, respectively. We recorded aigimowfor doubtful accounts primarily due to theédigened risk of non-payment of
accounts receivable by certain customers faciranfiral difficulty. In addition, stock-based competisn included within selling, general and
administrative expense was $12.6 million for tharyended December 26, 2009,

56




Table of Contents

compared to $12.4 million for the year ended Decan@7, 2008. The increase in stock-based compendati the year ended December 26,
2009 was due to an option modification expense2ds #illion in connection with the retirement of.Dgor Y. Khandros, our founder and
former executive chairman of our board of direciarMay 2009, offset in part by a decrease duetluctions in headcount as a result of our
2008 and 2009 global cost reduction plans.

Restructuring Charge:

Fiscal Fiscal
2009 2008
(In thousands)
Restructuring charge $ 8,78C $ 9,15%
% of revenue: 6.5% 4.2%

In the first quarter of fiscal 2009, we ilmented a restructuring plan that included redyioiar global workforce by 22%. This
restructuring plan extended the cost reductiongpiamplemented during fiscal 2008 and impacted egygas across all functions of the
organization. The restructuring plan consisted prity of involuntary employee terminations and bigreosts and write-down of certain assets
taken out of service. We recorded $7.7 millionéfation to this restructuring plan in the first giea of fiscal 2009 and an additional
$0.3 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2008the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, we incurredtier restructuring charges of $0.8 million,
related to further reductions in our global workfein an effort to lower our quarterly operatingpense run rate. The balance of the employee-
related charges resulting from the cost reductlangpimplemented in fiscal 2009 had been paid wifisical 2010.

In both the first and second quarters sfdl 2008, we implemented global cost reductiongtaat included reducing our global
workforce. The first quarter action also includedility consolidation charges related to vacatingdings in Livermore, California. Both plans
were implemented to restructure our company tebattgn with the market environment. During fis2808, we paid $6.9 million,
representing substantially all of the employeeteel@xpenses for the cost reduction plans andrBlidn primarily related to a non-
cancellable contract. Substantially all of the emgpk related charges related to the fiscal 2008redsiction plans were paid by the end of
fiscal 2008.

Impairment of Lonc-lived Assets

Fiscal Fiscal
2009 2008
(In thousands)
Impairment of lon-lived asset: $ 1,28t $ 4,40(
% of revenue: 0.9% 2.1%

Impairment charges decreased $3.1 milliomffiscal 2008 to fiscal 2009 primarily due to $¥4 million impairment charge for
construction in-progress assets in Singapore redordthe fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 based ondmeision not to proceed with the
construction of a new manufacturing facility at ireposed site in Singapore. The impaired constnih-progress assets consisted primarily
of building design costs as well as costs of terapoconstruction structures.

In the third and fourth quarters of fis2@D9, we recorded impairment charges totaling #iillBon relating to certain equipment that was
determined to be held for sale and to the ternvnadif certain on-going projects. These impairméwatrges were originally recorded through
"Cost of revenues" in the Consolidated StatemeQpdrations in the Form 10-K for fiscal 2009. Howethis amount has been reclassified to
“Impairment of long-lived assets" in the ConsolethBtatement of Operations in this Form 10-K fecdl 2010 to conform with the current
year presentation of asset impairme
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Interest and Other Income (Expense), N

Fiscal Fiscal
2009 2008
(In thousands)
Interest income, ne $ 3,28: $ 12,44¢
% of revenue: 2.4% 5.¢%
Other income (expense), r $ (B3E) $ 658
% of revenue: (0.9% 0.2%

The decrease in interest income on casi, equivalents and marketable securities for fi2080 was primarily a result of lower interest
yields as compared to fiscal 2008 as well as laverage balances. Weigh-average yields for the year ended December 26, 2@08 0.739
compared to 2.29% for the year ended December@B.Zash, cash equivalents, restricted cash arketahle securities were $449.9 milli
at December 26, 2009 compared to $523.6 millidbeatember 27, 2008. The change in other income (esg)dor fiscal 2009 compared to
fiscal 2008 was mainly comprised of bank fees ofL$8illion and foreign currency losses of $1.1 mill primarily related to the Japanese Yen.

Provision for (Benefit from) Income Taxe

Fiscal Fiscal
2009 2008
(In thousands)

Provision for (benefit from) income
taxes $ 13,21« $ (44,29)
Effective tax rate 9.2% (35.5%

In fiscal 2008 we recorded a tax benefitdoS. losses, tax credits and deferred tax adSeting fiscal 2009, in accordance with
accounting requirements, a valuation allowanceregaiur U.S. deferred tax assets was recordedta®@uate was thus negatively impacted by
a valuation allowance of $57.7 million and non-Lh8t operating losses, primarily in Singapore,4ab%million.

In November 2009, President Obama signtedléw the Worker, Homeownership and Business Aasi® Act of 2009. This law extenc
net operating loss carrybacks from two years te figars. We benefited from this provision by insieg@ our refund claim to prior years for the
carrybacks of our 2009 Federal tax loss by appratehg $5.0 million prior to the law change.

We classify interest and penalties reldatedncertain tax positions as part of the incomeptavision. We recognized interest expense of
$0.3 million and $0.2 million for the years endedd@mber 26, 2009 and December 27, 2008, respactielof December 26, 2009, we had
approximately $0.9 million of interest and $0 p¢ieal related to uncertain tax positions.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Fiscal Fiscal
2010 2009
(In thousands)
Working capital $ 370,767 $ 482,60°
Cash, cash equivalents and marketak
securities 347,23: 449,23!

Working capital: The decrease in working capital in the yearegndecember 25, 2010 was primarily due to the éisagh from
operating activities and the decrease in refundaloleme taxes due to the receipt of a federal irectar refund of $26.2 million in March 20:
offset by the decrease in accounts payable dukaoge of our timing of payments to vendors and $esmnding along with
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the decrease in deferred revenue due to our imgrookection of payments from customers with exaghdayment terms as well as shortened
payment terms for certain customers.

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable sé¢mg: Cash and cash equivalents consist of depodlisat banks, money market funds,
U.S. government securities and commercial papetsattthe time of purchase had maturities of 9Gaayess. Marketable securities consist of
U.S. government and agency securities and comnhggieers. We typically invest in highly-rated seties with low probabilities of default.
Our investment policy requires investments to lledaingle-A or better, limits the types of accépganvestments, concentration as to security
holder and duration of the investment. Cash, casiivalents and marketable securities included $&8ligon held by our foreign subsidiaries
as of December 25, 2010.

Day Sales Outstanding: Days sales outstanding from receivables, or D&€e 66 days at December 25, 2010 compared WBhdays
at December 26, 2009. Our DSO calculation is catedl using the countback method and is based @s gaxounts receivable (including
accounts receivable for amounts in deferred revele decrease in DSO is primarily due to the $7ilfon write-off of uncollectable debts
resulting from the dismissal of complaints agagestain customers in the third quarter of fiscal@0mproved collection efforts and the shift
in sales to customers with shorter payment terms.

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2010 2009 2008
(In thousands)

Net cash used in operati

activities $ (73,090 $ (52,667 $ (24,37()
Net cash provided by (us

in) investing activitie: 69,84 (174,409 40,74
Net cash provided b

financing activities 3,09¢ 11,45( 5,95(

Cash flows from operating activities: Net cash used in operating activities for tearyended December 25, 2010 was primarily driven
by our net loss of $188.3 million offset in part $§16.5 million of non-cash charges consisting prity of $28.2 million of depreciation and
amortization, $17.6 million of stock-based compdiesa $9.0 million of non-cash restructuring chagg®11.4 million of provision for excess
and obsolete inventories and $56.4 million of impeint and loss on disposal of loliged assets, offset by a gain of $3.5 million tiglg to the
release of certain secured borrowings and a besfe$i2.1 million from changes in deferred tax asset

The net change in operating assets antlitied for the year ended December 25, 2010 wa8 #iillion consisting primarily of, a decree
of $13.0 million in accounts payable due to thengeain the timing of payments to vendors as welkas spending, an increase of
$11.6 million in inventories, primarily in completsub-assemblies, due to changes in manufacturriaigggy and new product transitions, a
decrease of $6.2 million in deferred revenues durut improved collection of payments and shortgreegment terms for certain customers, a
decrease of $1.9 million in deferred rent due tegoimg payments under our existing lease arrangeawell as the renegotiation of certain
lease obligations in Livermore, and an increasglo® million in prepaid expenses and other curassets. This was offset in part by a decnr
of $25.8 million in refundable income taxes prinhadue to the receipt of federal income tax refuimdiscal 2009, an increase of $4.6 million
in accrued liabilities due to the incentive boriattwe accrued for the second half of 2010 andehmining restructuring liabilities, and a
decrease of $3.2 million in accounts receivabletdushortened payment terms for certain custonmear improved collection of payments.

Net cash used in operating activities fecdl 2009 was primarily driven by our operatingd@f $155.7 million offset in part by non-cash
charges including depreciation and amortizatio#3#.9 million, stock-based compensation expen$208 million, deferred income tax
benefit of
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$39.1 million, provision for doubtful accounts ra@ble of $5.0 million and provision for excess azbolete inventories of $7.0 million.

The net change in operating assets antlitied for fiscal 2009 was $2.5 million consistipgimarily of, an increase in deferred revenues
due to lengthening of payment terms for certairtaragrs, a decrease in refundable income taxes plyndae to the receipt of federal income
tax refunds in fiscal 2009, as well as a decreageapaids and other current assets. This wastaffgart by an increase in inventories due to
lower shipments and a decrease in accounts pagablaccruals.

Cash flows from investing activities: Net cash provided by investing activities foe tyear ended December 25, 2010 was primarily
related to the $441.8 million proceeds from maiesifind sales of marketable securities offset by$841.3 million purchases of marketable
securities and the $30.9 million cash used in tgusition of property and equipment for new pradechnology.

Net cash used in investing activities fur year ended December 26, 2009 primarily relateedgurchase of marketable securities, net of
receipts from the sales and maturities thereofelbag cash used for capital expenditures in supgonformation technology system upgrades
and new product technology. Cash flows used indting activities for the year ended December 26924so included $12.0 million of
consideration paid for the purchase of manufactuaind testing equipment and technology assets Hiectroglas (See Note 4—Restructuring
charges of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statéshen

We carefully monitor our investments to imiize risks and have not experienced other-tharpteary investment losses. Except for
experiencing declining yields, our investment paitf has not been negatively impacted by the orggeitonomic turmoil in the credit markets.

Cash flows from financing activities: Net cash provided by financing activities floe tyear ended December 25, 2010 included
$3.8 million proceeds received from the purchaseleuour 2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, $0libmproceeds received from the
exercises of stock options, offset by $0.8 millairstock withheld in lieu of payment of employegéa related to the release of restricted stock
units and $0.6 million used for the repurchaseratidement of common stock in connection with ciack repurchase program.

Net cash provided by financing activities the year ended December 26, 2009 was primauiytd the $3.6 million received in fiscal
2009 for purchases under our 2002 Employee Stookh@se Plan and the net proceeds of $3.5 milliom fihe exercise of stock options. Cash
flows from financing activities of fiscal 2009 algtcluded proceeds of $3.5 million from the saléhef Spansion bankruptcy claim, which was
accounted for as a secured borrowing.

Our cash, cash equivalents and marketallerdies declined in fiscal 2010. We continuedous on improving our operating efficiency
achieve break even operating cash flow. Our actiewve included operational expense reduction tiiga, re-timing or eliminating certain
capital spending and research and developmentgtsa@d re-negotiating longer payment terms withvemdors. We believe that we will be
able to satisfy our cash requirements for the hegtve months with the liquidity provided by ourigting cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities. To the extent necessarynaealso consider establishing manufacturing addnelogy partnerships, or to seek short
and long-term debt obligations, or to obtain navaficing facilities which may not be available omte favorable to us or at all. Our future
capital requirements may vary materially from thoser planned. However, if we are unsuccessful iprowing our operating efficiency,
executing our cost reduction plan, reducing ouhaaslays or increasing our available cash thrdirggncing, our cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities will further decline in fis2@11.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following table summarizes our sigrafit commitments to make future payments in caskemuoohtractual obligations as of
December 25, 2010:

Payments Due In Fiscal Year:
2011 2012-2013 20142015  After 2015 Total
(In thousands)

Operating

leases $ 3,91 $ 5652 $ 5,601 $ 14,97 $ 30,13:
Other

purchas

obligatic  3,75¢€ 44¢€ — — $ 4,202

Total $ 7666 $ 6,09 $ 5601 $ 14,97: $ 34,33¢

Other purchase obligations are primarilygdorchases of inventory and manufacturing relataglice contracts. For the purposes of this
table, other purchase obligations are defined eseagents that are enforceable and legally bindivtbthat specify all significant terms,
including: fixed or minimum quantities to be purskd,; fixed, minimum or variable price provisionsgdahe approximate timing of the
transaction. The expected timing of payment ofablégations discussed above is estimated basedformation available to us as of
December 25, 2010. Timing of payments and actualuents paid may be different depending on the tifmeceipt of goods or services or
changes to agreed-upon amounts for some obligations

The table above excludes our gross lighitit unrecognized tax benefits, which totaled agpnately $17.5 million as of December 25,
2010 and are classified in deferred taxes and ddingrterm tax liabilities on our consolidated bada sheet. The timing of any payments which
could result from these unrecognized tax benefiisdepend upon a number of factors. Accordinghe timing of payment cannot be estime
and has been excluded from the table above. Asoéber 25, 2010, the changes to our uncertaipdsitions in the next 12 months, that are
reasonable possible, are not expected to havendisignt impact on our financial position or resuttf operations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Historically, we have not participated iartsactions that have generated relationshipswnitionsolidated entities or financial partnerst
such as entities often referred to as structureahfie or special purpose entities, which would Heeen established for the purpose of
facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractualtpw or limited purposes. As of December 25, 2@i®were not involved i
any such off-balance sheet arrangements.

Indemnification Agreements

We may, from time to time in the ordinanucse of our business enter into contractual agamamts with third parties that include
indemnification obligations. Under these contrattrsangements, we have agreed to defend, inderanifyor hold the third party harmless
from and against certain liabilities. These arrangets include indemnities in favor of customerthim event that our wafer probe cards infri
a third party's intellectual property and our lesso connection with facility leasehold liabilisehat we may cause. In addition, we have
entered into indemnification agreements with owectors and certain of our officers, and our bylaastain indemnification obligations in
favor of our directors, officers and agents. Thasemnity arrangements may limit the type of tharol the total amount that we can be
required to pay in connection with the indemnificatobligation and the time within which an indeffization claim can be made. The duration
of the indemnification obligation may vary, and foost arrangements, survives the agreement terrnisandefinite. We believe that
substantially all of our indemnity arrangementsviite either for limitations on the maximum potehfigure payments we could be obligated
to make, or for
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limitations on the types of claims and damages otddache obligated to indemnify, or for both. Howgvieis not possible to determine or
reasonably estimate the maximum potential amoufittafe payments under these indemnification obiliges due to the varying terms of such
obligations, the history of prior indemnificatiotans, the unique facts and circumstances invoimeghch particular contractual arrangement
and in each potential future claim for indemnifioat and the contingency of any potential liatgtiupon the occurrence of events that are not
reasonably determinable. We have not had any regjt@sndemnification under these arrangements.r@anagement believes that any
liability for these indemnity arrangements would he material to our accompanying consolidatednfiie statements. We have not recorded
any liabilities for these indemnification arrangertseon our consolidated balance sheet as of Deaed8h@010.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Please refer to the discussion of our reaecounting pronouncements in Note 2—Summary gificant Accounting Policies of the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial StatementsruRds 11, ltem 8 in this Form -K.

ltem 7A: Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MakRisk

Foreign Currency Exchange RiskWe conduct certain operations in foreign cucres. We enter into currency forward exchange
contracts to hedge a portion, but not all, of éxgsforeign currency denominated amounts. Gainslesgks on these contracts are generally
recognized in income. Because the effect of movésnarcurrency exchange rates on the currency faheachange contracts generally offs
the related effect on the underlying items beinddgeel, these financial instruments are not expedotedbject us to risks that would otherwise
result from changes in currency exchange ratesddMeot use derivative financial instruments foding or speculative purposes. We
recognized a net loss of $1.5 million and a net @&i$1.0 million for the fiscal years ended Decemb5, 2010 and December 26, 2009,
respectively, from the fluctuation in foreign exolge rates and the valuation of these hedge costiracur financial statements under other
expense.

Interest Rate Sensitivity. Our exposure to market risk for changes inregerates relates primarily to our investmentfptict. We invest
in a number of securities including U.S. agencydimt notes, money market funds and commercialrp&lipe attempt to ensure the safety and
preservation of our invested principal funds byiting default risk, market risk and reinvestmeskriWe mitigate default risk by investing in
high grade investment securities. By policy, weitlithe amount of credit exposure to an issuer, pixteS. Treasuries and U.S. agencies. We
do not use interest rate derivative instrumentaamage interest rate exposures nor do we investafding or speculative purposes. The fair
market value of our fixed rate securities may beeaskly impacted by increases in interest rateseviitome earned on floating rate securities
may decline as a result of decreases in interéss.rA hypothetical 100 basis-point (one percenfaget) increase or decrease in interest rates
compared to rates at December 25, 2010 and Dece26b2009 would have affected the fair value ofiouestment portfolio by less than
$2.6 million and $4.0 million, respectively.

Iltem 8: Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements amgpementary data of FormFactor required by tleisiiire included in the section entitled
"Consolidated Financial Statements" of this AnriRaport on Form 10-K. See Item 15(a)(1) for a lisbar consolidated financial statements.

Item 9: Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéenting and Financial Disclosure
None.
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Item 9A: Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on our management's evaluation giwéfparticipation of our principal executive offiand principal financial officer), as of the
end of the period covered by this report, our ppacexecutive officer and principal financial affir have concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 1%a}Hhd 15d-15(e) under the Securities ExchangeRAt934, as amended, (the "Exchange
Act")) were effective to ensure that informatioquéed to be disclosed by us in reports that wedil submit under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported witaitime periods specified in SEC rules and foamd is accumulated and communicated
to our management, including our principal exeautificer and principal financial officer, as appriate to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirng

There was no change in our internal corgvelr financial reporting (as defined in Rules 134f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act)
during fiscal 2010 that has materially affectedisoreasonably likely to materially affect, our@nal control over financial reporting.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Finangal Reporting

Our management is responsible for estahlisand maintaining adequate internal control dwemcial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) forreBactor. Our management with the participationwfprincipal executive officer and
principal financial officer conducted an evaluatwirthe effectiveness of our internal control ofirancial reporting as of December 25, 2010.
This evaluation was based on the framework estaddisninternal Control—Integrated Frameworksued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Basedwrassessment under the frameworlternal Control—Integrated Frameworlour
management concluded that our internal control &mancial reporting was effective as of Decembgr2010.

The effectiveness of our internal contre¢iofinancial reporting as of December 25, 2010b&en audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent regisfaiblic accounting firm, as stated in their répdrich appears in this Form 10-K.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Control systems, no matter how well desibjaed operated, can provide only reasonable, reatlade, assurance that the control systems'
objectives are being met. Further, the design gfcamtrol systems must reflect the fact that tregeeresource constraints, and the benefits
controls must be considered relative to their c@&tgause of the inherent limitations in all cohtrgstems, no evaluation of controls can
provide absolute assurance that all control isandsinstances of fraud, if any, within our compaaye been detected. These inherent
limitations include the realities that judgmentglgcision making can be faulty and that breakdosamsoccur because of simple error or
mistake. Control systems can also be circumvenyatidindividual acts of some persons, by collugsibtwo or more people, or by
management override of the controls. The desigangfsystem of controls is based, in part, on aedasumptions about the likelihood of fu
events, and there can be no assurance that amndeili succeed in achieving its stated goals uradignotential future conditions. Over time,
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesditions or deterioration in the degree of chamge with policies or procedures.
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CEO and CFO Cetrtifications

We have attached as exhibits to this FddrK Ihe certifications of our Chief Executive Officand Chief Financial Officer, which are
required in accordance with the Exchange Act. Véememend that this Item 9A be read in conjunctiothwhe certifications for a more
complete understanding of the subject matter pteden

Iltem 9B: Other Information

None.
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PART Il
Iltem 10: Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govence

Information concerning our board of direstacommittees and directors, including our audihmittee and audit committee financial
expert, will be included in our Proxy Statementdar 2011 annual meeting of stockholders, undesdagion entitled "Proposal No. 1—
Election of Directors". The information in such fions of the Proxy Statement is incorporated is #hinnual Report on Form 10-K by
reference.

For biographical information with respeztour directors and executive officers, see Pdtéim 1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K
under the section entitled "Directors and Execu@¥fcers".

Information concerning Section 16(a) betiafiownership reporting compliance will appeaoir Proxy Statement under the section
entitled "Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership RepgrtCompliance”. The information in such portiontieé Proxy Statement is incorporated in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K by reference.

We have adopted a Statement of Corporatke ©@6Business Conduct that applies to all diresstofficers and employees of FormFactor
and a Statement of Financial Code of Ethics thpti@pto our chief executive officer, chief finaalkofficer, and other employees in our fina
department. Information concerning these codesapitiear in our Proxy Statement under the sectititieeh"Proposal No. 1—Election of
Directors—Corporate Codes". The information in spoftion of the Proxy Statement is incorporatethia Annual Report on Form 10-K by
reference.

ltem 11: Executive Compensation

Information concerning executive officengeensation and related information will appearun Broxy Statement under the section
entitled "Compensation Discussion and Analysis%e&utive Compensation and Related Information”,pdteof the Compensation
Committee" and "Proposal No. 1—Election of DirestetCompensation Committee Interlocks and Insideti¢daation”. Information
concerning director compensation and related inédion will appear in our Proxy Statement underdéetion entitled "Proposal No. 1—
Election of Directors". The information in such pons of the Proxy Statement is incorporated is #innual Report on Form 10-K by
reference.

Item 12:  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners amtanagement and Related Stockholder Matters

Information concerning the security owngrsdf certain beneficial owners and managementrateded stockholder matters will appear in
our Proxy Statement under the section entitled U8gcOwnership of Certain Beneficial Owners andridgement and Related Stockholder
Matters". The information in such portion of theo®y Statement is incorporated in this Annual ReparForm 10-K by reference.

Information concerning our equity compeimsaplans will appear in our Proxy Statement urtdersection entitled "Security Ownership
of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management an@ted|Stockholder MattersEquity Compensation Plans". The information in spoftion
of the Proxy Statement is incorporated in this AalriReport on Form 10-K by reference.

Item 13: Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, aditector Independence

Information concerning certain relationshgnd related transactions, including our relatrdgn transactions policy will appear in our
Proxy Statement under the section entitled "CeRalationships and Related Transactions". The imébion in such portion of the Proxy
Statement is incorporated in this Annual ReporfForm 10-K by reference.
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Information concerning director independendll appear in our Proxy Statement under theigeantitled "Proposal No. 1—Election of
Directors". The information in such portion of tReoxy Statement is incorporated in this Annual Repo Form 10-K by reference.

Iltem 14: Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information concerning principal accountfiegs and services and the audit committee'sippeeval policies and procedures will appei
our Proxy Statement under the section entitledp&sal No. 2—Ratification of Selection of Indepentdeegistered Public Accounting Firm".
The information in such portion of the Proxy Stagetis incorporated in this Annual Report on Foi®rKlLby reference.
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PART IV
Iltem 15: Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(@)  The following documents are filed as part of thizndal Report on Form -K:

(2) Consolidated Financial Statements:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfimm
Consolidated Balance Sheets
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(2)  Exhibits:
The exhibits listed in the accompanying Index tdiBits are filed or incorporated by reference as phthis Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

(b) Financial Statement Schedules:

All schedules have been omitted because they dneequired, not applicable, or the required infotiorais included in the
consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(c) Exhibits:
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit Date of Exhibit Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form File No First Filing Number Herewith
3.01 Amended and Restated Certifici S-1 333 10/20/0: 3.01
of Incorporation of the Registrant 10981t

as filed with the Delaware
Secretary of State on June 17,

2003

3.0z Amended and Restated Bylaws of 8-K 000- 5/25/0¢ 3.0z
the Registran 50301

4.01 Specimen Common Stock S-1/A 333- 5/28/0z 4.01
Certificate 8673¢

4.0z Stockholders Agreement by and S-1 333- 4/22/0z 4.0z
among the Registrant, Dr. Igor Y. 8673¢

Khandros, Susan Bloch and
Richard Hoffman dated
February 9, 199

4.0Z Stockholders Agreement by and S-1 333- 4/22/0z 4.04
among the Registrant, Dr. Igor Y. 8673¢
Khandros, Susan Bloch and
Milton Ohring dated April 11,

1994
4.04 Stockholders Agreement by and S41 333- 4/22/0: 4.0t
among the Registrant, Dr. Igor Y. 8673¢

Khandros, Susan Bloch and
Benjamin Eldridge dated
August 12, 199«

4.0t Stockholders Agreement by and S41 333- 4/22/0: 4.0¢€
among the Registrant, Dr. Igor Y. 8673¢
Khandros, Susan Bloch and
Charles Baxley, P.C. dated
September 8, 19¢



10.01+

10.024

10.034

10.044

10.05+

Form of Indemnity Agreement S-1/A
Form of Change of Control 10K
Severance Agreeme

1996 Stock Option Plan, and form  S-1
of option gran

Incentive Option Plan, and form S-1
option grant
Management Incentive Option S-1

Plan, and form of option gra

67

333-
8673¢

000-
50307

333-
8673¢

333-
8673¢

333-
8673¢

5/28/0:

3/14/0¢

4/22/0z%

4/22/0z%

4/22/0z

10.01

10.4¢

10.0¢

10.0¢

10.0¢
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Exhibit
Number

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description Form

File No

Date of
First Filing

Exhibit
Number

Filed
Herewith

10.064

10.074

10.084

10.09+

10.10+

10.11+

10.12+4

10.13+

10.144

10.154

10.16+

10.174

10.18+

10.19+4

2002 Equity Incentive Plan, i —
amended, and forms of plan
agreement

2002 Employee Stock Purche  10-Q
Plan, as amende

Key Employee Bonus Plan, as 10-Q
amendec

Separation Agreement and 8-K
General Release dated

January 30, 2007 with

Joseph R. Bronsc

Separation Agreement and 8-K
General Release dated

March 20, 2008 with Ronald ¢

Foster

Employment Offer Letter date 8-K
November 23, 2007 t
Dr. Mario Rusce\

Employment Offer Letter date 10K
September 25, 2007 to Jorge L.
Titinger

Separation Agreement and 8-K
General Release dated April
2008 with Jorge L. Titinge

Employment Offer Letter date 8-K
March 1, 2008 to Jean B.
Vernet

Separation Agreement and 8-K
Mutual Release dated May 1,
2009 with Dr. Igor Y. Khandr¢

Consulting Agreement dated 8-K
May 1, 2009 with Dr. Igor Y.
Khandros

Written description of 8-K
definitive agreement to

accelerate vesting of restricted

stock units of Dr. Thomas J.
Campbell in connection with

his resignation as direct

Written description of 8-K
definitive agreements to

increase base salaries and

bonus targets for certain

executive officers approved on

April 16, 2007

Written description of 8-K
definitive agreement regarding
director compensation

00050301

00050301

00050301

00050301

00050301

00050301

00050301

00050301

00050301

00050301

00050301

00050301

00050301

8/7/07

5/7/07%

1/31/0i

3/26/0¢

1/7/0¢

2/27/0¢

4/21/0¢

3/31/0¢

5/1/0¢

5/1/0¢

12/16/0¢

4/20/07

5/28/0¢

10.01

10.01

10.01

10.01

99.01

10.1%

10.01

10.01

10.01

10.0Z

X



10.204

10.21+

10.2%

10.2:

approved on May 21 and 22,
2008

Pacific Corporate Center Lease S-1/A
by and between Greenville

Holding Company LLC

(successor to Greenville

Investors, L.P.) ("Greenville")

and the Registrant dated May

2001

First Amendment to Pacific S-1/A
Corporate Center Lease by and
between Greenville and the
Registrant dated January 31,

2003

Pacific Corporate Center Lease S-1/A
by and between Greenville and

the Registrant dated May 3,

2001

First Amendment to Pacific S-1/A
Corporate Center Lease by and
between Greenville and the
Registrant dated January 31,

2003

3338673¢

333-8673¢

3338673¢

333-8673¢
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Exhibit
Number

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description Form

File No

Date of
First Filing

Exhibit
Number

Filed
Herewith

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.274

10.284

10.294

10.304

10.314

21.01

23.01

24.01

31.01

31.0:Z

Pacific Corporate Center Lea  S-1/A
by and between Greenville and

the Registrant dated May 3,

2001

First Amendment to Pacific S-1/A
Corporate Center Lease by and
between Greenville and the
Registrant dated January 31,

2003

Pacific Corporate Center Lease 10-Q
by and between Greenville and

the Registrant dated

September 7, 2004, as amen

by First Amendment to

Building 6 Lease dated

August 16, 200t

Employment Letter Agreemel 8-K
dated May 19, 2010, between

G. Carl Everett, Jr. and

FormFactor, Inc

Employment Letter Agreemel 8-K
dated May 19, 2010, between
Richard DelLateur and

FormFactor, Inc

Separation Agreement and 8-K
General Release, dated June 1,
2010, between Jean Vernet and
FormFactor, Inc

Separation Agreement and 8-K
General Release, dated June 6,
2010, between Mario Ruscev

and FormFactor, Inc

Employment Letter Agreemel 8-K
dated September 2, 2010,

between Thomas St. Dennis

and FormFactor, Inc

List of Registrant's subsidiarir —

Consent of Independent —
Registered Public Accounting
Firm

Power of Attorney (included ¢ —
the signature page of this
Form 1(-K)

Certification of Chief Executiv —
Officer pursuant to 15 U.S.C.

Section 7241, as adopted

pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 200z

Certification of Chief Financial —

33:-8673¢

3338673¢

00050301

00050301

00050301

00050307

00050301

00050301

6/10/0:

5/7/0%

11/7/0¢

5/25/201

5/25/201

6/7/201(

6/7/201(

9/17/201(

10.2(

10.20.:

10.01

10.1+

10.2+

10.1+

10.2+

99.014



Officer pursuant to 15 U.S.C.
Section 7241, as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 200z

32.01* Certification of Chief Executiv — — — — X
Officer and Chief Financial
Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 200z

This exhibit shall not be deemed "“filed" for purpe®f Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Adi9&¥4 or otherwise
subject to the liabilities of that section, norItiidbe deemed incorporated by reference in aligdiunder the Securities
Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 198dether made before or after the date hereof mespective of any
general incorporation language in any filings.

Indicates a management contract or compensatonygolarrangemen
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of SectioorlB5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednlp authorized, in the City of Livermore, StateGdlifornia, on the 17th day of February
2011.

FORMFACTOR, INC.

By: /s/ RICHARD DELATEUR

Richard DeLateur
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW BY ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, tleaich of the undersigned whose signature appelas benstitutes and appoir
Richard DeLateur and Stuart L. Merkadeau, and e&tlem, the undersigned's true and lawful attosrieyfact and agents with full power of
substitution, for the undersigned and in the urigaexl's name, place and stead, in any and all tagsado sign any and all amendments to this
Annual Report on Form 1K-and any other documents in connection therewitlg, to file the same, with all exhibits theretothithe Securitie
and Exchange Commission, granting unto said atygrrefact and agents, and each of them, full pcavet authority to do and perform each
and every act requisite and necessary to be dahe@gpect to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, idodhg amendments, as fully to all intents
and purposes as the undersigned might or could gerison, hereby ratifying and confirming all teatd attorneys-in-fact and agents, or his or
their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully dacause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersighad executed this Power of Attorney as of the hatieated below.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Seeariixchange Act of 1934, this report has beenesidgrelow by the following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities and ordé#tes indicated.

Signature Title Date

Principal Executive Officer

/s/ THOMAS ST. DENNIS Chief Executive Officer and

February 17, 2011

Thomas St. Denni Director
Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer:
/s/ RICHARD DELATEUR
Chief Financial Officer February 17, 2011

Richard DelLateu
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Signature

Additional Directors:

/sl G. CARL EVERETT, JR.

G. Carl Everett, Ji

/sl LOTHAR MAIER

Lothar Maier

/sl JAMES A. PRESTRIDGE

James A. Prestridc

/sl EDWARD ROGAS, JR

Edward Rogas, «

Director

Director

Director

Director

Title
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February 17, 2011

February 17, 2011

February 17, 2011

February 17, 2011
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Foawtbr, Inc:

In our opinion, the accompanying consobdabalance sheets and the related consolidatedrstats of income, stockholders' equity, and
cash flows present fairly, in all material respetite financial position of FormFactor, Inc. arglstibsidiaries at December 25, 2010 and
December 26, 2009 and the results of their opersiimd their cash flows for each of the three yietise period ended December 25, 2010 in
conformity with accounting principles generally apted in the United States of America. Also in opinion, the Company maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control dieancial reporting as of December 25, 2010, basedriteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpong Organizations of the Treadway Commissic®$0). The Company's
management is responsible for these financialretatés, for maintaining effective internal contreko financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting, included in ManagemeR&port on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting appearing under Item 9A of this Annuap&e on Form 10-K. Our responsibility is to expregénions on these financial statements
and on the Company's internal control over findneporting based on our integrated audits. We gotetl our audits in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Ovetdiglard (United States). Those standards requaevte plan and perform the audits to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether thecfalatatements are free of material misstatemeahivehether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all materigpects. Our audits of the financial statemersidied examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the ishstatements, assessing the accounting prirscied and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financéestent presentation. Our audit of internal cordx@r financial reporting included obtaini
an understanding of internal control over financédorting, assessing the risk that a material wes exists, and testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internalrobbtased on the assessed risk. Our audits aldadient performing such other procedures as
we considered necessary in the circumstances. Weyd¢hat our audits provide a reasonable basisdo opinions.

A company's internal control over finanaiborting is a process designed to provide redderassurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting princip
A company's internal control over financial repogtincludes those policies and procedures thakefifain to the maintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettiiansactions and dispositions of the assetseoédmpany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgegaparation of financial statements in accor@awih generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expendituree®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readslaassurance regarding prevention or timely dietecf unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company's assets that could hawaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, inedroontrol over financial reporting may not preventetect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdénaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policiepraicedures may deteriorate.

/s PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP
San Jose, California
February 17, 2011
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FORMFACTOR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 25, December 26,
2010 2009
(In thousands, except share
and per share data)

ASSETS
Current assett
Cash and cash equivale $ 121200 $ 122,04
Marketable securitie 226,02¢ 327,19:
Restricted cas 38¢ —
Accounts receivable, n 28,59¢ 29,41
Inventories 25,76¢ 25,54¢
Deferred tax asse 32¢ 3,29¢
Refundable income taxi — 26,77¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 13,98: 12,34¢
Total current asse 416,29 546,61
Restricted cas 297 68C
Property and equipment, r 37,31 97,75¢
Deferred tax asse 5,44¢ 2,20z
Other asset 6,71( 8,71
Total asset $ 466,05¢ $ 655,96¢

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl $ 14,94¢ $ 29,25(
Accrued liabilities 24,04t 23,417
Income taxes payab 1,89/ 481
Deferred revenu 4,637 10,85¢

Total current liabilities 45,52 64,00¢
Long-term income taxes payak 4,24¢ 6,42:
Deferred rent and other liabiliti¢ 5,081 5,62¢
Deferred tax liability — 2,13¢

Total liabilities 54,85: 78,18’

Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholders' equit
Preferred stock, $0.001 par vali
10,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issuedustinding at
December 25, 2010 and December 26, 2009, resplyc — —
Common stock, $0.001 par valt
250,000,000 shares authorized; 50,587,917 and 2908 shares
issued and outstanding at December 25, 2010 aneniiser 26,

2009, respectivel 52 50
Additional pait-in capital 651,26: 630,33:
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 2,02 1,25:
Retained earnings (accumulated defi (242,14) (53,85%)

Total stockholders' equit 411,20: 577,78:
Total liabilities and stockholders' equ $ 466,05: $ 655,96¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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FORMFACTOR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Fiscal Year Ended

December 25 December 26 December 27
2010 2009 2008
(In thousands, except per share date

Revenue! $ 18856 $ 13533 $ 210,18¢
Cost of revenue 190,83° 134,51¢ 173,92¢
Gross profit (loss (2,272) 81¢ 36,26:
Operating expense

Research and developm: 55,38¢ 57,50¢ 65,50¢

Selling, general and administrati 67,20¢ 78,42¢ 95,20¢

Restructuring charges, r 15,90¢ 8,78( 9,157

Impairment of lon-lived asset: 56,40 1,28¢ 4,40(

Total operating expens: 194,90¢ 146,00! 174,27:

Operating los! (197,179 (145,18¢) (138,01)
Interest income, ne 2,54¢ 3,28 12,44¢
Other income (expense), r 4,42¢ (535) 653
Loss before income tax (190,206 (142,439 (124,91
Provision for (benefit from) income tax (1,920 13,21« (44,29))
Net loss $ (188,28) $ (155,65) $ (80,62)
Net loss per shar

Basic and dilute $ (3.75 $ (3.15 $ (1.65)
Weightec-average number of shares used in per ¢

calculations

Basic and dilute: 50,24¢ 49,48: 48,90¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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FORMFACTOR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Accumulated Retained
Additonal Other Earnings
C Stock gt .
Jmmon ofoc Paid-in Comprehensive (Accumulated
Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss) Deficit) Total

(In thousands, except shares)

Balances, December 29,

2007 48,642,25 $ 43 $ 573550 $ 92¢ % 182,41¢ $ 756,95(
Issuance of common stock

pursuant to exercise of

options for casl 113,20( — 71E — — 71E
Issuance of common stock

pursuant to vesting of

restricted stock units, ne

of stock withhelc 20,50: — (1449 — — (144
Issuance of common stock

under the Employee Sto

Purchase Pla 286,34 — 5,10¢ — — 5,10¢
Tax benefit from exercise ¢

common stock optior — — 52€ — — 52€
Stocl-based compensatic — — 22,537 — — 22,537

Components of other
comprehensive income
(loss):

Unrealized gain (loss) on
marketable securities, r

of tax — — — 24¢ — 24§
Translation adjustmen — — — 74t — 745
Net loss — — — — (80,62) (80,62))
Comprehensive los (79,62%)
Balances, December 27,
2008 49,062,30 49 602,29! 1,922 101,79¢ 706,06¢

Issuance of common stock

pursuant to exercise of

options for casl 319,38t 1 4,271 — — 4,27
Issuance of common stock

pursuant to vesting of

restricted stock units, ne

of stock withhelc 111,15¢ — (749) — — (749)
Issuance of common stock

under the Employee Sto

Purchase Pla 269,15t — 3,601 — — 3,601
Tax benefit from exercise ¢

common stock optior — — 10 — — 10
Stocl-based compensatic — — 20,89¢ — — 20,89¢

Components of other
comprehensive income
(loss):

Unrealized gain (loss) on
marketable securities, r

of tax — — — (981) — (982)
Translation adjustmen — — — 31z — 31z
Net loss — — — — (155,65Y) (155,65Y)
Comprehensive los (156,32))
Balances, December 26,
2009 49,762,00 50 630,33: 1,25:% (53,85%) 577,78:

Issuance of common stock

pursuant to exercise of

options for casl 115,59 — 69¢ — — 69¢
Issuance of common stock

pursuant to vesting of

restricted stock units, ne

of stock withhelc 414,44 — (762) — — (762)
Issuance of common stock

under the Employee Sto

Purchase Pla 365,87 2 3,78¢ — — 3,78¢
Purchase and retirement o
common stocl (70,000 — (62€) — — (62€)
Stocl-based compensatic — — 17,83« — — 17,83«
Components of other
comprehensive income
(loss):
Unrealized gain (loss) on
marketable securities, r
of tax — — — (235) — (235)
Translation adjustmen — — — 1,00¢ — 1,00¢
Net loss — — — — (188,28f) (188,281)
Comprehensive los — — — — — (187,51))

Balances, December 25,
2010 50,587,91 $ 52 $ 651,26! $ 2,027 $ (242,14) $ 411,20:



The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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FORMFACTOR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Fiscal Year Ended
December 25, December 26, December 27,
2010 2009 2008
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net loss $ (188,28 $ (155,65) $ (80,627)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash irsegerating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic 28,15¢ 32,70¢ 31,71¢
Amortization of investment 46¢ 204 462
Stocl-based compensation expel 17,61 20,77¢ 22,86¢
Deferred income tax provision (bene (2,105 39,13! (15,287
Excess tax benefits from equity based compensaters — (841 (279)
Provision for (benefit from) doubtful accounts rieedle (1,07)) 5,04( 4,147
Provision for excess and obsolete inventa 11,38¢ 7,03z 16,26¢
Write-offs and loss on disposal of Ic-lived asset: 431 43C 59
Non-cash restructurin 8,97¢ 36€ 98C
Impairment of lon-lived asset: 56,40: 1,28¢ 4,40(
Gain on release of secured borrow (3,48)) — —
Foreign currency transaction ga (291) (613 —
Changes in assets and liabiliti:
Accounts receivabl 3,22¢ 61C 31,20¢
Inventories (11,55)) (13,71¢) (6,052)
Prepaids and other current as (1,636 4,72z 74
Refundable income tax 25,84: 2,701 (27,379
Other asset 66 6,402 2,302
Accounts payabl (13,00¢) (322 (1,596
Accrued liabilities 4,63¢ (5,579 (3,534
Income tax payabl (732) (3,030 (3,39¢)
Deferred ren (1,920 (23)) (425)
Deferred revenue (6,217) 5,904 (59))
Net cash used in operating activit (73,09¢) (52,667) (24,37()
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of property and equipme (30,919 (19,179 (30,439
Proceeds from sales of property and equipr 29z 201 18¢
Purchases of marketable securi (341,29) (587,79 (273,929
Proceeds from maturities of marketable secur 432,54¢ 399,02! 56,01¢
Proceeds from sales of marketable secur 9,20¢ 45,36¢ 287,33:
Payments made in connection with acquisition oét — (12,02¢) —
Release of restricted ca — — 1,57(C
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi 69,84 (174,409 40,74
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuances of common stock, net @diese cost 3,72¢ 7,12¢ 5,67¢
Excess tax benefits from equity based compensatems — 841 271
Purchase and retirement of common st (62€) — —
Proceeds from secured borrowi — 3,48( —
Net cash provided by financing activiti 3,09¢ 11,45( 5,95(
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casve&nts 679 (25§) 371
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis (83€) (215,88)) 22,69
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of 122,04 337,92¢ 315,23:
Cash and cash equivalents, end of \ $ 121,200 $ 122,04: $ 337,92t

Non-cash investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment through acs@ayable and

accruals $ 1,997 $ 443 $ 9,72(
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Income taxes refunded, r $ (24,88) $ (25,787 $ (1,230

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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FORMFACTOR, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT
Note 1—Formation and Business of the Company

FormFactor, Inc. (the "Company") was inavgied in Delaware on April 15, 1993 and desigesgetbps, manufactures, sells and supports
precision, high performance advanced semicondweader probe cards. We are based in Livermore, @ali&, home to our corporate offices,
research and development, and manufacturing lotatiWe have facilities in the United States, SigapJapan, Germany, Taiwan, Italy,
South Korea and the People's Republic of China.

Fiscal Year

Our fiscal year ends on the last Saturdayeécember. The fiscal years ended on Decemb&%), December 26, 2009, and
December 27, 2008, respectively, consisted of 52kaie

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been madke@rior year's Consolidated Statements of Cémli=and Consolidated Statements of
Operations to conform to the current year presimtat

Out of Period Adjustment

In the third quarter of fiscal 2010, weorted a $4.1 million adjustment to cost of revemutsof $0.5 million income tax benefit, which
resulted from an error in the calculation of cdpited manufacturing variances starting in the fipsarter of fiscal 2009 through the second
quarter of fiscal 2010. The error caused the unaennient of cost of revenues and the overstateai¢he overhead capitalized in inventory
most quarters. The income tax benefit resulted finggher net losses in 2009 due to higher costwdmae expenses. We are able to carry back
the increase in the 2009 loss to recover more gear tax payments. Out of the total adjustmefg.8 million adjustment to cost of revenues
net of $0.5 million income tax benefit was relatediscal 2009. Management and the Audit Commiltekeve that such amounts are not
material to current and previously reported finahstatements.

In fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2008, we did rextord any out of period adjustments.
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Consolidation and Foreign Currency Trangian

The consolidated financial statements idelaur accounts and those of our wholly owned slidrses. All material intercompany balant
and transactions have been eliminated.

Translation gains and losses resulting fthenprocess of re-measuring into the United Staftdsnerica dollar, the foreign currency
financial statements of our wholly owned subsidigsifor which the United States of America doltathie functional currency, are included in
operations. We translate assets and liabilitideraign subsidiaries, whose functional currencthir local currency, at exchange rates in e
at the balance sheet date. We translate revenuexgethses at the monthly average exchange ratemdMde accumulated net translation
adjustments in stockholders' equity as a compoofeatcumulated other comprehensive income.
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FORMFACTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT (Continue d)
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)
Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financiateaments in conformity with GAAP requires managette make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets antlities, the disclosure of contingent assets aallilities at the date of the financial statements,
and the reported amounts of revenues and expensag the reporting period. Actual results coulffetifrom those estimates. Estimates may
change as new information is obtained. Signifiéeamhs that are subject to such estimates inclueléatin value of revenue elements, fair value
of marketable securities, allowance for doubtfidamts, reserves for product warranty, valuationlifolete and slow moving inventory,
valuation of intangible assets, the assessmemcolverability of long-lived assets, valuation aadagnition of stock-based compensation,
provision for income taxes and related deferredatssets, valuation and tax liabilities and accrt@l®ther liabilities. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

Foreign Exchange Management

We transact business in various foreigmenaies, primarily the Japanese Yen. We enterforigard foreign exchange contracts in an
effort to mitigate the risks associated with cuoyefiuctuations on certain foreign currency balasbheet exposures. Gains and losses resulting
from the impact of currency exchange rate movement®rward foreign exchange contracts designatexdfset certain foreign currency
balance sheet exposures are recognized as "Otwmné(expense), net" in the Consolidated Statenuér@perations in the period in which 1
exchange rates change. These gains and lossedarédd to partially offset the foreign currencgleange gains and losses on the underlying
exposures being hedged. We record the fair valtleesfe contracts as of the end of our reportingpgén the Consolidated Balance Sheet. We
do not use derivative financial instruments foding or speculative purposes.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

Cash and cash equivalents consist of depasd financial instruments which are readily atible into cash and have original maturities
of 90 days or less at the time of acquisition. Maable securities consist primarily of highly lidunvestments with maturities of greater than
90 days when purchased. We generally classify arketable securities at the date of acquisitioavaslable-for-sale. These securities are
reported at fair value with the related unrealigaths and losses included in "Accumulated otherpretrensive income (loss)", a componer
stockholder's equity, net of tax. Any unrealizesiskes which are considered to be other-than-tempormgrairments are recorded in "Other
income (expense), net" in the Consolidated StatésrefrOperations. Realized gains (losses) on tleecdanarketable securities are determined
using the specific-identification method and reeatih "Other income (expense), net" in the Constdid Statements of Operations. We
measure our cash equivalents and marketable sesuwttfair value. Whenever possible, the fair galaf our financial assets and liabilities are
determined using quoted market prices of identisakets or quoted market prices of similar assets &ctive markets. Level 1 valuations are
obtained from real-time quotes for transactionadtive exchange markets involving identical asdedgel 2 valuations are obtained from
guoted market prices in active markets involvingikir assets. Level 3 valuations are based on @nmeéBle inputs to the valuation
methodology and include our own data about assemptinarket participants would use in pricing theeasr liability based on the best
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FORMFACTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT (Continue d)
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)

information available under the circumstances. Haeél of input has different levels of subjectyvénd difficulty involved in determining fair
value.

All of our available-for-sale investmentg aubject to a periodic impairment review. We rda charge to earnings when a decline in fair
value is significantly below cost basis and judgede other-than-temporary, or have other indicatdrimpairments. If the fair value of an
available-for-sale investment is less than its dired cost basis, an other-thamporary impairment is triggered in circumstanebsre (1) w
intend to sell the instrument, (2) it is more lkéhan not that we will be required to sell thetinment before recovery of its amortized cost
basis, or (3) a credit loss exists where we deerpect to recover the entire amortized cost bddiseoinstrument. If we intend to sell or it is
more likely than not that we will be required tdl ke available-forsale investment before recovery of its amortizest basis, we recognize
other-than- temporary impairment in earnings etm#te entire difference between the investmemntsridzed cost basis and its fair value.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of certain of our fio@l instruments, including cash and cash equigjeiccounts receivable, accounts payable,
accrued compensation and other accrued liabilidpproximate fair value because of their short miti¢g. Estimates of fair value of fixed-
income securities are based on quoted market prieesactive markets or third party, market-basgdipg sources which we believe to be
reliable. These estimates represent the thirdggugood faith opinion as to what a buyer in thekeigplace would pay for a security in a cur
sale.

Restricted Cash

Under the terms of one of our facility legswe provide security to the landlord in the farihhetters of credit. As of December 25, 2010
and December 26, 2009, restricted cash included®ilion of letters of credit secured by a cedifie of deposit.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of §pshcipally standard cost which approximates aktwst on a first-in, first-out basis) or market
value. The provision for potentially excess andobete inventory is made based on management'ssagsalfyinventory levels and forecasted
future sales. Once the value is adjusted, theraigiost of our inventory less the related inventarite-down represents the new cost basis of
such products. Reversal of these write downs isgized only when the related inventory has beespped or sold. Shipping and handling
costs are classified as a component of "Cost amess" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations

We design, manufacture and sell a fullyt@omsproduct into a market that has been subjecy¢bcality and significant demand
fluctuations. Probe cards are complex productgpouso a specific chip design and have to be deid@n short lead-times. Probe cards are
manufactured in low volumes, but for certain matstithe material purchases are often subject minmim purchase order quantities in excess
of the actual underlying probe card demand. lbisumcommon for us to acquire production materdald start certain production activities
based on estimated production yields and forecakethnd prior to or in excess of actual demanadomwafer probe cards. These factors
make inventory valuation adjustments part of ounmad recurring cost of revenue. Aggregate inventenge downs were $11.4 million,
$7.0 million and $16.3 million for the fiscal yearaded
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December 25, 2010, December 26, 2009, and Dece2ih@008, respectively. We retain a portion oféReess inventory until the customer's
design is discontinued. The inventory may be useshtisfy customer warranty demand.

When our products have been deliveredtimitevenue associated with that product is defdrezause the related revenue recognition
criteria have not been met, we defer the relatedritory costs. The deferred inventory costs deemoeed the deferred revenue amounts.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at esstdccumulated depreciation and amortization. &égion is provided on a straight-line
method over the following estimated useful liveshaf assets: 5 to 7 years for machinery and equirBdo 5 years for computer equipment
and software and 5 years for furniture and fixtutesasehold improvements are amortized over theeshof the lease term or the estimated
useful life of the related asset. Constructionriogpess assets are not depreciated until the emgefdaced in service. Upon sale or retireme
assets, the cost and related accumulated depogc@tiamortization, are removed from the balaneeshnd the resulting gain or loss is
reflected in operations.

Intangible Assets

Intellectual property assets representtagspiisition-related developed technology rigimd are amortized on a straight-line basis over
the periods of benefit, ranging from 3 to 5 ye#lve classify all identified intangible assets with@ther assets" in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets. For further discussion of identified infategassets, see Note 3—Balance Sheet Componetits bfotes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. We perform a quarterly review of intialegassets to determine if facts and circumstaimgisate that the useful life is shorter than
we had originally estimated or that the carryingant of assets may not be recoverable. If sucls faetl circumstances exist, we assess the
recoverability of identified intangible assets lynparing the projected undiscounted net cash fsgsciated with the related asset or grot
assets over their remaining lives against thepeetve carrying amounts. Impairments, if any,lzased on the excess of the carrying amount
over the fair value of those assets.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We test long-lived assets or asset groopeetoverability when events or changes in cirdamses indicate that their carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. Circumstances which coigddr a review include, but are not limited tarsficant decreases in the market price of
the asset; significant adverse changes in the éssiclimate or legal factors; accumulation of cegaificantly in excess of the amount
originally expected for the acquisition or constioe of the asset; current period cash flow or afirg losses combined with a history of losses
or a forecast of continuing losses associated thghuse of the asset; and current expectatiorthibasset will more likely than not be sold or
disposed of significantly before the end of itdreated useful life.

Recoverability is assessed based on thgiegramounts of the asset and its fair value wisofpenerally determined based on the sum of
the undiscounted cash flows expected to result tfmruse and the eventual disposal of the asseflhas specific appraisals in certain
instances. An impairment loss is recognized wherctrrying amount is not recoverable and exceedsdhie.
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Long-lived Assets Held For Sale

We classify londjved assets as held for sale when certain criméamet, including: management's commitment ttaa o sell the asse
the availability of the assets for immediate saléheir present condition; whether an active progta locate buyers and other actions to sel
assets has been initiated; whether the sale afabets is probable and their transfer is expeotegdalify for recognition as a completed sale
within one year; whether the assets are being nelkat reasonable prices in relation to theiryalue; and how unlikely it is that significant
changes will be made to the plan to sell the asketgy-lived assets held for sale are classifietthiwi'Prepaid expenses and other current
assets" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

We measure long-lived assets to be dispokby sale at the lower of the carrying amountaar value less cost to sell. Fair value is
determined using quoted market prices or the guatied cash flows discounted at a rate commensuaititehe risk involved. Changes to our
estimated fair values of such assets are recordéiperiods in which such changes are identified.

Concentration of Credit Risk and Other Risks and thrtainties

Financial instruments that potentially ®dbjus to concentrations of credit risk consistrily of cash equivalents, marketable securities
and trade receivables. Our cash equivalents ankietadnle securities are held in safekeeping by |amglitworthy financial institutions. We
invest our excess cash primarily in U.S. banksgegoment and agency bonds, money market funds apdreate obligations. We have
established guidelines relative to credit ratirdigersification and maturities that seek to mamtafety and liquidity. Deposits in these banks
may exceed the amounts of insurance provided dmdeposits. To date, we have not experienced asgsoon our deposits of cash and cash
equivalents.

We market and sell our products to a nafrage of customers and generally do not requitateddl. In fiscal 2010, three customers
accounted for 21%, 13%, and 12% of revenues. talfie009, one customer accounted for 49% of reverndiscal 2008, three customers
accounted for 30%, 14%, and 11% of revenues.

At December 25, 2010, three customers ateoufor approximately 21%, 19% and 11% of accotedsivable. At December 26, 2009,
three customers accounted for approximately 23% a8d 11% of accounts receivable. We operate iinteesely competitive semiconduc
industry, including the DRAM and Flash markets, ethhave been characterized by price erosion, taplthological change, short product
life, cyclical market patterns and heightened fgneind domestic competition. Significant technatagchanges in the industry could affect
operating results adversely.

Certain components that meet our requireésnare available only from a limited number of digygs. The rapid rate of technological
change and the necessity of developing and manufagtproducts with short lifecycles may intendifiese risks. The inability to obtain
components as required, or to develop alternativeces, if and as required in the future, couldltén delays or reductions in product
shipments, which in turn could have a material aslyeffect on our business, financial conditiosphes of operations or cash flows.

81




Table of Contents

FORMFACTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT (Continue d)
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)
Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when persuasive evéeha sales arrangement exists, delivery hasri@tor services are rendered, the sales
price or fee is fixed or determinable and colleiiighis reasonably assured. In instances wheral facceptance of the product, system, or
solution is specified by the customer, revenueefeided until all acceptance criteria have been met

We offer product maintenance and repaaragements to our customers. Amounts due from cues®onder these arrangements are
initially recorded as deferred revenues. The feesecognized as revenue on a straight-line bagistbe service period and related costs are
recorded as incurred.

In multiple element arrangements, we deigenwhether there is more than one unit of accogniVhen a sale involves multiple eleme
such as products sold along with services, theeefae from the arrangement is allocated to eashective element based on its relative fair
value and recognized when revenue recognitionri@ifer each element are met. The amount of reveacegnized in a given period is affec
by our judgment as to whether an arrangement irsludultiple elements and, if so, whether evideridaipvalue exists. Changes to the
elements in an arrangement and our ability to distafair value for those elements could affecttih@ng of the revenue recognition.

Revenues from the licensing of our desigth @manufacturing technology, which have not beetera to date, are recognized over the
term of the license agreement or when the sigmificantractual obligations have been fulfilled.

Warranty Accrual

We offer warranties on certain products eabrd a liability for the estimated future coas$sociated with warranty claims, which is based
upon historical experience and our estimate ofdiiel of future costs. Warranty costs are refledtethe Statement of Operations as a cost of
revenues. A reconciliation of the changes in ouraray liability is as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended

December 25, December 26,
2010 2009
Warranty accrual beginning balar $ 73z % 1,09¢
Accrual for warranties issue
during the yea 42¢ 46¢
Settlements made during the yi (727) (83E)
Warranty accrual ending balan $ 43¢ % 73z

Research and Development

Research and development expenses inchpnses related to product development, enginearidgnaterial costs. All research and
development costs are expensed as incurred.
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

A majority of our trade receivables areidl from sales to large multinational semiconduatanufacturers throughout the world. In
order to monitor potential credit losses, we perfangoing credit evaluations of our customers'rfaial condition. An allowance for doubtful
accounts is maintained for probable credit lossagt upon our assessment of the expected colligtabiall accounts receivable. The
allowance for doubtful accounts is reviewed on artgrly basis to assess the adequacy of the allmevale take into consideration (1) any
circumstances of which we are aware of a custormatslity to meet its financial obligations, ar@) ur judgments as to prevailing economic
conditions in the industry and their impact on oustomers. If circumstances change, and the finahnondition of our customers are advers
affected and they are unable to meet their findrdibgations to us, we may need to take additi@lawances, which would result in an
increase in our net loss.

We recorded a provision for doubtful acdswf $5.0 million in fiscal 2009 primarily due tioe heightened risk of non-payment of
accounts receivable by certain customers that Ebetkruptcy or those that were facing financiafidifity. In fiscal 2010, we recorded
additional allowance for doubtful accounts in theoaint of $0.3 million for accounts determined toupeollectible and we released
$8.7 million of allowance for doubtful accountsmdrily due to a reduction of $6.7 million relatedthe dismissal of a complaint against a
customer resulting in the write-off of previousserved accounts receivable, a wateef $0.5 million uncollectable debts that wagyipusly
reserved and receipt of payments totaling approddin&21.4 million for accounts receivable that vpasviously reserved. The allowance for
doubtful accounts consisted of the following adyivor fiscal years ended December 25, 2010, Deesr26, 2009 and December 27, 2008 (in
thousands):

Balance at Balance a
Beginning of End of
Year Additions Deductions Year
Allowance for
doubtful
accounts
receivable

Fiscal year ende

December 27,

2008 $ 74 $ 4,63t $ (489) $ 4,2
Fiscal year ende

December 26,

2009 4,22( 5,04( — 9,26(
Fiscal year ende

December 25,

2010 9,26( 31t (8,729 847

Restructuring Charges

Restructuring charges include costs reladegmployee termination benefits, cost of longethassets abandoned or impaired, as well as
contract termination costs. The determination oéwive accrue for employee termination benefitsvaimdh standard applies depends on
whether the termination benefits are provided urdene-time benefit arrangement or under an onggoémefit arrangement. For restructuring
charges recorded as an on-going benefit arrangemédability for postemployment benefits is recorded when payment ibgiste, the amoul
is reasonably estimable, and the obligation reletefghts that have vested or accumulated. Fdruetsiring charges recorded as a one-time
benefit arrangement, we recognize a liability forpdoyee termination benefits when a plan of termiéama approved by management and
establishing the terms of the benefit arrangentead,been communicated to employees. The timinlgeofecognition of one-time employee
termination benefits is dependent upon the perfadre the employees are required to render semfies
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communication. If employees are not required taeerservice in order to receive the terminationgfién or if employees will not be retained
to render service beyond the minimum legal notifaraperiod, a liability for the termination bertsfis recognized at the communication date.
In instances where employees will be retained naee service beyond the minimum legal notificatiemiod, the liability for employee
termination benefits is measured initially at tloenenunication date based on the fair value of teility as of the termination date and is
recognized ratably over the future service perid.continually evaluate the adequacy of the remgitiabilities under our restructuring
initiatives.

We record charges related to long-livecssto be abandoned when the assets cease tocb@\sen we cease using a building or other
asset with remaining non-cancellable lease paynoemtnuing past our use period, we record a ligtlibr remaining payments under lease
arrangements, as well as for contract terminatasis; that will continue to be incurred under ateamt for its remaining term without
economic benefit to us at the cease-use date.

Income Taxes

We utilize the asset and liability methddocounting for income taxes, under which defetee@s are determined based on the temporan
differences between the financial statement and#ais of assets and liabilities using tax ratgeeeted to be in effect during the years in w
the basis differences reverse and for operatirgekand tax credit carryforwards. We estimate oavigion for income taxes and amounts
ultimately payable or recoverable in numerous tadsdlictions around the world. Estimates involveeipretations of regulations and are
inherently complex. Resolution of income tax treams in individual jurisdictions may not be knovan fany years after completion of any
fiscal year. We are required to evaluate the rahliity of our deferred tax assets on an ongoirgid determine whether there is a need for a
valuation allowance with respect to such defereedatssets. A valuation allowance is recorded whismmnore likely than not that some of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. Significaanagement judgment is required in determinmgwaluation allowance recorded against
deferred tax assets. In evaluating the abilityetmorer deferred tax assets, we consider availaiditiye and negative evidence giving greater
weight to our recent cumulative losses and ouiitghd carryback losses against prior taxable ine@nd, commensurate with objective
verifiability, the forecast of future taxable incerincluding the reversal of temporary differenced the implementation of feasible and pruc
tax planning strategies.

We recognize and measure uncertain taxipositaken or expected to be taken in a tax refutis more likely than not that the tax
position will be sustained on examination by theértg authorities, based on the technical meritthefposition. The tax benefits recognized in
the consolidated financial statements from suclitipas are then measured based on the largestibdrafhas a greater than 50 percent
likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settleth&Ve report a liability for unrecognized tax bétseresulting from uncertain tax positions
taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. Wjlesathese reserves in light of changing facts@raimstances, such as the closing of a tax
audit or the refinement of an estimate. To therm@xdieat the final tax outcome of these matterdffer@nt than the amounts recorded, such
differences will impact the provision for incomeés in the period in which such determination iglend'he provision for income taxes
includes the impact of reserve provisions and chaitg reserves that are considered appropriateelaas the related net interest. We
recognize interest and penalties related to unrgzed tax benefits
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within the income tax provision. Accrued interestigenalties are included within the related takility line in the consolidated balance sh

We file annual income tax returns in mudifaxing jurisdictions around the world. A numloélyears may elapse before an uncertain tax
position is audited and finally resolved. Whilésibften difficult to predict the final outcome tire timing of resolution of any particular
uncertain tax position, we believe that our resefee income taxes reflect the most likely outcomke adjust these reserves, as well as the
related interest, in light of changing facts andwinstances. Settlement of any particular posttimund require the use of cash.

Stock-based Compensation

We recognize compensation expense fot@ksbased awards based on the grant-date estifatalues, net of an estimated forfeiture
rate. The value of the portion of the award thatlfisnately expected to vest is recognized as expeatably over the requisite service periods
in our Consolidated Statement of Operations. Thevédue of stock options is measured using theBfacholes option pricing model while 1
fair value for restricted stock awards and resdcitock units is measured based on the closingaharice of our common stock on the dat
grant.

Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share available to comsatockholders is computed by dividing net losslatsée to common stockholders by the
weighted average number of common shares outsigfatinhe period. Diluted net income per shareoimputed giving effect to all potential
dilutive common stock, including options, warraatel common stock subject to repurchase.
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A reconciliation of the numerator and deivtator used in the calculation of basic and dilutetiloss per share is as follows (in
thousands):

Fiscal Years Endec

December 25 December 26 December 27
2010 2009 2008
Basic net loss pe
share
Numerator:
Net loss $ (188,28) $ (155,65) $ (80,62))

Denominator
Weighted average
common stock
outstanding 50,24¢ 49,48: 48,90¢

Weighted average
shares used in
computing basic

net loss per shal 50,24¢ 49,48: 48,90¢
Diluted net loss pel
share
Numerator:
Net loss $ (188,28) $ (155,65) $ (80,62)

Denominator
Weighted average

shares used in

computing basic

net loss per shal 50,24¢ 49,48: 48,90¢
Add stock options,

restricted stock,

ESPP, warrants

and common

stock subject to

repurchasi — — —

Weighted averag
shares used in
computing diluter
net loss per shal 50,24¢ 49,48: 48,90¢

The following table sets forth the weightarage potentially dilutive securities excludemhf the computation in the table above bec:i
their effect would have been anti-dilutive (in tisands):

Fiscal Years Endec

December 25 December 26 December 27
2010 2009 2008

Stock options 5,021 5,25¢ 6,77t
ESPF 65 12: 161
Restricted stoc

units 86¢< 27 40
Total potentially

dilutive securities 5,95k 5,40¢ 6,97¢

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss includes net loss, doreurrency translation adjustments and unrealiggads (losses) on available-feale securitie
the impact of which has been excluded from net dwskreflected as components of stockholders'yc
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Components of accumulated other compretieriscome was as follows (in thousands):

December 25, December 26,
2010 2009
Unrealized gain (loss) on
marketable securities, net of ta
of $299 in fiscal 2010 and fisca
2009, respectivel $ (13¢) $ 99
Cumulative translation adjustmel 2,16: 1,15¢
Accumulated other comprehensiy
income $ 2,027 $ 1,25:

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In April 2010, an update to amend the gngdaon the milestone method in revenue recognitias issued. The amendment provides
guidance on the criteria that should be met foeiheining whether the milestone method of revenaegaition is appropriate in research or
development transactions. The amendment is effectiva prospective basis for milestones achievéiddal years, and interim periods within
those years, beginning on or after June 15, 20aW¥ currently evaluating the impact of adopthig amendment on our consolidated
financial statements.

In January 2010, guidance to amend thdadisoe requirements related to recurring and nanrrgxy fair value measurements was issued.
The guidance requires new disclosures on the &ansf assets and liabilities between Level 1 (gdiqrices in active market for identical
assets or liabilities) and Level 2 (significant@tlobservable inputs) of the fair value measurerh@marchy, including the reasons and the
timing of the transfers. Additionally, the guidarreguires a roll forward of activities on purchgssses, issuance, and settlements of the asset
and liabilities measured using significant unobabte inputs (Level 3 fair value measurements). Jiidance is effective for interim or annual
financial reporting periods beginning after Decenibig 2009, except for the disclosures about puehasales, issuances and settlements
roll forward activity in Level 3 fair value measunents, which are effective for fiscal years begignafter December 15, 2010 and for interim
periods within those fiscal years. Therefore, weehaot yet adopted the guidance with respect tadhéorward activity in Level 3 fair value
measurements. Other than requiring additional déscles, adoption of this new guidance in the fjtstrter of fiscal 2010 did not have a
material impact on our consolidated financial stegats.

In September 2009, additional authoritajueélance that modifies accounting for revenuersgeanents with multiple deliverables was
issued. The guidance eliminates the residual methoglvenue recognition and allows the use of @imesed selling price for undelivered
elements for purposes of separating elements iadlird multiple-element arrangements and allocaaimgngement consideration when neither
vendor-specific objective evidence nor acceptdtilel{party evidence of the selling price of the elikred element are available. We have
adopted this guidance effective with the first qeraof fiscal 2011 and will be applied on a progpecbasis for revenue arrangements entered
into or materially modified after the adoption dakis standard could alter the timing of how weorel revenue for future arrangements,
however we do not anticipate that the adoption ale a material impact on our consolidated fir@rmosition, results of operations, or cash
flows based on current business practices.
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Marketable securities at December 25, 2@ isted of the following (in thousands):

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
U. S. treasun $ 105,510 $ 372 % (20) $ 105,86!
Agency
securities 108,36: 36 (224) 108,17:
Commercial
paper 11,98¢ 2 - 11,99¢(

$ 225,86: $ 41C $ (244) $ 226,02t

Marketable securities at December 26, 2@80%sisted of the following (in thousands):

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
U. S. treasun $ 135,06. $ 30C $ (67) $ 135,29:
Agency
securities 172,67( 33¢ (192) 172,81°
Commercial
paper 16,99: — — 16,99:
Obligations of
states and
political
subdivision: 2,071 18 — 2,08¢

$32679% $ 657 $ (259 $ 327,19

We typically invest in highly-rated secig# with low probabilities of default. Our investnigoolicy requires investments to be rated
single-A or better, limits the types of acceptahlestments, concentration as to security holddrduration of the investment. The net
unrealized losses on the Company's investmentsdalf2010 and 2009, respectively, were causedgpiiyrby changes in interest rates. We
believe that the unrealized losses are not otter-tamporary. We do not have a foreseeable nelgglidate the portfolio and anticipate
recovering the full cost of the securities eithemnaarket conditions improve, or as the securitiatune.

The following table summarizes the grosseatized losses and fair value of those investmeittsunrealized losses, aggregated by
investment category and the length of time thaividdal securities has been in a continuous urzedlloss position as of December 25, 2010
(in thousands):

In Loss Position for In Loss Position for
Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total
Gross Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Value Loss Fair Value Loss Fair Value Loss
U. S. treasun $ 34,94: $ (20) $ — $ — $ 3494 $ (20
Agency securitie 65,98¢ (224) — — 65,98¢ (229)
$ 100,93. $ (244 $ — 3 — $100,93: $§ (2449
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The following table summarizes the grosealized losses and fair value of those investmeittsunrealized losses, aggregated by

investment category and the length of time thaividdal securities has been in a continuous urzedlioss position as of December 26, 2009
(in thousands):

In Loss Position for In Loss Position for
Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total
Gross Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Value Loss Fair Value Loss Fair Value Loss
U. S. treasun $ 54,86 $ (67) $ — $ — $ 54,86 $ (67)
Agency securitie 72,47 (192) — — 72,47 (192)
$ 12733 $ (259 $ — 3 — $ 127,33 $§ (259

The contractual maturities of marketableusities as of December 25, 2010 and December@® @ere as follows (in thousands):

December 25, 2010 December 26, 2009
Amortized Fair Amortized Fair
Cost Value Cost Value
Due in one
yearorles: $ 110,847 $ 111,02( $ 186,80¢ $ 187,07:
Due in one
year to five
years 115,01! 115,00¢ 139,98¢ 140,11¢

$ 225,86 $ 226,02¢ $ 326,79: $ 327,19:

Realized gains on sales or maturities aketable securities were $0.1 million, $18,000 &Ad million for fiscal 2010, fiscal 2009 and
fiscal 2008, respectively.

Asset Retirement Obligations

We account for the fair value of a lialyilfor an asset retirement obligation to be recogphin the period in which it is incurred if a
reasonable estimate of fair value can be madefdihealue of the liability is added to the carrginmount of the associated asset and this
additional carrying amount is amortized over tffie &if the asset. Our retirement obligation is aisged with our commitment to return prope
subject to operating leases in Taiwan, South Karepan and Singapore to their original conditioarulgase termination. We have estimated
that as of December 25, 2010, gross expected fotagle flows of approximately $3.2 million would teguired to fulfill these obligations.

The carrying amount of the leasehold improents resulting from asset retirement obligatisriseing amortized over the term of the
related lease. In connection with our Q3 2010 Resitring Plan, we recorded impairment charges d #iillion to write down the carrying
amount of leasehold improvements associated wibtastirement obligations in our Singapore martufawy facility. This impairment charge
was included within "Restructuring charges, nettha Consolidated Statements of Operations. Dutiediscal years ended December 25,
2010, December 26, 2009, and December 27, 2008pxpmtely $24,000, $0.4 million and $0.2 milliohthe leasehold improvements were
amortized to expense, respectively.
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The following is a reconciliation of thegrggate retirement liability associated with oumoeitment to return property to its original
condition upon lease termination included in norent "Deferred rent and other liabilities" in tBensolidated Balance Sheets (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Endec

December 25 December 26
2010 2009

Asset retirement obligation

beginning balanc $ 2,35( $ 1,89:
Initial amount recorded for ne

asset retirement obligatic 26k 31k
Liabilities settlec (459) —
Increase based on revised estim.

of asset retirement obligatio 70z —
Accretion expens 241 142
Asset retirement obligation endil

balance $ 3,108 $ 2,35(

Inventories
Inventories consisted of the following {irousands):

Fiscal Years Endec

December 25 December 26
2010 2009
Raw materials $ 2,73¢ $ 2,40¢
Work-in-progress 16,80" 11,457
Finished goods
Deferred cost of revent 761 6,097
Manufactured finished goo« 5,46( 5,58¢

$ 25,76 $ 25,54¢
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Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consisted of thiefiohg (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended

December 25 December 26
2010 2009
Machinery and equipme| $ 11584 $ 115,93t
Computer equipment and softws 35,49: 34,81(
Furniture and fixture 6,18( 7,172
Leasehold improvemen 69,93/ 71,81¢
227,45: 229,73t
Less: Accumulated depreciation,
amortization and enterprise-wic
impairment (207,99) (146,36Y)
19,46: 83,37
Constructio-in-progress 17,84¢ 14,38

$ 37,317 % 97,75¢

In fiscal 2010 and fiscal 2009, we wrotéfafly depreciated assets with an acquired co$68 million and $4.1 million, respectively.

As discussed in Note 6—Impairment of Loivged Assets of the Notes to the Consolidated FiizduStatements, in fiscal 2010 we
recorded aggregated impairment charges of $65I®bmiincluding $64.1 million and $1.1 million torite down the carrying values of certain
property and equipment and intangible assets, cdgps. In fiscal 2009 and 2008, we recorded imp&int charges totaling $1.7 million and
$5.5 million, respectively.

Depreciation and amortization of propemy &quipment, excluding the impairments discusede, for the fiscal years ended
December 25, 2010, December 26, 2009, and Dece?ib@008 was approximately $26.4 million, $32.2lioil and $32.3 million,
respectively.

Accrued Liabilities
Accrued liabilities consisted of the follmg (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended

December 25, December 26,
2010 2009

Accrued compensation and bene $ 14,72¢ $ 11,32
Accrued commission 562 69t
Accrued warrant 43: 732
Secured borrowin — 3,48(
Deferred ren 20C 46¢
Accrued restructurin 1,83¢ 1,04¢
Other accrued expens 6,292 5,66¢

$ 24,04 $ 23,417
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In November 2009, we sold all rights, teled interest in a customer's bankruptcy claimttard party in exchange for net proceeds of
than full value of the asserted claim. The proceeeie accounted for as a secured borrowing andded within "Accrued liabilities" in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 26, 200@dDber 8, 2010, we voluntarily dismissed our claimp against this customer. As a
result, we have released the amounts previoustyrded as a secured borrowing and recorded a g&i.6fmillion in "Other income
(expense), net" in the Consolidated Statementspef&ions in the third quarter of fiscal 2010.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, wesed the utilization of one facility in Livermoradhour facility in Singapore that was expected to
be utilized for our manufacturing operations. Imeection with these decisions, we accrued liabgitotaling $0.7 million comprised of
$0.3 million and $0.4 million for the remaining &aobligations that will continue to be incurredlenoperating lease contracts of the
Livermore and Singapore facilities, respectiveliie™0.4 million charge relating to our Singapomlity was recorded as additional
restructuring charges in connection with our Q3@B&structuring Plan, as discussed in Note 4—Rasiing Charges of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Note 4—Restructuring Charges

We implemented two restructuring plansisedl 2009 which included reductions of our work®and consolidation of our facilities. The
restructuring plans were designed to improve o@raiing efficiency. All expenses associated withrestructuring plans are included in
"Restructuring charges, net" in the ConsolidatedeBtents of Operations.

In the first quarter of fiscal 2009, we ii@mented a global reorganization and cost redugdian (the "Q1 2009 Restructuring Plan™)
designed to lower our cash breakeven level in tlmeeat market environment. The Q1 2009 Restruogufilan extended the global cost
reduction plans implemented during fiscal 2008 mwetuded workforce reductions of 178 employees apracross all functions of the
organization. The Q1 2009 Restructuring Plan aistuded other actions such as the elimination of@#ractor positions as well as non-
replacement of certain voluntary employee termoreti We recorded $7.7 million in charges for thistructuring plan in the first quarter of
fiscal 2009, of which $7.3 million related to semece and related benefits and $0.4 million relédedrite-down of certain assets taken out of
service. We incurred approximately $0.3 milliorcomnection with this restructuring plan in the setquarter of fiscal 2009 related to
severance and related benefits.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, weurred restructuring charges of $0.8 million, rethto a further reduction of 10 employees in our
global workforce in an effort to lower our quariedperating expense run rate.

The restructuring plans we implementeddodl 2010 are discussed below.
Q1 2010 Restructuring Plan

In the first quarter of fiscal 2010, we il@mented a restructuring plan (the "Q1 2010 Resiring Plan") intended to align resources in
continuation of our global regionalization stratégyplace more decision-making in regions closeuwosemiconductor customers. As part of
this regionalization strategy, we initiated the nimgvof certain assembly and test operations frombagk-end manufacturing processes in
Livermore, California to Asia, and planned to brimg and
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qualify our back-end manufacturing operations img@pore. As a result of this restructuring plarr,warldwide headcount was expected to be
reduced by 106 full-time employees. The actividemprising this reduction in force were expectetiéacompleted by the end of the first
quarter of fiscal 2011.

We recorded $3.4 million in charges for @i 2010 Restructuring Plan in fiscal 2010, whickswvall related to severance and related
benefits.

Q2 2010 Restructuring Plan

In the second quarter of fiscal 2010, wecamced a series of corporate initiatives, inclgdirreduction in workforce, which represented a
renewed focus on streamlining and simplifying opemtions as well as reducing our quarterly opegatbsts (the "Q2 2010 Restructuring
Plan"). These actions included reducing the scdpleeopreviously contemplated manufacturing operegiin Korea, resulting in a reduction of
workforce of 16 employees related to the assemfudijtast function, and undertaking a plan to resthiedoreviously issued severance
arrangements for certain employees impacted b@th2010 Restructuring Plan. As a result of thigissson plan, as of June 26, 2010, we had
reversed the existing accrual for certain of theesgnce costs booked in conjunction with the Q102Ré&structuring Plan, of $3.3 million,
including the accrued retention bonus to date. 8September 25, 2010, we completed this rescigdimm

Additionally, the reduction in workforce jpacted 67 employees spread across all functiotieeafrganization to further streamline and
simplify our operations and reduce operating coite. activities comprising this reduction in forgere substantially completed by the end of
fiscal 2010.

We recorded $4.8 million in charges foresawce and related benefits, and $1.0 million fopprty and equipment impairments for the
Q2 2010 Restructuring Plan in fiscal 2010, respebti The impairment charges were related to theainment of certain equipment and
software assets related to our assembly and tesatipns in Korea that would no longer be utilized.

Q3 2010 Restructuring Plan

In the third quarter of fiscal 2010, we aanced a restructuring plan (the "Q3 2010 RestrigPlan™) to cease the transition of
manufacturing operations to Singapore. This degisésulted in a reduction in force of 60 employgarily at our Singapore facility. The
manufacturing activities that were scheduled térbesitioned to Singapore will remain in Livermoaad Livermore will continue as the
primary manufacturing operating location for then@any. The Company expects that the activities cmimg this reduction in force will be
substantially completed by the end of the firstrtpreof fiscal 2011. In addition, we ceased thézatiion of a portion of the facility in
Singapore that was expected to be utilized formpanufacturing operations in the fourth quarterieddl 2010 as additional restructuring action
in connection with our Q3 2010 Restructuring Plan.

In fiscal 2010, we recorded $1.2 milliom fbe Q3 2010 Restructuring Plan for severanceralated benefits, $7.8 million impairment
charges for certain equipment and leasehold impnewds, including assets related to asset retireotgigtations, in Singapore that would no
longer be utilized and $0.4 million in chargestfoe remaining lease obligations that will contitade incurred under operating lease cont
of the Singapore facilities. In addition, due te tombined effect of the significant change in lousiness strategy in connection with the
Q3 2010 Restructuring Plan, recurring operatingdssand the sustained decline in the Company'k ptare, we reviewed the recoverability
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of our long-lived assets in the third quarter stél 2010, as discussed in Note 6—Impairment oftlored Assets of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Q4 2010 Restructuring Plan

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, weplemented a restructuring plan (the "Q4 2010 Regiring Plan®) including reducing our global
workforce by 10 employees across the organizatéarecorded $0.6 million in charges for severankralated benefits in fiscal 2010. We
expect that the activities comprising this redutiio force will be substantially completed by thelef the first quarter of fiscal 2011.

The following table summarizes the actestrelated to the restructuring actions of fis€dl®(in thousands):

Employee Property Contract
Severance and and Equipment  Termination
Benefits Impairment and Other Total

Accrual at

December :

2007 $ — $ — $ — % _
Restructurin

charges 7,62¢ 1,113 41F 9,157
Cash

payments (6,9072) — (344) (7,240
Non-cash

settlement (65C) (1,113 — (1,769
Accrual at

December :

2008 77 — 71 14¢
Restructurin

charges 8,41¢ 36¢€ (5) 8,78
Cash

payments (7,30€6) — 10 (7,290
Non-cash

settlement (217) (36€) — (583

Accrual at

December :

2009 97¢ — 76 1,04¢
Restructurin

charges 10,057 8,781 411 19,25¢
Reversal o

charges

for

Q1 2010

Restructut

Plan (3,282) — — (3,289
Adjustments

to

restructuri

charges — — (76) (76)
Cash

payments (6,189 — — (6,189
Non-cash

settlement (182 (8,787 40 (8,929
Accrual at

December :

2010 $ 1,382 $ — $ 451 $ 1,83:




The liabilities we have accrued represemthest estimate of the obligations we expect ¢arimnd could be subject to adjustment as
market conditions change. The cash payments assdeidth our various reductions in force are expddb be paid by the end of the first
quarter of fiscal 2011. As such, the restructuangrual is recorded as a current liability withikctrued liabilities" in the Consolidated Balal
Sheets. Restructuring charges are reflected sepaes "Restructuring charges, net" in the Constdid Statements of Operations.
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We operate and sell our products in varglobal markets. As a result, we are exposed tagdsin foreign currency exchange rates. We
utilize foreign currency forward contracts to hedgginst future movements in foreign exchange thtsaffect certain existing foreign
currency denominated assets and liabilities. Utlderprogram, our strategy is to have increaseteoreases in our foreign currency exposures
offset by gains or losses on the foreign curremewérd contracts to mitigate the risks and volgtidissociated with foreign currency transac
gains or losses. We do not use derivative finano&uments for speculative or trading purposas. @rivative instruments, which are
generally settled in the same quarter, are nogdaged as hedging instruments. We record the &iirevof these contracts as of the end of our
reporting period to our Consolidated Balance Sttt changes in fair value recorded within "Othecame (expense), net" in our
Consolidated Statement of Operations for both zedliand unrealized gains and losses.

As of December 25, 2010, there were thréstanding foreign exchange forward contracts laJapanese Yen, Korean Won and to buy
Taiwan Dollars. The following tables provide infaation about our foreign currency forward contramitstanding as of December 25, 2010
and December 26, 2009:

Contract Amount Contract Amount
As of December 25, 2010 (Local Currency) (U.S. Dollar)
(In thousands)
Japanese Ye 508,14¢( $ 6,11¢
Taiwan Dollar (31,35¢) (1,067
Korean Wor 3,754,68. 3,24¢
Total USD notional amour
of outstanding foreign
exchange contrac $ 8,30«
Contract Amount Contract Amount
As of December 26, 200 (Local Currency) (U.S. Dollar)
(In thousands)
Japanese Ye 1,293,80. $ 14,09:
Taiwan Dollar 19,777 614
Korean Wor 2,470,87! 2,09¢
Total USD notional amour
of outstanding foreign
exchange contrac $ 16,80z

The contracts outstanding at December @50 2vere entered into on December 24, 2010 andrathtin December 28, 2010. Our foreign
currency contracts are classified within Level 2haf fair value hierarchy as they are valued upiiging models that utilize observable market
inputs. There was no change in the value of thes&racts as of December 25, 2010. Additionallygams or losses relating to the outstanding
derivative contracts as of December 25, 2010 arcedber 26, 2009 were recorded during the respefisival periods.
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The location and amount of losses relatetbn-designated derivative instruments that mdturehe years ended December 25, 2010 and
December 26, 2009 in the Consolidated Stateme@pefations are as follows (in thousands):

Location of Loss Recognizer  Losses Recognized on Derivative

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instrument on Derivatives FY2010 FY2009
Foreign exchange forward contracts Other Income
(expense), ne $ (2,049 $ (760)

Note 6—Impairment of Long-lived Assets
The following table summarizes the compaser the impairments that we recorded in fiscdl@®009 and 2008 (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Endec

December 25, December 26, December 27,
2010 2009 2008
Impairment of long:
lived assets
Restructuring $ 8,781 $ 36€ $ 1,11
Assets held for
sale 342 1,00(¢ —
Assets to be
disposed of
other than sal 2,95¢ 28¢ 4,40(
Intangible assel 1,082 — —
Enterpris-wide
impairment 52,02 — —
Total $ 65,18¢ $ 1,65 $ 5,51:

Restructuring

In conjunction with the Q2 2010 RestruatgrPlan discussed in Note 4—Restructuring Chasgesecorded an impairment charge of
approximately $1.0 million in fiscal 2010 to wribdf certain equipment and software assets relatedit assembly and test operations in Korea
that would no longer be utilized.

As discussed in Note 4—Restructuring Chgrgeconjunction with the Q3 2010 RestructuringrRiwe recorded an impairment charge of
$7.8 million for certain assets related to our &pmye manufacturing operations in fiscal 2010. Tiisairment was comprised primarily of
$5.8 million for leasehold improvements, $0.6 moiflifor manufacturing equipment and $0.6 million $oftware and system assets related to
the manufacturing operations that will be takendafigervice or abandoned, as well as $0.8 millmadjust the carrying amount of certain
equipment determined to be held for sale.

In conjunction with the restructuring actothat we implemented in fiscal 2009 and 2008rawerded impairment charges of $0.4 million
in the first quarter of fiscal 2009 related to aeertassets that were taken out of service andr#illibn in the second quarter of fiscal 2008
related to the consolidation of a facility in Liveore, California.

All of these charges were included withReStructuring charges, net" in the Consolidatete8tants of Operations in their respective
periods.
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Assets held for sale

In the third quarter of fiscal 2010, weasted aggregated impairment charges of $0.3 miliczonjunction with the write down of a
building held for sale to its estimated fair valrel certain furniture and fixtures at our Liverméaeility that were determined to be held for
sale. These impairments were included within "Impant of long-lived assets" in the Consolidatededteents of Operations for fiscal 2010.

In fiscal 2009, we recorded impairment ¢fesrof $1.0 million related to certain equipmeiat tvas determined to be held for sale. The
impairment charges were originally recorded throt@bst of revenues” in the Consolidated Statemé&ftperations in our Form 1B-filed for
fiscal 2009. However this amount has been reclassi "Impairment of long-lived assets" in the Golidated Statement of Operations for
fiscal 2009 in this Form 10-K to conform with therent period presentation of asset impairments.

Assets to be disposed of other than sale

In the second quarter of fiscal 2010, weorded an impairment charge of $1.0 million relatethe termination of an on-going
construction-in-progress project. In the third qeaof fiscal 2010, we recorded an impairment chafy$2.0 million for certain assets to be
disposed of other than sale, which was comprisethampairment of $0.3 million related to certadasehold improvements that will be
abandoned as a result of the consolidation of @jgace in Livermore and an impairment of $1.7iomilfelated to certain construction-in-
progress projects for the development and builshafufacturing equipment as well as additional eela&quipment that was in-service and was
identified as excess capacity. These projects teenainated during the quarter ended September®H) and as a result these assets were fully
impaired. All of these charges are included in "&inment of longlived assets" in the Consolidated Statements of&@joas for their respecti
periods.

In fiscal 2009, we recorded an impairmer@3 million related to the termination of certain-going projects that were in construction-
in-progress. This impairment charge was originedigorded through "Cost of revenues” in the Conatdid Statement of Operations in the
Form 10-K filed for fiscal 2009. However, this anmbinas been reclassified to "Impairment of longdhassets" in the Consolidated Statement
of Operations for fiscal 2009 in this Form 10-Kcamnform with the current period presentation oeagmpairments.

In fiscal 2008, we recorded an impairmer44 million related to construction in-progresssets in Singapore in conjunction with our
decision not to proceed with the construction ofa manufacturing facility at the proposed sit&ingapore. This impairment charge is
included in "Impairment of long-lived assets" iretGonsolidated Statements of Operations for fi26aB.

Intangible assets

During fiscal 2010, the combination of \oaur$ factors, including our renewed focus on sirgpl and refocusing our operations on our
core competencies, resulted in our decision togeddforts geared at licensing and marketing tlfievaoe underlying certain of our intangible
assets related to precision motion control autamatiat were acquired in conjunction with our aegign of certain assets from
Electroglas, Inc. in 2009 through a bankruptcy pesting. As a result, we performed an impairmenlyaisof these purchased intangible
assets during the third quarter of fiscal 2010 and
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recorded an impairment charge of $1.1 million fo& tarrying amount of the impaired assets. The imm@et charge was included in
"Impairment of long-lived assets" in the ConsolathStatements of Operations.

Enterprise-wide impairment

At the end of the third quarter of fisc8l1D, in addition to the specific impairments disadtsabove, we determined that an enterprisie-
impairment analysis of our long-lived assets waglired due to the combined effect of a sustainetirdein the Company's stock price, a
significant change in our business strategy in ectian with the Q3 2010 Restructuring Plan, andiméicg operating losses and net cash
outflows from operations. Accordingly, managemeniewed the recoverability of its long-lived asdatthe third quarter of fiscal 2010.

We determined our long-lived asset groupamur consolidated long-lived assets as we hatermined that we operate as one reporting
unit and segment. This asset group includes prppad equipment, as well as purchased intangilsletasThe recoverability of assets to be
held and used was measured by comparing the cgraymount of these assets, after adjustment forahieus specific impairments discussed
above, to the estimated undiscounted future castsfexpected to be generated by the assets. ¢hatinging amount of the asset exceeds its
estimated undiscounted future net cash flows, grairment charge is recognized by the amount by lwtiie carrying amount of the asset
exceeds the fair value of the asset.

As a result, we concluded that our business not able to fully recover the carrying amoofnbur assets. Accordingly, we reviewed the
carrying amounts at September 25, 2010 of all oflang-lived assets for impairment. The review itvea estimating the fair value in an
exchange transaction of our asset group, compatriol fair value to the carrying amount of the agsetip, after adjustment for the various
specific impairments discussed above, and recolidipgirment charges to reduce the pre-impairmemyicey amount of the asset group to its
estimated fair value.

Determining the fair value of an asset granit is judgmental in nature and requires theafsggnificant estimates and assumptions,
including current replacement costs, revenue groatibs and operating margins, and discount ratesng others. Accordingly, we were
required to make various estimates in determintegfair values of our asset group at Septembe2@HB). Where appropriate, we utilized a
market approach to estimate the fair value of eaperty and equipment. This approach includeddbkaetification of market prices in actual
transactions for similar assets based on askinggfor assets currently available for sale, as agebbtaining and reviewing certain direct
market values based quoted prices with manufactaned secondary market participants for similaiggant. However, due to the highly
customized nature of our manufacturing equipmenpriraarily utilized the cost approach to estimdite fair value of our property and
equipment. To determine the estimated fair valueunfproperty and equipment at September 25, 28djOstment factors, including cost trend
factors, were applied to each individual assettsiral cost in order to estimate current replacentest. The current replacement cost was then
adjusted for estimated deductions to recognizetfeets of deterioration and obsolescence frormsalises, as well as indirect costs such as
installation.

The estimated fair value of the purchaseahigible assets was determined based on a conanirmdttwo incomebased approaches, as-
combination was deemed to be the most indicative@fCompany's fair value in an orderly transachietween market participants. Under
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these two income approaches we determined faievadised on both the estimated future cash flowstigg from the licensing of the
technology underlying the intangible asset, as aglihe estimated future cash savings achievetbdhe avoidance of costs resulting from the
internal use of the underlying technology. Thereated cash flows in each approach were discountexh lestimated weighted-average cost of
capital which reflects the overall level of inhereisk of the enterprise and the rate of returmatside investor would expect to earn.

For each asset, we then compared the dstinfiair value to the individual asset's carryingoant to determine the amount of the
impairment charge. Based on this analysis, we dazban impairment charge of approximately $52.0ianilin the third quarter of fiscal 2010.
This charge, which was included in "Impairmentarfd-lived assets" in the Consolidated Statemen®pefrations, was comprised of
$27.7 million for leasehold improvements, $11.2lionl impairment for manufacturing equipment, $8.8ion impairment for computer
equipment and software, $4.4 million for constrotin-progress and $0.2 million for purchased igthle assets.

Note 7—Fair Value

We use fair value measurements to recardddue adjustments to certain financial and nima+ficial assets and to determine fair value
disclosures. Our marketable securities are findmasisets recorded at fair value on a recurringsb&ge also have a building held for sale in
Livermore, California as well as certain manufaictgrequipment held for sale, which are measurddiavalue on a non-recurring basis and
included within "Prepaid expenses and other curssets" in the accompanying Consolidated BalaheetS

The accounting standard for fair value miedifair value, establishes a framework for meaguir value in generally accepted accounting
principles, and requires disclosures about fain@aheasurements. Fair value is defined as the fhvétevould be received from selling an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly tracsion between market participants at the measuredae. When determining the fair value
measurements for assets and liabilities requirdetteecorded at fair value, we consider the prisoip most advantageous market in which we
would transact and consider assumptions that magdditipants would use when pricing the assetatility, such as inherent risk, transfer
restrictions, and risk of nonperformance. The antiog standard for fair value establishes a falu@dierarchy that requires an entity to
maximize the use of observable inputs and minirttizeuse of unobservable inputs when measuriny#ire. A financial instrument's
categorization within the fair value hierarchy asbd upon the lowest level of input that is sigaifit to the fair value measurement. The
standard describes a fair value hierarchy baseatree levels of inputs, the first two of which aensidered observable and the last
unobservable, that may be used to measure faievalu

. Level 3—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assetiabilities.
. Level z—Inputs, other than the quoted prices in active migrkhat are observable either directly or indiye
. Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supportedttig br no market activity and that are significém the fair value of the

assets or liabilities.
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We adopted the accounting standard fonfaine as of the beginning of our fiscal 2008 yfeaour financial assets and financial
liabilities, and as of the beginning of our 2008kl year as it related to nonrecurring fair vaheasurement requirements for non-financial
assets and liabilities.

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

We measure and report certain assets abitities at fair value on a recurring basis, imlthg money market funds, U.S. government
securities, agency securities, commercial papeatga@eign currency derivatives. The following tabkepresent the fair value hierarchy for our
financial assets (cash equivalents and marketailerisies):

Fair value measured on a recurring bastf 8ecember 25, 2010 (in thousands):

Level 1 Level 2 Total
(In thousands)

Cash equivalent

Money market fund $ 82,99¢ $ — $ 82,99¢

Commercial pape — 16,991 16,99
Marketable securitie

U. S. treasun — 105,86¢ 105,86

Agency securitie — 108,17 108,17:

Commercial pape — 11,99( 11,99(

$ 82,99¢ $ 243,01¢ $ 326,01!

Fair value measured on a recurring bastf 8ecember 26, 2009 (in thousands):

Level 1 Level 2 Total
(In thousands)

Cash equivalent

Money market fund $ 100,14! $ — $ 100,14!

Commercial pape — 5,00( 5,00(
Marketable securitie

U. S. treasun — 135,29 135,29:

Municipal bonds — 2,08¢ 2,08¢

Agency securitie — 172,81° 172,81°

Commercial pape — 16,99: 16,99:

$ 100,14 $ 332,19: $ 432,33

The Level 1 assets consist of our monekatdund deposits. The Level 2 assets consist oheailable-for-sale investment portfolio,
which are valued utilizing a market approach. Owestments are priced by pricing vendors who preidbservable inputs for their pricing
without applying significant judgments. Broker'scprg is used mainly when a quoted price is noilabe, the investment is not priced by our
pricing vendors or when a broker price is morea@fl/e of fair values in the market in which theestment trades. Our broker-priced
investments are labeled as Level 2 investmentsusedair values of these investments are basedilaisassets without applying
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significant judgments. In addition, all of our irstments have a sufficient level of trading volumelé¢monstrate that the fair values used are
appropriate for these investments.

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurringi8as

The following table represents the fairneahierarchy for our long-lived assets measurddiavalue on a nonrecurring basis at their
respective measurement dates (in thousands):

Total Losses

Level 2 Level 3 Total Fiscal 2010
Long-lived asset:
heldanduse $ 38,042 $ — $ 38,04 $ (52,02)
Long-lived asset:
held for sale 79C 38¢ 1,17¢ (1,229
Total $ 38,83 $§ 38S $ 39,227 $ (53,250

In conjunction with our enterprise-wide etsspairment analysis performed in the third geradf fiscal 2010, long-lived assets held and
used with a carrying amount of $90.0 million wenétten down to their estimated fair value of $3illion at September 25, 2010, in
accordance with the provisions for the impairmemdisposal of long-lived assets. The total impaiineharge of $52.0 million was included in
"Impairment of long-lived assets" in the Consola@thBtatement of Operations during the third quartdiscal 2010. The amounts in the table
above reflect the results of the non-recurring ¥aiue measurement as of the third quarter of 28%@f December 25, 2010, there have been
no additional non-recurring fair value measuremestociated with these assets, and the carryingranbthese assets have been reduced for
depreciation on the new carrying values in thetfogquarter of fiscal 2010, which is discussed inteN®—Balance Sheets Components of the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Stateme

At the end of fiscal 2009, we had a buigdand certain manufacturing equipment held for salévermore, California, which were
classified as Level 3 as we used unobservablesripuheir valuation reflecting our assumptiond tharket participants would use in pricing
this asset due to the absence of recent comparedilet transactions and inherent lack of liquiddyring fiscal 2010, we determined that the
carrying amount of the building that is held folesexceeded its estimated fair value. In accordavittethe provisions for the impairment or
disposal of long-lived assets, this building heldg$ale was written down to its estimated fair ealess estimated costs to sell, of $0.8 million,
resulting in a loss of $0.1 million, which was iaded in "Impairment of long-lived assets" in then€alidated Statement of Operations for
fiscal 2010. As of December 25, 2010, this buildiredd for sale was carried at $0.8 million. Becathweupdated estimated fair value of the
building was determined using inputs that refle¢texlassumptions market participants would useiging the building developed based on
market data obtained from sources independento€tdmpany, we transferred this building from Le¥¢b Level 2 in fiscal 2010.

In addition to the manufacturing equipmientivermore that had been previously identifiechatd for sale, during the third quarter of
fiscal 2010 we identified certain furniture andtfires that were determined to be held for salecbordance with the provisions for the
impairment or disposal of long-lived assets, ttfeseiture and fixtures were written down to thestimated fair value, less estimated costs to
sell, resulting in a loss of $0.2 million, which sveacluded in "Impairment of long-lived assets'tlie Consolidated Statement of Operations for
fiscal 2010. As of December 25,
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2010, our held for sale assets in Livermore weteaedhat $0.4 million and continued to be classifisd_evel 3 based on the fact that we used
unobservable inputs in their valuation reflecting assumptions that market participants would og@icing this asset due to the absence of
recent comparable market transactions and inh&ekof liquidity.

During the third quarter of fiscal 2010,conjunction with the Q3 2010 Restructuring Plaartain manufacturing equipment at our
Singapore facility were classified as held for s&leaccordance with the provisions for the impannor disposal of long-lived assets, this
equipment held for sale was written down to iténested fair value, less estimated costs to sedlltimg in a loss of $0.6 million, which was
included in "Restructuring charges, net" in the Sdidated Statement of Operations for fiscal 20a@he fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, we
recorded an additional charge of $0.3 million iresRucturing charges, net" to adjust these assé¢teir estimated fair value, less estimated
costs to sell, based on revised estimates and psechgreements with identified buyers. As of Dea#rdb, 2010, all such held for sale
equipment in Singapore had been sold.

The following table represents the fairueahierarchy for our long-lived assets measurddiavalue on a nonrecurring basis at
December 26, 2009 (in thousands):

Total Losses
Level 3 Fiscal 2009

Long-lived assets held for sa $ 1,46¢ $ (1,000
Total $ 1,46¢ $ (1,000

As of December 26, 2009, the building Heldsale at Livermore was valued at $0.9 milliord avas classified as Level 3 as we used
unobservable inputs in its valuation reflecting assumptions that market participants would ugiging this asset due to the absence of
recent comparable market transactions and inh&ekf liquidity. We also classified certain maacturing equipment as held for sale as of
December 26, 2009 and wrote the equipment dowts &stimated fair value, less estimated costsltorgsulting in a loss of $1.0 million.
These impairment charges were originally recortiedugh "Cost of revenues” in the Consolidated &tate of Operations in the Form 10-K
filed for fiscal 2009. However these impairment rgfes have been reclassified to "Impairment of lbwegd assets"” in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations in this Form 10-K for fls2@10 to conform with the current year presentattbasset impairment charges. The
manufacturing equipment held for sale was valuegDad million at December 26, 2009, which was dfeesbas Level 3 as we used
unobservable inputs in its valuation reflecting assumptions that market participants would ugiging this asset due to the absence of
observable market data on pricing and inherent ddidiquidity.

Our fair value processes include contriotg aire designed to ensure appropriate fair vatesecorded. Such controls include model
validation, review of key model inputs, and anadysi period-over-period fluctuations and independeoalculation of prices.

Note 8—Asset Acquisition

In October 2009, we completed the acquisitf certain assets from Electroglas, Inc. ("Eleghas"), a company under Chapter 11
bankruptcy protection in Delaware. Prior to thewasitjon, Electroglas was engaged in the supplyeshiconductor manufacturing equipment
and
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software to the semiconductor industry. The assegsired consisted of manufacturing and testingpegent, spare parts and components
related to the purchased equipment and intellegitcgderty assets representing developed technelglgis related to precision motion control
automation and all of the intellectual propertyhtgyof Electroglas, with the exception of certaademark rights. We believed that the
acquisition of these assets would enable us tdragmto improve our manufacturing efficiency andwide our customers with high quality €
products. The purchase price for the assets, imgudansaction costs, of approximately $11.8 wrillivas capitalized in the fourth quarter of
fiscal 2009.

Of the total purchase price, $3.6 millioasnallocated to property and equipment, $7.8 milias allocated to intellectual property assets,
and $0.4 million was allocated to other currenetss

As discussed in Note 6—Impairment of Loivgd Assets, we wrote off $1.1 million carrying am of certain purchased intellectually
property in the third quarter of fiscal 2010 andareled $0.2 million of impairment charge to the agmng intangible assets. At December 25,
2010, the carrying amount of our intangible asgets $4.4 million, with $5.9 million as the grossamt and $1.5 million as the accumulated
amortization. We recorded $1.7 million amortizatexpense for our intangible assets in fiscal 2@1®hich $1.3 million was charged to cost
of revenues and $0.4 million was charged to sellj@peral and administrative expense. The purchaseltectual property assets had a
weighted average remaining amortization period.8fy@ars at December 25, 2010. The intangible sissetincluded in "Other assets" in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Based on the intangible assets recorded Bscember 25, 2010, and assuming no subsequeitioag to or impairment of the underlyil
assets, the remaining estimated annual amortizakpanse is expected to be as follows (in thougands

Fiscal Year Amount
2011 $ 1,17¢
2012 1,17¢
2013 1,17¢
2014 88:¢
Total $ 4,42(

At December 26, 2009, the carrying amodmu intangible assets was $7.4 million, with $imBion as the gross amount and
$0.4 million as the accumulated amortization. Th®wdization of the purchased intellectual propexsgets was $0.4 million for fiscal 2009, of
which $0.3 million was charged to cost of revenaied $0.1 million was charged to selling, general administrative expense. The purchased
intellectual property assets had a weighted avesag®tization period of 4.5 years at December P692and the net book value was
$7.4 million at December 26, 2009.

Note 9—Commitments and Contingencies
Environmental Matters

We are subject to U.S. federal, state andl] and foreign governmental laws and regulatieteging to the protection of the environment,
including those governing the discharge of polltganto the air and water, the management and s&ppd hazardous substances and wastes,
the clean-up of
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contaminated sites and the maintenance of a salglase. We believe that we comply in all materedpects with the environmental laws and
regulations that apply to us, including those &f @alifornia Department of Toxic Substances Conthadd Bay Area Air Quality Management
District, the City of Livermore Water Resources Bign and the California Division of Occupationalf&y and Health. We did not receive
notices of violations of environmental laws andulagions in fiscal 2010. In fiscal 2009 we receiwete notice of violation from the City of
Livermore regarding a violation of certain appliatvaste water discharge limits. For the noticeenezd, we promptly investigated the
violation, took what we believed to be appropristeps to address the cause of the violation, aptemented corrective measures to prevent a
recurrence. No provision has been made for loga ovironmental remediation liabilities associatgth our facilities because we believe that
it is not probable that a liability has been inedras of December 25, 2010.

While we believe that we are in compliaircall material respects with the environmentaldaamd regulations that apply to us, in the
future, we may receive additional environmentalation notices, and if received, final resolutidrtiee violations identified by these notices
could harm our operations, which may adversely thpar operating results and cash flows. New lamé r@gulations, stricter enforcement of
existing laws and regulations, the discovery of/mesly unknown contamination at our or othergsivr the imposition of new cleanup
requirements could also harm our operations, tlyeaelersely impacting our operating results andh ¢asvs.

Contractual Obligations
The following table describes our commitihseto settle contractual obligations in cash aBetember 25, 2010:

Payments Due In Fiscal Years

2011 2012-2013 _2014-2015 _After 2015 Total
(In thousands)
Operating lease $ 3912 $ 5652 $ 5601 $ 14,97 $ 30,13}
Other purchase obligatiol 3,75¢ 44¢ — — $ 4,20¢
Total $ 7666 $ 6,096 $ 5601 $ 14,97 $ 34,33¢

We lease facilities under non-cancelablerafing leases with various expiration dates thho2@21. The facilities generally require us to
pay property taxes, insurance and maintenance. dagther, several lease agreements contain reatagi®n clauses or rent holidays. For
purposes of recognizing minimum rental expenses stnaight-line basis over the terms of the leasesjse the date of initial possession to
begin amortization. We have the option to extenteaew most of our leases which may increase theguminimum lease commitments.

Rent expense for the fiscal years endecdbber 25, 2010, December 26, 2009, and Decemb@0P8, was approximately $5.4 million,
$5.7 million and $6.0 million, respectively.

Other purchase obligations are primarilydorchases of inventory and manufacturing relatsgice contracts. For the purposes of this
table, other purchase obligations are defined eseagents that are enforceable and legally bindmbthat specify all significant terms,
including: fixed or minimum quantities to be purskd; fixed, minimum or variable price provisionsgdahe approximate timing of the
transaction. The expected timing of payment ofabkgations discussed above is
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estimated based on information available to us &eoember 25, 2010. Timing of payments and acdoaunts paid may be different
depending on the time of receipt of goods or ses/mr changes to agreed-upon amounts for someatibhg.

The table above excludes our gross lighitit unrecognized tax benefits, which totaled agpnately $17.5 million as of December 25,
2010 and are classified in deferred taxes and ddingrterm tax liabilities on our consolidated bada sheet. The timing of any payments which
could result from these unrecognized tax benefilsdepend upon a number of factors. Accordinghg timing of payment cannot be estime
and has been excluded from the table above. AoéMber 25, 2010, the changes to our uncertaipdsixions in the next 12 months, that are
reasonable possible, are not expected to havendisimt impact on our financial position or resuif operations.

Indemnification Arrangements

We may, from time to time in the ordinanucse of our business enter into contractual asam@mts with third parties that include
indemnification obligations. Under these contractueangements, we have agreed to defend, inderaniyor hold the third party harmless
from and against certain liabilities. These arrangets include indemnities in favor of customerthimevent that our wafer probe cards infri
a third party's intellectual property and our lesso connection with facility leasehold liabilisehat we may cause. In addition, we have
entered into indemnification agreements with oveators and certain of our officers, and our bylaastain indemnification obligations in
favor of our directors, officers and agents. Thesemnity arrangements may limit the type of thedral the total amount that we can be
required to pay in connection with the indemnifiocatobligation and the time within which an indefizdtion claim can be made. The duration
of the indemnification obligation may vary, and foost arrangements, survives the agreement terrisandefinite. We believe that
substantially all of our indemnity arrangementsviite either for limitations on the maximum potehfigure payments we could be obligated
to make, or for limitations on the types of claiarsl damages we could be obligated to indemnif§oroboth. However, it is not possible to
determine or reasonably estimate the maximum patearhount of future payments under these indematifon obligations due to the varying
terms of such obligations, the history of priorenthification claims, the unique facts and circumegs involved in each particular contractual
arrangement and in each potential future claimrfdemnification, and the contingency of any potntabilities upon the occurrence of events
that are not reasonably determinable. We have ambhy requests for indemnification under thesengements. Our management believes
any liability for these indemnity arrangements wbabt be material to our accompanying consolidéiteahcial statements. We have not
recorded any liabilities for these indemnificatemangements on our consolidated balance sheétCecember 25, 2010.

Legal Matters

From time to time, we may be subject talggoceedings and claims in the ordinary courdeuginess. As of the filing of this Form ¥0-
we were not involved in any material legal procegdi other than the proceedings summarized belothel future we may become a party to
additional legal proceedings that may require usptend significant resources, including proceeddegsgned to protect our intellectual
property rights and to collect past due accoungsivable from our customers.
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Patent Litigation

We initiated patent infringement litigationthe United States against Phicom Corporatidfoiea corporation, and its U.S. subsidiary,
both collectively "Phicom", and against Microniepan Co., Ltd., a Japan corporation, and its WSsidiary, both collectively "Micronics
Japan." In 2005, we filed a patent infringementdaitvin the United States District Court for thesiict of Oregon against Phicom charging
that it is willfully infringing four U.S. patentat cover key aspects of our wafer probe cards—Ragnt Nos. 5,974,662, 6,246,247,
6,624,648, and 5,994,152. In 2006, we also filedmended complaint in the same Oregon districtt@mating two additional patents to the
litigation—U.S. Patent Nos. 7,073,254 and 6,615,485. Als®@62we filed a patent infringement lawsuit in theited States District Court f
the Northern District of California against MicresiJapan charging that it is willfully infringingdr U.S. patents that cover key aspects of our
wafer probe cards—U.S. Patent Nos. 6,246,247, 6/5096,624,648, and 7,073,254.

These two district court actions were stbgending resolution of the complaint that we fileith the United States International Trade
Commission, or ITC, on or about November 13, 2@@geking institution of a formal investigation irtee activities of Micronics Japan and
Phicom. The requested investigation as filed enamsed U.S. Patent Nos. 5,994,152, 6,509,751, 88355,624,648 and 7,225,538 and
alleged that infringement by each of Micronics Japad Phicom of certain of the identified patemsstitute unfair acts in violation of 19
U.S.C. Section 1337 and alleged violations of $&c837 of the Tariff Act of 1930 in the importatiorto the United States of certain probe
card assemblies, components thereof, and cerstiedt® RAM and NAND flash memory devices and progleointaining such devices that
infringe patents owned by us.

In November 2009, in response to a redieeseview of prior decisions by an ITC Administket Law Judge, the Commission issued a
decision, which is termed a "final determinatiofinting certain of FormFactor's asserted patentdavalid, but not infringed, and other
asserted patent claims invalid. The Commissiomdidfind a violation of Section 337 of the Tariftof 1930 and terminated the investigation
without issuing an exclusionary order against amdpcts. We did not appeal the final determinatmthe Court of Appeals for the Federal
Circuit. The stay in the district court action agaiMicronics Japan was lifted, and in July 2010resched an amicable resolution of the action
against Micronics Japan resulting in the dismis§ahe patent infringement lawsuit in the Unite@t8s District Court for the Northern District
of California. The terms and conditions of thelsetient agreement are confidential. The stay irdtstict court action against Phicom was i
lifted and the parties engaged in a non-bindingiatixh in an attempt to amicable resolve the lifiga If the matter is not resolved amicably,
we anticipate the action will proceed forward.

In July 2010, we filed a patent infringerhlwsuit in the United States District Court foetNorthern District of California against Micro-
Probe Incorporated charging that it is willfullyfiimging six U.S. patents that cover aspects offpoprietary technology and wafer probe ce
The complaint sought both injunctive relief and rpilamages for Micro-Probe's alleged infringemémiup U.S. Patent No. 6,441,315 for
"Contact Structures With Blades Having A Wiping hat," U.S. Patent No. 6,825,422 for "Interconnettitiement With Contact Blade,” U.S.
Patent No. 6,965,244 for "High Performance Prob&te3y," U.S. Patent No. 7,227,371 for "High PerfanoeProbe System," U.S. Patent
No. 6,246,247 for "Probe Card Assembly and Kit, Methods of Using Same," and U.S. Patent No. 6@&M®ifor "Probe Card Assembly." T
complaint also sought injunctive relief and damaggainst Micro-Probe for unfair competition anctlfier includes claims directed against a
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former employee for breach of confidence relativeur confidential and propriety information anchagt the former employee and Micro-
Probe for conspiring to breach that confidenceeAlflicro-Probe and the former employee filed madiemdismiss, we voluntarily filed an
amended complaint which was substantially simaour original complaint except that we added éntkagainst the former employee alleging
misappropriation of trade secrets and we omittednfringement allegation related to our U.S. Palkm 6,624,648, which is the subject of a
re-examination proceeding before the USPTO. MiarabP and the former employee have both filed ansteeour amended complaint. Micro-
Probe is seeking a stay of part of the claims pentlie outcome of certain USPTO re-examination gedngs it initiated against the patents-
in-suit.

In addition to the United States litigaomve also initiated actions in Seoul, South Kagainst Phicom. In 2004 we filed two actions in
Seoul Southern District Court, located in SeouljtBdorea, against Phicom alleging infringemenbwof Korean Patent Nos. 252,457, 324,
278,342 and 399,210. In the action alleging infeimgnt of our Korean Patent Nos. 278,342 and 399tA&(Beoul Southern District Court
closed the case after rejecting our petition. isglfan appeal to the Seoul High Court regardingii@sions on our Korean Patent
Nos. 278,342 and 399,210, but elected to voluytarithdraw the appeal. The Seoul Southern Dis€iotirt also rendered decisic
unfavorable to us related to our Korean Patent R58,457 and 324,064 and the Seoul High Court disaai our appeals of those decisions.
The Seoul High Court decisions are subject to @ fippeal to the Korea Supreme Court but we elauétb file such appeals. We also in 2
filed in the Seoul Central District Court two act§) including a preliminary injunction action, agstiPhicom alleging infringement of certain
claims of our Korea Patent No. 252,457. The Seauitcal District Court did not accept the prelimiparjunction action and both actions have
been closed.

In response to our initiation of the inffsment actions in Korea, Phicom filed in the Kor&gellectual Property Office, or KIPO,
invalidity actions challenging the validity of soraeall of the claims of each of our four pateritésaue in the Seoul Southern District Court
infringement actions. KIPO dismissed Phicom's @mgks against all four of the patents-at-issuedphiappealed the dismissals of the
challenges to the Korea Patent Court. In 2006Kttvea Patent Court issued a ruling upholding tHelitg of our Korean Patent No. 252,457,
the only one of the four patents still subjectitigation. Phicom appealed the Patent Court rutindgorean Patent No. 252,457 to the Korea
Supreme Court. In June 2008, the Korea Supremet @Gawersed the Patent Court ruling and finding liaveertain claims of our Korean Patent
No. 252,457 and remanding the case for furthelr WWe also filed a correction trial with KIPO onrtan claims of Korean Patent No. 252,4
KIPO issued decisions unfavorable to us in botthefactions relating to our Korean Patent No. 252,4nd, on appeal, the Korea Patent C
also issued decisions adverse to us in both actions

Additionally, one or more third parties kanitiated challenges in the U.S. and in foreigtept offices against certain of the above and
other of our patents. These actions include re-éation proceedings filed in the U.S. Patent araldémark Office, USPTO, against three of
our U.S. patents that were at issue in the ITCstigation. With respect to our U.S. Patent No. 8,292, the re-examination proceeding has
concluded and a re-examination certificate hasidswith respect to our U.S. Patent No. 6,624,8&8matter is still pending before the
USPTO. With respect to our U.S. Patent No. 6,61%,#8 matter is on appeal from the decision ofl4B€TO examiner. Micr@robe has file
requests for re-examination with the USPTO direttedur U.S. Patent No. 6,246,247, U.S. Patentd\B25,422, U.S. Patent No. 6,441,315,
U.S. Patent No. 6,965,244 and U.S. Patent No. 73227 The USPTO granted the re-examination requissted to U.S. Patent
Nos. 6,246,247
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6,825,422 and 6,441,315, and has not yet madesantieition as to whether it will grant the requelitected to U.S. Patent Nos. 6,965,244
and 7,227,371. The foreign actions include procegslin Taiwan against several of our Taiwan patents

No provision has been made for patent-edldtigation because we believe that it is notyatle that a liability had been incurred as of
December 25, 2010. We will incur material attorriégss in prosecuting and defending the varioustiied actions.

Commercial Litigation

On February 20, 2009, we filed a compléantoreach of contract, common counts, accounédtand injunctive relief against
Spansion, LLC, a Delaware limited liability compafi$pansion”), in the state superior court locate8anta Clara County, California. The
complaint alleges that Spansion, in breach of Spafssobligations under a purchase agreement ehiet@ by us and Spansion, has failed to
pay us for probe cards that we designed, develapddnanufactured pursuant to several purchasesoptiezed by Spansion with us pursua
the agreement. The complaint states that as oluBgpd 3, 2009, Spansion owed us $8.1 million fabercards delivered by us and not paic
by Spansion. In the complaint, we are seekinggynpent of at least $8.1 million, (ii) a temporarptective order and an injunction enjoining
Spansion from assigning or in any way divestinglitsf any monies that we believe Spansion recefuat a certain third party entity, (iii) a
prejudgment writ of attachment in favor of us o$@ansion’'s corporate assets and property, (iv¥ ewst (v) attorney's fees. Prior to making
any appearance or filing any answer in the acpansion filed for protection under Chapter 11hef Bankruptcy Laws of the United States,
which served to stay our complaint against SpansioNovember 2009, we sold all rights, title anterest in the bankruptcy claim in the
aggregate face amount of $8.1 million to a thirchypa exchange for net proceeds of $3.5 milliomg & October 2010, we voluntarily
dismissed our complaint against Spansion.

Note 10—Stockholders' Equity
Preferred Stock

We have authorized 10,000,000 shares oésigdated preferred stock, $0.001 par value, nbméich is issued and outstanding. Our
Board of Directors shall determine the rights, erefces, privileges and restrictions of the preféstock, including dividends rights,
conversion rights, voting rights, terms of redemptiliquidation preferences, sinking fund terms #relnumber of shares constituting any
series or the designation of any series.

Common Stock

Each share of common stock has the righhtovote. The holders of common stock are alstieshto receive dividends whenever funds
are legally available and when declared by the 8o&Directors, subject to the prior rights of haldl of all classes of stock outstanding having
priority rights as to dividends. No dividends héde=n declared or paid as of December 25, 2010.

Common Stock Repurchase Program

On October 20, 2010, the Company's Boai@igdctors authorized a program to repurchase #5@0 million of outstanding common
stock. Under the authorized stock repurchase pnogitee
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Company may repurchase shares from time to timb@wopen market; the pace of repurchase activitydepend on levels of cash generation,
current stock price, and other factors. The steglurchase program was announced on October 26,82@{l6xpires on October 19, 2011. The
program may be modified or discontinued at any timéecember 2010, we repurchased and retirecbappately 70,000 shares of common
stock for $0.6 million under this repurchase auttagion. There were no additional common stock refpases during fiscal 2010.

Additionally, we have repurchased and eetit 30,000 shares for $1.2 million subsequent tweBwer 25, 2010.

Repurchased shares are retired upon thlersent of the related trade transactions. Ourcgaklated to repurchases of our common stock
is to charge the excess of cost over par valudddianal paid-in capital. All repurchases were mau compliance with Rule 10b-18 under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Equity Incentive Plans

We have options to purchase shares of camstoxk outstanding under the 1996 Stock Option,Rlee Incentive Option Plan and the
Management Incentive Option Plan (the "Plans"hich we have reserved shares for issuance uponisg®f these options. Since the
effectiveness of our 2002 Equity Incentive Plaamnection with our initial public offering, we ¢hot grant any options under the Plans. U
the Plans, the Board of Directors had the authdoitgsue incentive stock options to employeesranmdjualified stock options and stock
purchase rights to consultants and employees af dine Board of Directors had the authority to detee to whom options would be granted,
the number of shares, the term and exercise psibilf could not be less than fair market valueaef grant for incentive stock options or
85% of fair market value for nonqualified stockiops). If an employee owned stock representing rtftae 10% of the outstanding shares, the
price of each share would be at least 110% ofdhienfarket value, as determined by the Board oé®aors. Generally, the options issued under
the Plans vest 25% on the first anniversary ofvédsting commencement date and on a monthly basisafter for a period of an additional
three years. The options have a maximum term oféamns. Unvested option exercises are subjecptarchase upon termination of the holder's
status as an employee or consultant. At Decemhe2@®® and December 26, 2009, no shares of comtnok were subject to our right of
repurchase.

On April 18, 2002, the Board of Directodogated the 2002 Equity Incentive Plan ("2002 Plawhich became effective upon the effec
date of the initial public offering of our commotosk. The 2002 Plan provides for the grant of batbentive stock options and nonqualified
stock options, restricted stock and restrictedkstodts. The incentive stock options may be gramtedur employees and the nonqualified st
options, and all awards other than incentive staations, may be granted to employees, directorscandultants. The exercise price of
incentive stock options must be at least equdiedair market value of common stock on the datgraht. The exercise price of incentive st
options granted to 10% stockholders must be at &zpsl to 110% of the fair market value of comrstatk on the date of grant and vest over
five years. All other options granted under the2B80an are exercisable as determined by the CorapiensCommittee of the Board of
Directors. For options granted on or before Felyr@R2006, the options generally expire ten yeasfdate of grant and vest over three to
years. For options granted after February 9, 20@6poptions generally expire seven years from #ie df grant and vest over three to f
years. Option:
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re-granted as a result of our stock exchange pnograhe fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 (see Note-Htock-Based Compensation of Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements) expireyfa@rs from date of the exchange and vest over ffgaes. Restricted stock and restricted
stock units granted under the 2002 Plan generally @ver four years in annual tranches.

We initially reserved 500,000 shares of oam stock for issuance under the 2002 Plan plushases that have been reserved but not
issued under our prior equity plans, plus any shegpurchased at the original purchase price apaptions which expire, thereafter. In
addition, on each January 1, the number of shaEahle for issuance under the 2002 Plan willimréased by an amount equal to 5.0% o
outstanding shares of common stock on the precetiigg

At December 25, 2010, 8,940,339 shares weadable for grant under the 2002 Plan.
Stock Options
Activity of the stock options under the fdaand the 2002 Plan is set forth below:

Qutstanding Options

Weigthed
Average
Weighted Remaining Aggregate
Number of Average Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Price Life in Years Value

Outstanding at December 29, 2( 6,611,491 $ 29.1¢
Options grante: 1,141,011 20.7¢
Options exercise (119,679 5.97
Options cancele (946,017) 34.87
Outstanding at December 27, 2( 6,686,82 27.3¢
Options grante: 449,98( 17.71
Options exercise (319,38f) 13.3i
Options cancele (957,59 34.8(
Outstanding at December 26, 2( 5,859,82 26.17
Options granted(1 3,425,30! 10.1¢
Options exercise (115,59) 5.9¢
Options canceled(z (3,851,14) 28.6(
Outstanding at December 25, 2( 5,318,38 $ 14.5: 47z $ 1,523,55
Vested and expected to vest at

December 25, 201 4,709,71. $ 15.1¢ 4.5C $ 1,400,08:
Exercisable at December 25, 2( 2,090,88 $ 21.45 22C $ 817,73t

Q) Options granted in fiscal 2010 included 679,864 ahaf re-granted stock options with an exerciseeprf $8.61 per
share as a result of our stock option exchangergnogffective October 1, 2010.

(2) Options canceled in fiscal 2010 included 2,779,382res with a weighted average exercise price @582per share as a
result of our stock option exchange program effecctober 1, 201(
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The options outstanding and vested by éserice at December 25, 2010 are as follows:

Range of Exercise Price

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

$6.00- $8.91
$8.91- $10.30
$10.30- $15.71
$15.71- $19.36
$19.36- $24.17
$24.17- $25.65
$25.71- $46.13

Total

The aggregate intrinsic value in the talllesve represents the total pre-tax intrinsic vakaged on our closing stock price of $8.81 on

December 23, 2010.

The intrinsic value of option exercisesidgrfiscal 2010 was $0.5 million. Cash receivedirstock option exercises in fiscal 2010 was

Weighted
Average
Remaining Weighted Weighted
Contractual Average Average
Number of Term Exercise Number of Exercise
Shares (in years) Price Shares Price
1,470,30:! 44¢ $  7.77 355,82: $ 6.51
1,875,37! 6.8t 10.2¢ 11,37¢ 9.0C
369,56¢ 4.9¢ 14.12 180,08( 13.8¢
429,36: 1.9¢ 18.43 387,23¢ 18.4¢
439,24¢ 2.87 20.91 433,93¢ 20.92
235,27" 3.41 25.4: 235,27! 25.4:
499,25 1.77 36.5¢ 487,15 36.47
5,318,38 47z $ 145 2,090,88! $ 21.47

$0.7 million. We did not realize any gross tax Hésén connection with these exercises.

The intrinsic value of option exercisesidgrfiscal 2009 was $2.5 million. Cash receivedrirstock option exercises in fiscal 2009 was

$3.5 million. In connection with these exerciség, gross tax benefit realized by us was $10,000.

The intrinsic value of option exercisesidgrfiscal 2008 was $1.7 million. Cash receivedrrstock option exercises in fiscal 2008 was

$0.7 million. In connection with these exerciség, gross tax benefit realized by us was $0.5 millio

We expect to settle employee stock opti@rases by issuing new shares under the 2002 Plan.

Restricted Stock Units

Restricted stock units are converted iti@res of our common stock upon vesting on a on@ifierbasis. The vesting of restricted stock

units is subject to the employee's continuing sertd
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us. Activity of the restricted stock units under @002 Plan for the fiscal year ended DecembeR@50 is set forth below:

Weighted
Number of Average Grant
Shares Date Fair Value

Restricted stock units at

December 29, 200 22,15( $ 32.7¢
Granted 653,84( 19.8¢
Vested (27,180 21.51
Cancelec (64,944 19.3¢
Restricted stock units at

December 27, 200 583,86! 19.97
Granted 1,151,46. 18.0C
Vested (160,13) 15.5¢
Cancelec (83,517 18.4¢
Restricted stock units

December 26, 200 1,491,67: 18.51
Granted 776,31¢ 14.57
Vested (464,05() 18.9¢
Cancelec (431,03 17.9¢
Restricted stock units at

December 25, 201 1,372,91. $ 16.2¢

2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

On April 18, 2002, the Board of Directoppeoved the 2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan 2'EEPP"). The 2002 ESPP is designe
enable eligible employees to purchase shares ofrmomnstock at a discount on a periodic basis thrquagimoll deductions. Effective from
February 1, 2007, the offering periods under tH@22BSPP are a 12 month fixed offering period conoimgnon February 1 of each calendar
year and ending on January 31 of the subsequeridza year, and a six month fixed offering periothmencing on August 1 of each calen
year and ending on January 31 of the subsequesridza year. The 12 month offering period consists/o six month purchase periods and
six month offering period consists of one six moptinchase period. The price of the common stockhmasged is 85% of the lesser of the fair
market value of the common stock on the first diahe applicable offering period or the last dayeath purchase period, 1,500,000 shares of
common stock were initially reserved for issuancdar the 2002 ESPP. In addition, the number ofeshavailable for issuance under the 2002
ESPP will be increased on each January 1 by anm@negual to 1.0% of the outstanding shares of comstock on the preceding day.

During fiscal 2010, fiscal 2009, and fis2808, employees purchased 365,871 shares, 268ha56s, and 286,349 shares under this
program at a weighted average exercise price of3$1$13.37, and $17.84, respectively.

Note 11—Stock-Based Compensation

We account for all stock-based compensatia@mployees and directors, including grants oflsbptions, as stock-based compensation
costs in the Consolidated Financial Statementscbasehe fair
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value measured as of the date of grant. These amstecognized as an expense in the Consolidédeein®nts of Operations over the requisite
service period and increase additional paid-inteapi

The table below shows the stock-based cosgi®n expense included in the Consolidated Sttewnf Operations (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended

December 25, December 26, December 27,
2010 2009 2008
Stock-based
compensation
expense includer
in:

Cost of revenue $ 3,73 $ 3,51¢ $ 4,84¢
Research and

developmen 5,61( 4,407 4,99¢
Selling, general ar

administrative(1

2)(3) 8,27( 12,63: 12,39°
Restructuring

charges, ne 19C 21€ 623
Total stocl-basec

compensatiol 17,80: 20,77¢ 22,86¢
Tax effect on stock

based

compensatiol — — (7,21%)

Total stock-based
compensation, n
of tax $ 17,80: $ 20,77¢ $ 15,65(

Q) Fiscal 2010 includes $0.5 million of stock-basethpensation expense and an offsetting benefit of
$0.7 million related to the reversal of previousdgognized expense for unvested stock optionstiegul
from the modification and acceleration of the vagtf certain stock options and restricted stodksun
awarded to our former executive members in conjanatith their departure from the Company (See
Note 15—Departure of Executive Officers). Additiipafiscal 2010 includes $0.1 million of net steck
based compensation expense resulting from the ioatidn and acceleration of the vesting of certstotk
options and restricted stock units awarded to fornembers of the Board of Directors in conjunctigth
their departure from the Company.

2 Fiscal 2009 includes $2.5 million of stock-basethpensation expense resulting from the modificatiod
acceleration of the vesting of a portion of theiapd awarded to our founder and former Executive
Chairman of the Board of Directors in conjunctioithahis separation agreement and mutual release.

3 Fiscal 2008 includes $0.1 million of stock-basethpensation expense and an offsetting benefit of
approximately $0.4 million related to the reversipreviously recognized expense for unvested stock
options resulting from the acceleration of the wgsof a portion of our former Chief Financial Qféir's
stock options in conjunction with his separationeggnent and general relea

Stock Options

The exercise price of each stock optioraéxjthe market price of our stock on the date ahyrMost options are scheduled to vest over
three to four years and expire in seven years ttagrant date. The fair value of each option gimestimated on the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes
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option pricing model. In addition, we estimate &ftfires when recognizing compensation expenseadjugt our estimates of forfeitures over
the requisite service period based on the extewhioh actual forfeitures differ, or are expectediiffer, from such estimates. Changes in
estimated forfeitures are recognized as a changstimate in the period of change and will alsoaoighe amount of compensation expense to
be recognized in future periods.

The following weighted-average assumptiwese used in the estimated gralatte fair value calculations for stock options ¢edrin fisca
2010, 2009 and 2008. The re-granted options fronstmck exchange program are excluded from thigtab

Fiscal Years Endec

December 25, December 26, December 27,
2010 2009 2008

Stock Options:
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Expected volatility 50.8%% 52.1% 53.25%
Risk-free interest

rate 1.22% 1.68% 3.04%
Expected life (in

years) 4.42 4.6¢ 4.7t

Our computation of expected volatility weesed on a combination of historical and mabeted implied volatility from traded options
our common stock. We believe that including matk&ted implied volatility in the calculation of exgped volatility results in a more accurate
measure of the volatility expected in future pesiodisk-free interest rates are yields for zeropoouU.S. Treasury notes maturing
approximately at the end of the expected optian WWe determine the expected term by considerimgrakfactors, including historical option
exercise behavior, post vesting turnover ratestraotual terms and vesting periods of the optiaasiged. Prior to fiscal 2009, we applied the
simplified method approach for deriving expectedteThe simplified method is based on the vestiagaa and the contractual term for each
grant, or for each vesting-tranche for awards gitded vesting. The mid-point between the vestatg dnd the expiration date is used as the
expected term under this method. In fiscal 2010gveated approximately 2.0 million stock optiongtaployees with vesting periods that
range from two to three years and contractual tehasrange from five to seven years. Because @@al have sufficient historical data for
stock options with similar vesting or contractwais, the simplified method was applied for degvéxpected term for these stock options.

Excluding the 679,864 shares of stock aystithat were re-granted on October 1, 2010, 2,485shares of stock options were granted in
fiscal 2010 with the weighted average grdate fair value of $4.46 per share. During fis@02and 2008, 449,980 shares and 1,141,010 ¢
of stock options were granted under the 2002 Piamtive weighted average grant-date fair valueb7086 and $9.94 per share, respectively.

As of December 25, 2010, the unamortizedksbased compensation balance related to stoanspivas $12.7 million after estimated
forfeitures, which will be recognized over an estied period of 2.7 years based on the weightedaigeetays to vest.
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Stock Option Exchange

On October 1, 2010, we completed an offemdchange certain outstanding employee stock mptim purchase shares of the Company's
common stock. Eligible for the exchange were outditeg options, vested or unvested, held by cureerloyees (excluding directors and
executive officers) with an exercise price greétten or equal to $13.63 per share. Subject todtmes and conditions of the exchange offer, we
accepted for exchange and cancelled options tdhpaecan aggregate of 2,779,782 shares with a veeigiverage exercise price of $29.58 per
share, and issued new options to purchase an aggre679,864 shares with an exercise price @1$per share, the closing stock price of
common stock on October 1, 2010. The new optiore \weanted under our 2002 Plan and vest 33% ofirth@nniversary of the vesting
commencement date and on a monthly basis therdaftarperiod of an additional two years. The agstions that were used in estimating
grant-date fair value for these re-granted stodioap were 0% dividend yield, 52.61% of expectetatility, 3.35 years of expected life and
0.74% of risk-free interest rate. The grant-datevialue of the re-granted stock options was $p&5share. The incremental compensation
expense resulting from the completion of the exgeanifer did not have a material impact on our otidated financial position, results of
operations and cash flows.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

During the fiscal year ended December 2302 365,871 shares were issued under the 2002.2SR® December 25, 2010, we had
$0.1 million of total unrecognized stock-based cemgation expense, which will be recognized ovemteighted average period of
approximately one month. Compensation expensddslated using the fair value of the employeesthase rights under the Black-Scholes
model. The following assumptions were used in edimg the fair value of employees' purchase righiger the 2002 ESPP:

Fiscal Years Endec

December 25, December 26, December 27,
2010 2009 2008
ESPP:
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Expected volatility 38.9%-48.6% 52.0%- 62.2% 52.0%- 56.2%
Risk-free interest rat 0.17%- 0.32%  0.26%- 2.15%  1.88%- 5.11%
Expected life (in years 0.5-1.C 0.5-1.C 0.5-1.C

Restricted Stock Units

The fair value of restricted stock unitsietermined using the market closing price of mmmmon stock on the grant date, and
compensation cost is recognized over the vestinggen a straight line basis. The restricted stagks generally vest over four years.

During fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, 776,8t8res, 1,151,462 shares and 653,840 sharesridtezbstock units were granted under our
2002 Plan with the weighted average grant-datevidires of $14.57, $18.00 and $19.86 per sharpectisely. As of December 25, 2010, the
unamortized stock-based compensation balance delatestricted stock units was $13.8 million afstimated
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forfeitures, which will be recognized over an estted period of 2.4 years based on the weightechgeeatays to vest.
Note 12—Income Taxes
The components of loss before income tavese as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Endec

December 25 December 26 December 27

2010 2009 2008
United State: $ (178,849 $ (130,81) $ (111,680
Foreign (11,359) (11,629 (13,239

$ (190,200 $§ (142,43) $ (124,91)

The components of the provision for incaaees are as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended

December 25, December 26, December 27,
2010 2009 2008
Current provisior
(benefit):
Federal $ (2,436) $ (25,267 $ (32,249
State (207) 61 98t
Foreign 2,72¢ 80¢€ 2,24¢
18t (24,400 (29,010
Deferred provisior
(benefit):
Federal (85) 30,88¢ (9,240
State — 8,51¢ (6,047
Foreign (2,020 (1,799 —
(2,105 37,61« (15,287
Total provision fol
(benefit from)
income taxe: $ (2,920 $ 13,21 $  (44,29)

In the third quarter of fiscal 2010, wetiatied a legal entity restructuring to align ourpmrate structure with our organizational objecii
Due to this restructuring, the Company will not inigse conditions for the tax holiday negotiate@ingapore resulting in an increase in the
local tax rate from 0% to 17%. Overall the restuuicty activities and increase in Singapore tax dadenot significantly impact the tax
provision due to valuation allowances recordedragdi.S. and Singapore deferred tax assets.
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Significant deferred tax assets and liibgliconsist of the following (in thousands):

Tax credits

Inventory reservi

Other reserves and accru
Non-statutory stock option
Depreciation and amortizatic

Net operating loss carryforwar

Gross deferred tax assi
Valuation allowanct

Total deferred tax asse
Unrealized investment gail
Depreciation and amortizatic

Total deferred tax liabilitie
Net deferred tax asse

Fiscal Years Ended

December 25 December 26

2010 2009

$ 22,12¢ $ 19,09¢

18,147 15,26!

4,472 6,47

25,06: 21,94

14,99¢ —

48,88« 6,30z

133,69: 69,07¢

(127,730 (59,09

5,96: 9,982

(280) (152)

= (6,466

(280) (6,61¢)

$ 5,68: $ 3,36/

We are required to evaluate the realizgbilf our deferred tax assets on an ongoing basiet¢ordance with U.S. GAAP to determine
whether there is a need for a valuation allowanitk kespect to such deferred tax assets. Durimglfiz010, we maintained a valuation
allowance against our U.S. deferred tax assetsh&Ve also evaluated our foreign deferred tax assetdhrave concluded that it is more likely
than not that our Singapore deferred tax assetsutibe utilized and therefore, we have recordédlaaluation allowance for those deferred
tax assets. We intend to maintain a valuation alowe until sufficient positive evidence existsuport the realizability of such deferred tax

assets.

At December 25, 2010, we had Federal rebemmd development tax credit, net operating lasd,foreign tax credit carryforwards of
approximately $17.1 million, $104.1 million and $nillion, which will expire at various dates frad@15 through 2030. We had alternative
minimum tax credits of $2.3 million which do notpgse. We had California research credit and netatpeg loss carryforwards of
approximately $11.6 million and $163.6 million, pestively. The California research credit can beied forward indefinitely while Californi
net operating loss carryforwards will expire ativas dates from 2028 through 2030. We had Singapereperating loss carryforwards of
approximately $16.0 million which can be carrieddard indefinitely.
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The valuation allowance against deferredassets consisted of the following activity foe fiscal years ended December 25, 2010,
December 26, 2009 and December 27, 2008 (in thos$an

Balance at Balance at
Beginning End of
Description of Year Additions Deductions Year
Allowance
against
deferred tax
assets
Year ended
December .
2008 $ 1387 $ 8 — $ 1,39
Year ended
December .
2009 1,39¢ 57,70: — 59,097
Year ended
December .
2010 59,097 68,63¢ — 127,73.

U.S. income taxes and foreign withholdiagets associated with the repatriation of earniridgsreign subsidiaries were not provided for
approximately $4.8 million of undistributed earrsngf its foreign subsidiaries. We intend to reiriiasse earnings indefinitely in our foreign
subsidiaries. If these earnings were distributetthéoUnited States in the form of dividends or otfige, or if the shares of the relevant foreign
subsidiaries were sold or otherwise transferredwaeld be subject to additional U.S. income taxsembject to an adjustment for foreign tax
credits) and foreign withholding taxes. Determioatof the amount of unrecognized deferred incomdiability related to these earnings is |
practicable.

Tax benefits of $0, $10,000 and $0.5 millim fiscal 2010, fiscal 2009, and fiscal 200&pectively, associated with the exercise of
employee stock options and other employee stooframs were credited to stockholders' equity.

The following is a reconciliation of theffédrence between income taxes computed by apptyiedederal statutory rate of 35% for 2010,
2009 and 2008 and the provision for (benefit framepme taxes (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Endec

December 25 December 26 December 27
2010 2009 2008
U.S. statutory federal tax ra $ (66,57) $ (49,859 $ (43,719
State taxes and credits, net of federal be: (5,77¢€) (429 (3,63%)
Amortization of stoc-based compensation, net of -
benefit 60€ 484 1,37
Research and development cre (2,627) (2,43% (2,327
Foreign net operating loss — 4,62¢ 6,26¢
Tax exempt interest incon — (90) (83€)
Foreign taxes at rates different than the L 2,76 (244) 50
Other permanent differenc 1,82¢ 2,43¢ (1,469
Change in valuation allowan: 68,63¢ 57,70: @)
Other (785) 1,00¢ —
Total $ (1,920 $ 13,21« $  (44,29)

At December 25, 2010, we had gross taxet#eunrecognized tax benefits of $17.5 milliowiich $2.4 million if recognized, would
impact the effective tax rate.
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The following table reflects changes in timeecognized tax benefits (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 25 December 26 December 27
2010 2009 2008

Unrecognized ta

benefit beginning

balance $ 17,92 $ 15,81¢ $ 19,79:
Additions based o

tax positions

related to the

current yea 1,61( 1,62( 2,45;
Reductions for tax

positions of prior

years — — (4,437)
Reductions to

unrecognized tay

benefits due to

lapse of the

applicable statutt

of limitations (35 (29 (464)
Settlement: (2,000 — (1,530

Unrecognized ta
benefit ending
balance $ 17,50C $ 17,407 $ 15,81¢

We classify interest and penalties as g@iairicome tax expense. We recognized an interestflieof $0.3 million in fiscal 2010 and
interest expense of $0.3 million and $0.2 million fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2008, respectively, aBg®nalties for all years. As of December 25,
2010, we had approximately $0.6 million of accriugédrest and $0 of penalties related to uncertirpbsitions.

The amount of income taxes we pay is stilbeongoing audits by federal, state and foreggnauthorities which might result in proposed
assessments. Our estimate for the potential outéonany uncertain tax issue is judgmental in ratttowever, we believe we have adequi
provided for any reasonably foreseeable outconaa@lto those matters. Our future results may defavorable or unfavorable adjustments
to our estimated tax liabilities in the period Hesessments are made or resolved or when stafli@itation on potential assessments expire.
As of December 25, 2010 changes to our uncertaipdaitions in the next 12 months, that are redslerngossible, are not expected to have a
significant impact on our financial position or uéis of operation.

We and our subsidiaries file income taximes in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, various ssadnd non-U.S. jurisdictions. We are currently
under examination by the State of California Frasef ax Board for fiscal years 2004 and 2005. Dyfiscal 2010, the company was notified
an income tax audit for the period from 2007 to26€d our Japan subsidiary. The audit was closetheyend of the fiscal year. The material
jurisdictions in which we are subject to potenéghmination by tax authorities for tax years a2@®3 include, among others, the U.S. (Fed
and California), Singapore and Japan.

Note 13—Employee Benefit Plans

We have an employee savings plan that fipmks a deferred salary arrangement under Setdib¢k) of the Internal Revenue Code. The
Company matches up 50% of an eligible employeeifribaitions to a maximum of the first 3% of thegihle employee's contributions through
a fiscal year. We also provide a tax-qualified firstharing retirement plan for the benefit of bigi employees in the U.S. The plan is designed
to provide employees with an accumulation of fufudgetirement on a tax-deferred basis and profedennual discretionary employer
contributions.

We suspended our match under the 401(k)ipléhe second quarter of fiscal 2009 as partuofopst reduction efforts. Started from the
third quarter of fiscal 2010, we reinstated the kygr match
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feature due to the progress that we had made dhdhake in returning the Company to profitable. Tol charge to operations under the 401
(k) and the profit sharing retirement plans aggreg&0.2 million in fiscal 2010, $0.9 million insttal 2009 and $1.9 million in fiscal 2008.

Note 14—Operating Segment and Geographic Informatio

We operate in one segment consisting oflésign, development, manufacture, sale and suppgprecision, high performance advanced
semiconductor wafer probe cards. Our chief opegatecision maker is the Chief Executive Officerownbviews operating results to make
decisions about allocating resources and assegsifigrmance for the entire company. Since we opérabne segment and in one group of
similar products and services, all financial segn@en product line information required can be fbimthe consolidated financial statements.

The following table summarizes revenue byrary as a percentage of total revenues basedslppstio location:

December 25 December 26 December 27
2010 2009 2008
United State: 20.%% 18.1% 19.8%
Taiwan 38.E 19.¢ 22.¢
Japar 15.1 47.7 36.7
South Kores 13.€ 4.C 9.2
Germany 4.3 6.1 8.5
Other 8.0 4.2 2.
Total 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%

The following table summarizes revenue fmdpct group (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Endec

December 25 December 26 December 27

2010 2009 2008
DRAM $ 131,200 $ 108,82( $§ 139,53
Flash 30,06¢ 7,28 38,43(
SoC 27,29( 19,23: 32,22:

Total revenue $ 18856f $ 13533 $ 210,18¢
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Long-lived assets, comprising net propartg equipment and intangible assets, are repoaseldbon the location of the asset. Long-lived
assets by geographic location are as follows @ugands):

December 25 December 26 December 27
2010 2009 2008
United State: $ 36,78 $ 92,13¢ $ 103,14:
Japar 2,55¢ 4,59« 4,282
South Kores 99¢ 3,24¢ 3,651
Singapore 747 3,077 10t
Taiwan 547 1,632 2,02:
Germany 101 A7 60E
Total $ 41,737 $ 105,16( $ 113,81:

The following customers represented gretiien 10% of our revenues in fiscal 2010, fisc2@nd fiscal 2008:

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2010 2009 2008
Elpida Memory(1) 21.2% 49.1% 29.7%
Hynix Semiconductor(2 12.¢ * *
Samsung(3 12.C * *
Intel Corporatior * * 13t
Spansior * * 10.7
Total 46.(% 49.1% 53.%

1) Includes Elpida Memory and its consolidated sulasids, Rexchip Electronics Corp. and Tera Probe.
2) Includes Hynix Semiconductor and its consolidateosgliary Hynix-Numonyx Semiconductor.
3) Includes Samsung Semiconductor and its consolidatedidiary Samsung Austin Semiconductor.

* Less than 10% of revenue

The percentages above reflect customerteltentions as of December 25, 2010. Prior periatcentrations have been updated to reflect
the current customer compositions.

Note 15—Departure of Executive Officers

In the second quarter of fiscal 2010, wied into Separation Agreements with Mario Russy Jean Bernard Vernet in connection
with their resignations on May 19, 2010 as Chieéé&ixive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, restreely. As a result, we recorded a net
charge of $0.7 million within "Selling, general aadministrative" expenses in the Consolidated Btates of Operations, comprised of
$0.8 million of severance expenses net of $0.lignilbenefits from stock-based compensation. They leach signed a general release and
waiver of claims in favor of the Company,

121




Table of Contents

FORMFACTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT (Continue d)

Note 15—Departure of Executive Officers (Continued)

and continue to be bound by the Company's employmenfidential information and invention assignmagreement.

Additionally, in December 2010, we enteieid a Separation Agreement and General Releabetétformer Senior Vice President of
Sales. As a result, we recorded a net charge @frfiblion within "Selling, general and administrzl' expenses in the Consolidated Statements
of Operations, which comprised of $0.3 million efrerance expenses net of $0.1 million benefits fstouk-based compensation.

Note 16—Related Party Transactions

We engaged the law firm of Orrick, Herriogt& Sutcliffe LLP in fiscal 2007, and continuinigrough our fiscal 2010, to provide us with
certain legal services, including matters relateddmpensation and benefits, and to representdisextain of our then directors and officers in
the securities class action litigation and thelgtotder derivative litigation. A partner at Orridkerrington & Sutcliffe LLP, who is not
involved in the above matters, is the brother-in-tf Stuart L. Merkadeau, our Senior Vice Presid@#neral Counsel and Secretary.

Mr. Merkadeau does not have a financial or oth&rést in Orrick's engagement and Mr. Merkadeawthbr-indlaw does not provide any leg
services to us. Prior to engaging Orrick, HerrimggoSutcliffe LLP, our management discussed theptigl engagement with our Governance
Committee of the Board of Directors under the Stetet of Policy regarding Related Person Transastibhe Governance Committee
reviewed and approved the Orrick engagement, antineees to monitor the engagement, which in figHl0 also included certain corporate
and SEC matters, certain commercial and businetiemmand certain labor and employment matteragasssary. We paid Orrick $0.8 million
and $0.6 million in fiscal 2010 and fiscal 200%pectively, for legal services rendered. As ofdhge of this Form 10-K, Orrick continues to
provide legal services in the above matters.
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The following selected quarterly finanaiiata should be read in conjunction with our comisdéd financial statements and the related
notes and "ltem 7: Management's Discussion andy&isabf Financial Condition and Results of Opernaglo This information has been deriv
from our unaudited consolidated financial staterméimat, in our opinion, reflect all recurring adjuents necessary to fairly present this
information when read in conjunction with our colidated financial statements and the related napgearing in the section entitled
"Consolidated Financial Statements". The resuligpafrations for any quarter are not necessarilicative of the results to be expected for any
future period.

Fiscal Quarters Ended
Dec. 25, Sep. 25, June 26, Mar. 27, Dec. 26, Sep. 26, June 27, Mar. 28,
2010 2010(4)(5) 2010(3) 2010 2009(1)(3) 2009(3) 2009(1)(2) 2009(2)
(in thousands, except per share data)

Revenue! $ 4391 $ 47,347 $ 57,64C $ 39,66t $ 32,99t $ 43,770 $ 31,19¢ $ 27,36¢
Cost of

revenues 40,59¢ 54,54 53,71( 41,99: 35,14 35,80¢ 32,52« 31,04¢
Gross profit

(loss) 3,31¢ (7,199 3,93( (2,32¢) (2,14¢) 7,97C (1,326) (3,679
Operating

Expenses
Research an

developme 11,47¢ 12,82t 15,997 15,09: 15,68t¢ 13,77¢ 13,93¢ 14,11(
Selling,

general

and

administra 14,39¢ 16,21¢ 18,72 17,86° 16,48¢ 17,36¢ 18,26 26,31(
Restructuring

charges,

net 1,30% 8,563¢ 2,51z 3,55( 837 — 264 7,67¢
Impairment

of long

lived asset — 55,40: 99¢ — 65¢€ 632 — —

Total

operating

expense! 27,17¢ 92,98t 38,23¢ 36,50¢ 33,66¢ 31,77 32,46¢ 48,09¢
Operating los (23,86() (100,179 (34,309 (38,83¢) (35,819 (23,807) (33,79)) (51,77%)
Interest

income, ne 42€ 622 722 s 711 694 762 1,11¢
Other income

(expense),

net 431 3,96( (82) 117 38t (415) (89) (41¢)
Loss before

income

taxes (23,009 (95,59¢) (33,669 (37,949 (34,71%) (23,52 (33,11%) (51,079
Provision for

(benefit

from)

income

taxes (2,592 231 20C 24C (6,755) 377 32,72¢ (13,13¢)
Net loss $ (20,41) $ (95,82) $ (33869 $ (38,189 $ (27,969 $ (23,90) $ (65,846 $ (37,949
Net loss pe

share:
Basic and

diluted $ 0.40 $ 190 $ (0.6¢) $ 0.77) $ (0.5¢) $ (0.4¢) $ 139 $ (0.77)

Weighted
average
number of
shares use
in per shart
calculation:
Basic and
diluted 50,57 50,43: 50,08¢ 49,89( 49,75¢ 49,58 49,39¢ 49,20!

1) We recorded a valuation allowance of $44.7 miliiothe second quarter of fiscal 2009. This valuatiiowance was recorded against the U.S. deféaped
assets, including prior years, based on our assgesshthe realizability of such assets. This chagulted in an income tax provision, rather thamcome tax
benefit for the second quarter of fiscal 2009.He fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, we realized adfiefirom the enactment in November, 2009 of a Faldex law
change, the Worker, Homeownership and Businesstassie Act of 2009, that extended net operating dasrybacks from two years to five years. We hiezgef
from this provision by approximately $5.0 millionigr to the law change.

) The decrease in selling, general and administratkpenses from the first quarter to the secondteuef fiscal 2009 is primarily due to a decreaspérsonnel-
related costs and other discretionary spendingrasudt of the work force reduction and the corpo@st cut initiatives implemented in the firsager of fiscal



2009, a decrease in outside legal and other piofedsees due to the scheduling of the Internaidmade Commission hearing arising out of our clainp filed
in late 2007. The majority of the fees and codtee to the hearing and post hearing activitieseveempleted by the end of the first quarter afdl<2009.
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FORMFACTOR, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT (Continue d)

Note 17—Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudit@) (Continued)

©)

4)

®)

In the second quarter of fiscal 2010, third andtfoquarters of fiscal 2009, we recorded impairnavarges of $1.0 million, $0.6 million and $0.7 lioih,
respectively, relating to certain equipment thas @atermined to be held for sale as well as fotehmination of certain on-going projects. Thespairment
charges were originally recorded through "Costeknues" in the Consolidated Statement of Opemtiothe Form 10-K filed for fiscal 2009 and thefRal 0-
Q filed for the quarter ended June 26, 2010. Howéhase impairment charges have been reclassdisidnpairment of long-lived assets" in the Consalati
Statement of Operations in this Form 10-K for fl2@10 to conform with the current year presentatibasset impairments charges.

In the third quarter of fiscal 2010, "Other incofeapense), net" included a $3.5 million gain résglfrom the release of the liability previouslycoeded as a
secured borrowing due to the dismissal of our camphgainst a customer.

In the third quarter of fiscal 2010, we recordefal million adjustment to cost of revenues neb@b million income tax benefit, which resultedrfran error il
the calculation of capitalized manufacturing vaces starting in the first quarter of fiscal 2008tkgh the second quarter of fiscal 2010. Out oftthal
adjustment, $2.9 million adjustment to cost of rexes net of the $0.5 million income tax benefit fadiscal 2009
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Set forth below is a list of exhibits tlee being filed or incorporated by reference ihis Annual Report on Form 10-K:

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Date of Exhibit Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form File No First Filing Number  Herewith
3.01 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatibn S41  333410981! 10/20/0: 3.01

the Registrant as filed with the Delaware Secretéry
State on June 17, 20!

3.0z Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Regist 8-K 00C-50301 5/25/0¢ 3.0z
4.01 Specimen Common Stock Certifici S-1/A 332-8673¢ 5/28/0: 4.01
4.0z Stockholders Agreement by and among the Regis S1 333-8673¢ 4/22/0: 4.0:

Dr. Igor Y. Khandros, Susan Bloch and Richard
Hoffman dated February 9, 19

4.0z Stockholders Agreement by and among the Regis S41 3338673¢ 4/22/0z 4.04
Dr. Igor Y. Khandros, Susan Bloch and Milton Ohring
dated April 11, 199

4.04  Stockholders Agreement by and among the Regis S1 333-8673¢ 4/22/0: 4.0t
Dr. Igor Y. Khandros, Susan Bloch and Benjamin
Eldridge dated August 12, 19!

4.0t Stockholders Agreement by and among the Regis S1 333-8673¢ 4/22/0: 4.0€
Dr. Igor Y. Khandros, Susan Bloch and Charles
Baxley, P.C. dated September 8, 1!

10.014 Form of Indemnity Agreemel S-1/A 332-8673¢ 5/28/0: 10.01
10.024 Form of Change of Control Severance Agreen 1C-K 00C-50307 3/14/0¢ 10.4¢
10.034 1996 Stock Option Plan, and form of option gr S-1 33:-8673¢ 4/22/0: 10.0¢
10.044 Incentive Option Plan, and form of option gr. S-1 33z-8673¢ 4/22/0z 10.0¢
10.054 Management Incentive Option Plan, and form of S41 3338673¢ 4/22/0z 10.0¢
option gran:
10.064 2002 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and foims o — — — — X

plan agreement

10.074 2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as ame 1C-Q 00C-50301 8/7/07 10.01
10.084 Key Employee Bonus Plan, as amen 1C-Q 00C-50301 5/7/07 10.01
10.094 Separation Agreement and General Release dated 8-K 00050307 1/31/07 10.01

January 30, 2007 with Joseph R. Bron

10.104 Separation Agreement and General Release dated 8-K 00050307 3/26/0¢ 10.01
March 20, 2008 with Ronald C. Fos

10.114 Employment Offer Letter dated November 23, 2007 to 8-K 00050307 1/7/0¢ 99.01
Dr. Mario Ruscey

10.124 Employment Offer Letter dated September 25, 20( 10K 00050307 2/27/0¢ 10.1:2
Jorge L. Titingel

10.134 Separation Agreement and General Release dated 8-K 00050307 4/21/0¢ 10.01
April 15, 2008 with Jorge L. Titinge

10.144 Employment Offer Letter dated March 1, 2008 to 8-K 00050307 3/31/0¢ 10.01
Jean B. Verne
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Exhibit
Number

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description Form

File No

Date of
First Filing

Exhibit
Number

Filed
Herewith

10.15+4

10.164

10.174

10.184

10.194

10.204

10.214

10.27

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.27

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.3(

10.31

21.01

23.01

24.01

Separation Agreement and Mutual Release dated 8K
May 1, 2009 with Dr. Igor Y. Khandrc

Consulting Agreement dated May 1, 2009 with 8-K
Dr. Igor Y. Khandros

Written description of definitive agreement to 8-K
accelerate vesting of restricted stock units of

Dr. Thomas J. Campbell in connection with his

resignation as directc

Written description of definitive agreements to 8-K
increase base salaries and bonus targets forrcertai
executive officers approved on April 16, 2C

Written description of definitive agreement regagdi 8-K
director compensation approved on May 21 and 22,
2008

Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between S-1/A
Greenville Holding Company LLC (successor to

Greenville Investors, L.P.) ("Greenville") and the
Registrant dated May 3, 201

First Amendment to Pacific Corporate Center Leg¢  S-1/A
and between Greenville and the Registrant dated
January 31, 200

Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between S-1/A
Greenville and the Registrant dated May 3, 2

First Amendment to Pacific Corporate Center Lea¢  S-1/A
and between Greenville and the Registrant dated
January 31, 200

Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between S-1/A
Greenville and the Registrant dated May 3, 2

First Amendment to Pacific Corporate Center Lea¢  S-1/A
and between Greenville and the Registrant dated
January 31, 200

Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between 10Q
Greenville and the Registrant dated September 7,

2004, as amended by First Amendment to Building 6
Lease dated August 16, 20

Employment Letter Agreement, dated May 19, 2010, 8-K
between G. Carl Everett, Jr. and FormFactor,

Employment Letter Agreement, dated May 19, 2010, 8-K
between Richard DeLateur and FormFactor,

Separation Agreement and General Release, dated 8K
June 1, 2010, between Jean Vernet and
FormFactor, Inc

Separation Agreement and General Release, dated  8-K
June 6, 2010, between Mario Ruscev and
FormFactor, Inc

Employment Letter Agreement, dated September 2,  8-K
2010, between Thomas St. Dennis and
FormFactor, Inc

List of Registrant's subsidiari —

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting —
Firm

Power of Attorney (included on the signature paige o —
this Form 1K)

00050301

00050307

00060307

00060307

00050307

3338673¢

3338673¢

3338673¢

3338673¢

3338673¢

3338673¢

00060307

00060307

00050307

00050307

00060307

00060307

5/1/0¢

5/1/0¢

12/16/0¢

4/20/07

5/28/0¢

6/10/0%

5/7/0%

6/10/0¢

5/7/0%

6/10/0¢

5/7/0%

11/7/0¢

5/25/201(

5/25/201(

6/7/201(

6/7/201(

9/17/201(

10.01

10.0z

10.1¢

10.18.:

10.1¢

10.19.:

10.2(

10.20.:

10.01

10.1+4

10.24

10.14

10.24

99.014



31.01 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant15 —
U.S.C. Section 7241, as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbai-Oxley Act of 200z
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Date of Exhibit Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form File No First Filing Number  Herewith
31.02 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant15 — — — — X
U.S.C. Section 7241, as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 200z
32.01* Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief — — — — X
Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section@,35
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 200z
* This exhibit shall not be deemed "filed" for purpe®f Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Adi9&4 or otherwise subject to the liabilities oftteaction, no

shall it be deemed incorporated by reference inféing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Geties Exchange Act of 1934, whether made beforafter
the date hereof and irrespective of any generakparation language in any filings.

+ Indicates a management contract or compensatonygplarrangement.
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EXHIBIT 10.06

c:*:(:;/ FORMFACTOR

2002 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

As Adopted April 18, 2002
As Amended February 9, 2006, May 18, 2006, DecerhBeP007, May 21, 2008,
August 19, 2009 and December 10, 2009

1. PURPOSE. The purpose of this Plan is to provide incerdtiteeattract, retain and motivate eligible persohsse present
and potential contributions are important to thecegs of the Company, its Parent and Subsididayestfering them an opportunity to
participate in the Company’s future performancetigh awards of Options, Restricted Stock and RestriStock Units. Capitalized terms not
defined in the text are defined in Section 24.

2. SHARES SUBJECT TO THE PLAN .

2.1 Number of Shares Available Subject to Sections 2.2 and 18, the total nurob&hares reserved and available for
grant and issuance pursuant to this Plan will i@ Shares plus Shares that are subject tsgadmce upon exercise of an Option but cease
to be subject to such Option for any reason otham exercise of such Option; (b) an Award grant@inder but are forfeited or are
repurchased by the Company at the original issiee;pand (c) an Award that otherwise terminatedi@it Shares being issued. In addition,
any authorized shares not issued or subject tdamamsg grants under the Company’s 1996 Stock @Rian, Incentive Option Plan and
Management Incentive Option Plan on the Effectiaellas defined below) and any shares issued tinel€@ompany’s 1995 Stock Plan,

1996 Stock Option Plan, Incentive Option Plan arah&ement Incentive Option Plan (therfor Plans”) that are forfeited or repurchased by
the Company or that are issuable upon exercisptadres granted pursuant to the Prior Plans thairexy become unexercisable for any ree
without having been exercised in full, will no l@rgoe available for grant and issuance under tlog Plans, but will be available for grant and
issuance under this Plan. In addition, on eachalgnl, the aggregate number of Shares reservedwatildble for grant and issuance pursuant
to this Plan will be increased automatically byuanter of Shares equal to 5% of the total outstandivares of the Company as of the
immediately preceding December 31; providéidat the Board may in its sole discretion redineeamount of the increase in any particular
year; andprovided further, provided that no more than 40,000,000 share$ Ishdssued as 1ISOs (as defined in Section 5 bel@whll times

the Company shall reserve and keep available &muft number of Shares as shall be required fsfgahe requirements of all outstanding
Options granted under this Plan and all other antiihg but unvested Awards granted under this Plan.

2.2 Adjustment of Shares In the event that the number of outstandingesha changed by a stock dividend,
recapitalization, stock split, reverse stock sglithdivision, combination, reclassification or danichange in the capital structure of the
Company without consideration, then (a) the nundb&hares reserved for issuance under this Plathénumber of Shares that may be
granted pursuant to Sections 3 and 9 below, (cExlecise Prices




of and number of Shares subject to outstandingo@gtiand (d) the number of Shares subject to athistanding Awards shall, upon approval
of the Board in its discretion, be proportionatatijusted in compliance with applicable securit@sgd; provided however, that fractions of a
Share will not be issued but will either be repthby a cash payment equal to the Fair Market Vafusich fraction of a Share or will be
rounded up to the nearest whole Share, as detedrbinthe Committee.

3. ELIGIBILITY . ISOs (as defined in Section 5 below) may be tgiannly to employees (including officers and dioes
who are also employees) of the Company or of arRareSubsidiary of the Company. All other Awarday be granted to employees, offic
directors, consultants, independent contractorsaanisors of the Company or any Parent or Subsidihithe Company; provideslich
consultants, contractors and advisors render Hdeasérvices not in connection with the offer aatk ©f securities in a capital-raising
transaction. No person will be eligible to receimere than 1,000,000 Shares in any calendar yeteruhis Plan pursuant to the grant of
Awards hereunder, other than new employees of tmepgany or of a Parent or Subsidiary of the Comgamgluding new employees who are
also officers and directors of the Company or aaseRt or Subsidiary of the Company), who are elégib receive up to a maximum of
3,000,000 Shares in the calendar year in which toeeymence their employment. A person may be gdamigre than one Award under this
Plan.

4, ADMINISTRATION

4.1 Committee Authority This Plan will be administered by the Committedy the Board acting as the Committee.
Except for automatic grants to Outside Directonspant to Section 9 hereof, and subject to thergéparposes, terms and conditions of this
Plan, and to the direction of the Board, the Corteaitvill have full power to implement and carry this Plan. Except for automatic grants to
Outside Directors pursuant to Section 9 hereof dbmmittee will have the authority to:

(@) construe and interpret this Plan, any Award Agregraad any other agreement or document executedi@oir to
this Plan;

(b) prescribe, amend and rescind rules and regulat@astng to this Plan or any Award;

(c) select persons to receive Awards;

(d) determine the form and terms of Awards;

(e) determine the number of Shares or other consideratibject to Awards;

® determine whether Awards will be granted singlyc@mbination with, in tandem with, in replacemefta as

alternatives to, other Awards under this Plan gr@ther incentive or compensation plan of the Comypa any
Parent or Subsidiary of the Company;

(9) grant waivers of Plan or Award conditions;
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(h) determine the vesting, exercisability and paymémtveards;

0] correct any defect, supply any omission or recenaily inconsistency in this Plan, any Award or Amard
Agreement;

()] determine whether an Award has been earned; and

(k) make all other determinations necessary or adwédablthe administration of this Plan.

4.2 Committee Discretion Except for automatic grants to Outside Direcfmrssuant to Section 9 hereof, any

determination made by the Committee with respeentp Award will be made in its sole discretionte time of grant of the Award or, unless
in contravention of any express term of this PlaAward, at any later time, and such determinatiilhbe final and binding on the Company
and on all persons having an interest in any Awader this Plan. The Committee may delegate tcoomeore officers of the Company the
authority to grant an Award under this Plan to iegrants who are not Insiders of the Company.

5. OPTIONS . The Committee may grant Options to eligible passand will determine whether such Options willfeentive
Stock Options within the meaning of the CodéSO ”) or Nonqualified Stock Options (NQSOs”), the number of Shares subject to the
Option, the Exercise Price of the Option, the pdaring which the Option may be exercised, andthiér terms and conditions of the Option,
subject to the following:

5.1 Form of Option Grant Each Option granted under this Plan will be exited by an Award Agreement which will
expressly identify the Option as an ISO or an N@SStock Option Agreemerif), and, except as otherwise required by the tesh®ection 9
hereof, will be in such form and contain such psans (which need not be the same for each Patitims the Committee may from time to
time approve, and which will comply with and be jgabto the terms and conditions of this Plan.

5.2 Date of Grant The date of grant of an Option will be the datewhich the Committee makes the determination to
grant such Option, unless otherwise specified byGbmmittee. The Stock Option Agreement will bveeed, and a copy of this Plan will be
made available, to the Participant within a reabtsntme after the granting of the Option.

5.3 Exercise Period Options may be exercisable within the timesmoruthe events determined by the Committee as
set forth in the Stock Option Agreement governinghsOption; provided, however, that no Option gedron or before February 9, 2006 will
be exercisable after the expiration of ten (10yydi@m the date the Option is granted and no @@ji@nted after February 9, 2006 will be
exercisable after the expiration of seven (7) y&ars the date the Option is granted; and provifether that no ISO granted to a person who
directly or by attribution owns more than ten peitgd 0%) of the total combined voting power of@d#sses of stock of the Company or of any
Parent or Subsidiary of the CompanyT€n Percent Stockholdél) will be exercisable after the expiration of fi¢g) years from the date the
ISO is granted. The Committee also may provideZfptions to become exercisable at
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one time or from time to time, periodically or ottwése, in such number of Shares or percentage afeSras the Committee determines.

5.4
provided that: (i) the Exercise Price of an ISO Wé not less than 100% of the Fair Market Valuéhef Shares on the date of grant; and (ii) the
Exercise Price of any ISO granted to a Ten PerStakholder will not be less than 110% of the Réirket Value of the Shares on the date of

Exercise Price The Exercise Price of an Option will be deterediy the Committee when the Option is granted;

grant. Payment for the Shares purchased may be matcordance with Section 6 of this Plan.

5.5

Termination. Notwithstanding the exercise periods set fantthe Stock Option Agreement, exercise of an Option

will always be subject to the following:

(@)

(b)

(©)

If the Participant is Terminated for any reasonegtaeath or Disability, then the Participant magreise such
Participant’s Options only to the extent that s@gitions would have been exercisable upon the Textioim Date no
later than three (3) months after the Terminati@atedor such shorter or longer time period not edog five
(5) years as may be determined by the Committete, aviy exercise beyond three (3) months after grenination
Date deemed to be an NQSO), but in any event,teotlaan the expiration date of the Options.

If the Participant is Terminated because of Pandict’s death or Disability (or the Participant digthin three

(3) months after a Termination other than for Caurskecause of Participant’s Disability), then Rigant’'s Options
may be exercised only to the extent that such @ptwould have been exercisable by Participant erT#rmination
Date and must be exercised by Participant (or é¥patit’s legal representative or authorized assyne later than
twelve (12) months after the Termination Date (ghsshorter or longer time period not exceeding {&) years as
may be determined by the Committee, with any sxehmnaise beyond (i) three (3) months after the Teation Date
when the Termination is for any reason other ti@Rarticipant’s death or disability, within theaneng of

Section 22(e)(3) of the Code, or (ii) twelve (12)mths after the Termination Date when the Termamais for
Participants disability, within the meaning of Section 22(8)¢8the Code, deemed to be an NQSO), but in aent
no later than the expiration date of the Options.

If the Participant is terminated for Cause, thenPRarticipant may exercise such Participant’s @gtianly to the
extent that such Options would have been exer@saibn the Termination Date no later than one mafiér the
Termination Date (or such shorter or longer timaquenot exceeding five (5) years as may be detegthby the
Committee, with any exercise beyond three (3) moafter the Termination Date deemed to be an NQB@)n
any event, no later than the expiration date ofQp&ons.
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5.6 Limitations on Exercise The Committee may specify a reasonable minimumber of Shares that may be
purchased on any exercise of an Option, providatighch minimum number will not prevent Participfiom exercising the Option for the full
number of Shares for which it is then exercisable.

5.7 Limitations on ISO. The aggregate Fair Market Value (determinedf éisendate of grant) of Shares with respect to
which ISO are exercisable for the first time byaatRRipant during any calendar year (under this\Rlaunder any other incentive stock option
plan of the Company, Parent or Subsidiary of then@any) will not exceed $100,000. If the Fair Markalue of Shares on the date of grant
with respect to which ISO are exercisable for ih&t fime by a Participant during any calendar y@areeds $100,000, then the Options for the
first $100,000 worth of Shares to become exercésabsuch calendar year will be ISO and the Optfonshe amount in excess of $100,000
that become exercisable in that calendar yeah&iINQSOs. In the event that the Code or the régnapromulgated thereunder are amended
after the Effective Date of this Plan to provide &odifferent limit on the Fair Market Value of $ha permitted to be subject to ISO, such
different limit will be automatically incorporatdueerein and will apply to any Options granted after effective date of such amendment.

5.8 Modification, Extension or RenewalThe Committee may modify, extend or renew outditag Options and
authorize the grant of new Options in substitutiverefor, provided that any such action may notheit the written consent of a Participant,
impair any of such Participant’s rights under arpti@n previously granted. Any outstanding ISO tkanodified, extended, renewed or
otherwise altered will be treated in accordancé B8iection 424(h) of the Code. The Committee mdyce the Exercise Price of outstanding
Options without the consent of Participants afféddig a written notice to them; providetdowever, that the Exercise Price may not be reduced
below the minimum Exercise Price that would be pteh under Section 5.4 of this Plan for Optionarged on the date the action is taken to
reduce the Exercise Price.

5.9 No Disqualification. Notwithstanding any other provision in this Rlan term of this Plan relating to 1ISO will be
interpreted, amended or altered, nor will any d@ison or authority granted under this Plan be dget; so as to disqualify this Plan under
Section 422 of the Code or, without the conserthefParticipant affected, to disqualify any ISO e@n8ection 422 of the Code.

6. PAYMENT FOR OPTION SHARES . The entire Exercise Price of Shares issued epercise of Options and automatic
grants to Outside Directors pursuant to Sectiohdl $e payable in cash at the time when such Staeepurchased, except as follows and
provided for in an applicable Stock Option Agreetnen

6.1 Surrender of Stock Payment for all or any part of the Exercise €0c Options may be made with shares of the
Company’s common stock which have already been dwgehe Participant; provided that the Committesynin its sole discretion, require
that shares tendered for payment be previously liaetthe Participant for a minimum duration. Suchrsls shall be valued at their Fair Market
Value.




6.2 Cashless ExercisePayment for all or any part of the Exercise €ritay be made through Cashless Exercise at the
Committee’s sole discretion.

6.3 Other Forms of PaymentPayment for all or any part of the Exercise €ritay be made in any other form that is
consistent with applicable laws, regulations arldsiand approved by the Committee.

In the case of an ISO granted under the Plan, palysiall be made only pursuant to the express gians of the applicable Stock Option
Agreement. The Stock Option Agreement may speh#y payment may be made in any form(s) describeki$ Section 6. In the case of an
NQSO granted under the Plan, the Committee mays itiscretion at any time, accept payment in amn{s) described in this Section

7. RESTRICTED STOCK AWARD .

7.1 Amount and Form of Restricted Stock Award\wards under this Section 7 may be grantedeérfeihm of a
Restricted Stock Award. Restricted Stock Awardslenursuant to this Plan will be evidenced by araiWAgreement (Restricted Stock
Agreement”) that shall specify the number of Shares to whiah Restricted Stock Award pertains and shalluigest to adjustment of such
number in accordance with Section 2.2.

7.2 Restricted Stock AgreementEach Restricted Stock Award awarded under the Bthall be evidenced and
governed exclusively by a Restricted Stock Agredrbetween the Participant and the Company. EactriRtesl Stock Award shall be subject
to all applicable terms and conditions of the Rlad may be subject to any other terms and conditioat are not inconsistent with the Plan
that the Committee deems appropriate for inclugiahe applicable Restricted Stock Agreement (iditlg without limitation any performance
conditions). The provisions of the various RestiicEtock Agreements entered into under the Plagh neebe identical.

7.3 Payment of Restricted Stock AwardfRestricted Stock Awards may be issued with ahetit cash consideration
any other form of legally permissible consideratigproved by the Committee.

7.4 Vesting Conditions Each Restricted Stock Award may or may not txes to vesting. Any such vesting
provision may provide that Shares shall vest baseskrvice with the Company over time or shall viestull or in installments, upon
satisfaction of performance goals specified inRlestricted Stock Agreement. A Restricted Stocke&grent may provide for accelerated
vesting in the event of the Participant’s deatlsdbility, or other events.

7.5 Assignment or Transfer of Restricted Stock Awardsxcept as provided in the applicable RestriGeutk
Agreement, and then only to the extent permittediyylicable law, Restricted Stock Awards shallb@anticipated, assigned, attached,
garnished, optioned, transferred or made subjezhyocreditor’s process, whether voluntarily, inugthrily or by operation of law. Any act in
violation of this Section 7.5 shall be void.




7.6 Voting and Dividend Rights The holder of a Restricted Stock Award underRlen shall have the same voting,
dividend and other rights as the Company’s otharediolders. A Restricted Stock Agreement, howawew require that the holder of such
Restricted Stock Award invest any cash dividendsiked in additional Shares subject to the Restli&tock Award. Such additional Shares
subject to the Restricted Stock Award shall beestiip the same conditions and restrictions afk#wdricted Stock Award with respect to
which the dividends were paid. Such additionalr&faubject to the Restricted Stock Award shallredtice the number of Shares availabli
issuance under Section 2.1.

7.7 Modification or Assumption of Restricted Stock Awlar Within the limitations of the Plan, the Comméttmay
modify or assume outstanding restricted stock asvardnay accept the cancellation of outstandingictsd stock awards (including stock
awards granted by another issuer) in return forAtivard of new Restricted Stock Awards for the sama different number of Shares and with
the same or different vesting provisions. Notwisnsting the preceding sentence or anything to the&gy herein, no modification of a
Restricted Stock Award shall, without the consdrihe Participant, impair his or her rights or glliions under such Restricted Stock Award.

8. RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS .

8.1 Restricted Stock Unit AgreementEach Award of Restricted Stock Units under tlenRBhall be evidenced and
governed exclusively by an Award AgreemenRgstricted Stock Unit Agreemefit between the Participant and the Company. Such iBes
Stock Units shall be subject to all applicable teand conditions of the Plan and may be subjeahyoother terms and conditions that are not
inconsistent with the Plan and that the Commiteenags appropriate for inclusion in the applicablstReted Stock Unit Agreement (including
without limitation any vesting and performance ddinds). The provisions of the various Restrictedc® Unit Agreements entered into under
the Plan need not be identical. Restricted StodksUnay be awarded in consideration of a redudtidhe Participant’'s other compensation.

8.2 Number of Shares Each Restricted Stock Unit Agreement shall sgebe number of Shares to which the
Restricted Stock Unit Award pertains and shall ligjexct to adjustment of such number in accordaritte Section 2.2.

8.3 Payment for Restricted Stock UnitRestricted Stock Units shall be issued withaurtsideration.

8.4 Vesting Conditions Each Restricted Stock Unit may or may not bgeslto vesting. Any such vesting provision
may provide that Shares shall vest based on semitbehe Company over time or shall vest, in fudlin installments, upon satisfaction of
performance goals specified in the Restricted Stdak Agreement. A Restricted Stock Unit Agreemenaty provide for accelerated vesting
the event of the Participant’s death, Disabilitypther events.

8.5 Voting and Dividend Rights The holders of Restricted Stock Units shall hawe/oting rights. Prior to settlement
or forfeiture, any Restricted Stock Unit awardedem




the Plan may, at the Committee’s discretion, cuiiti it a right to dividend equivalents. Such rigmttitles the holder to be credited with an
amount equal to all cash dividends paid on oneeSiaile the Restricted Stock Unit is outstandingridend equivalents may be converted
additional Restricted Stock Units. Settlement e#fdBnd equivalents may be made in the form of casthe form of Shares, or in a
combination of both. Prior to distribution, any idiend equivalents which are not paid shall be suligethe same conditions and restrictions as
the Restricted Stock Units to which they attach.

8.6 Form and Time of Settlement of Restricted StockitJniSettlement of vested Restricted Stock Units beynade
in the form of (a) cash, (b) Shares or (c) any comiion of both, as determined by the Committetaatime of the grant of the Restricted
Stock Units, in its sole discretion. Methods of wering Restricted Stock Units into cash may inel@aithout limitation) a method based on
the average Fair Market Value of Shares over &s@efitrading days. Vested Restricted Stock Unég be settled in a lump sum or in
installments. The distribution may occur or comneenien the vesting conditions applicable to thetfieésd Stock Units have been satisfied
or have lapsed, or it may be deferred, in accorelavith applicable law, to any later date. The amaifra deferred distribution may be
increased by an interest factor or by dividend egjents. Until an Award of Restricted Stock Ungssettled, the number of such Restricted
Stock Units shall be subject to adjustment purstmSection 2.2. Notwithstanding anything to tbatcary in any Award Agreement or the
Plan, any Restricted Stock Units that, by theim®rare settled on the applicable vesting datégd) be settled no later than the fifteenth (15th)
day of the third (3rd) month following the end bé&tcalendar year containing the applicable vestatg (or, if later, the fifteenth (15th) day of
the third (3rd) month following the end of the Caang’s taxable year). In addition, notwithstandamything to the contrary in any Award
Agreement or the Plan, references to “terminatibthe Participant’s Service,” “Termination Date"dagimilar references for Restricted Stock
Units that are subject to Code Section 409A shatimthe date of the Participant’s “separation fsamvice” within the meaning of Code
Section 409A and such Restricted Stock Units diebettled no later than the time permitted by JueaRegulation Section 1.409A-3(d).

8.7 Creditor's Rights. A holder of Restricted Stock Units shall haverighits other than those of a general creditor of
the Company. Restricted Stock Units represent &mdied and unsecured obligation of the Companyjestito the terms and conditions of !
applicable Restricted Stock Unit Agreement.

8.8 Modification or Assumption of Restricted Stock UnitWithin the limitations of the Plan, the Comméteay
modify or assume outstanding restricted stock wnitsiay accept the cancellation of outstandingictst! stock units (including stock units
granted by another issuer) in return for the Awafrdew Restricted Stock Units for the same or gedéiht number of Shares and with the same
or different vesting provisions. Notwithstanding threceding sentence or anything to the contramimeno modification of a Restricted Stock
Unit shall, without the consent of the Participamtpair his or her rights or obligations under siRestricted Stock Unit.

8.9 Assignment or Transfer of Restricted Stock Unitsxcept as provided in the applicable RestriGestk Unit
Agreement, and then only to the extent permitted by




applicable law, Restricted Stock Units shall notbécipated, assigned, attached, garnished, aggdionansferred or made subject to any
creditor’s process, whether voluntarily, involuiiliaor by operation of law. Any act in violation gifis Section 8.9 shall be void.

9. AUTOMATIC GRANTS TO OUTSIDE DIRECTORS

9.1 Types of Options and SharesAwards granted under this Plan and subjectitoSkction 9 may be NQSOs,
Restricted Stock Awards or Restricted Stock Units.

9.2 Eligibility . Awards subject to this Section 9 shall be gréuately to Outside Directors.

9.3 Initial Grant. Each Outside Director who first becomes a memob#ére Board after the Effective Date will
automatically be granted an Award for that numbe3hmares determined by the Board (dnitial Grant ") on the date such Outside Director
first becomes a member of the Board. Each Ouf3icextor who became a member of the Board on ar poi the Effective Date and who did
not receive a prior option grant (under this Plantberwise and from the Company or any of its ooasge predecessors) will receive an Initial
Grant on the Effective Date.

9.4 Succeeding GrantsImmediately following each Annual Meeting of gtholders, each Outside Director will
automatically be granted an Award for that numbie3ltares determined by the Board @ucceeding Grant), provided, that the Outside
Director is a member of the Board on such date.

9.5 Vesting and Exercisability Each Award may or may not be subject to vestiBgch Award Agreement shall
specify the vesting and exercise conditions fohstivard as determined by the Board.

Unless deferred in accordance with the rules estad by the Committee, Restricted Stock Units ballsettled in Shares upon the earlier of:
(i) the date on which such Restricted Stock Uniésfally vested, or (i) the Outside Director’s Teination Date (or the first market trading day
during an open trading window thereafter if eittrex date on which such Restricted Stock Units alfg ¥ested or the Outside Director’s
Termination Date is not on a market trading dayrdpan open trading window).

Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary,lie event of a Corporate Transaction described @ic8el18.1, the vesting of all Awar:
granted to Outside Directors pursuant to this $acdiwill accelerate in full prior to the consuminatof such event at such times and on such
conditions as the Committee determines which comyitly Section 409A of the Code, and options musgkercised, if at all, within three

(3) months of the consummation of said event. Aptfons not exercised within such three-month mksioall expire.

9.6 Exercise Price The exercise price of an option pursuant torgtial Grant and Succeeding Grant shall be the Fair
Market Value of the Shares, at the time that theaops granted.




9.7 Director Fees Each Outside Director may elect to receive aftésd Stock Award or Restricted Stock Unit under
the Plan in lieu of payment of a portion of hisher regular annual retainer based on the Fair M&f&kie of the Shares on the date any regular
annual retainer would otherwise be paid. For pses®f the Plan, an Outside Director’s regular ahretainer shall include any additional
retainer paid in connection with service on any puottee of the Board or paid for any other reas8anch an election may be for any dollar or
percentage amount equal to at least 25% of theidguBirector’s regular annual retainer (up to aitiof 100% of the Outside Direct@'regula
annual retainer). The election must be made poitiie beginning of the annual board of directgrdewhich shall be any twelve month
continuous period designated by the Board. Anywarhof the regular annual retainer not electedetodeeived as a Restricted Stock Award or
Restricted Stock Unit shall be payable in casiciooedance with the Company’s standard payment guoes.

10. WITHHOLDING TAXES

10.1 Withholding Generally Whenever Shares are to be issued in satisfacfidmards granted under this Plan, the
Company may require the Participant to remit toGeenpany an amount sufficient to satisfy federatesand local withholding tax
requirements prior to the delivery of any certifecar certificates for such Shares. Whenever, wutide Plan, payments in satisfaction of
Awards are to be made in cash, such payment willdbef an amount sufficient to satisfy federadtet and local withholding tax requiremel

10.2 Stock Withholding When, under applicable tax laws, a Participaatiis tax liability in connection with the
exercise or vesting of any Award that is subjedatowithholding and the Participant is obligategpaly the Company the amount required t
withheld, the Committee may in its sole discret@liow the Participant to satisfy the minimum witiding tax obligation by electing to have
the Company withhold from the Shares to be isshatitumber of Shares having a Fair Market Valuakguthe minimum amount required
be withheld, determined on the date that the amoiiatx to be withheld is to be determined. A#alons by a Participant to have Shares
withheld for this purpose will be made in accordamaéth the requirements established by the Comendted be in writing in a form acceptable
to the Committee.

11. TRANSFERABILITY .

111 Except as otherwise provided in this Section 11afd8 granted under this Plan, and any interestithewill not be
transferable or assignable by Participant, and neaye made subject to execution, attachment dtasiprocess, otherwise than by will or by
the laws of descent and distribution or as deteethiny the Committee and set forth in the Award &grent with respect to Awards that are
ISOs.

11.2 All Awards other than NQSG. All Awards other than NQSO'’s shall be exercigah(i) during the Participant’s
lifetime, only by (A) the Participant, or (B) theRicipant’s guardian or legal representative; @nafter Participant’s death, by the legal
representative of the Participant’s heirs or legsite
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11.3 NQSOs Unless otherwise restricted by the Committed\@EO shall be exercisable: (i) during the Pgrtai’s
lifetime only by (A) the Participant, (B) the Paipant’s guardian or legal representative, (C) miiaMember of the Participant who has
acquired the NQSO by “permitted transfer;” anddfer Participant’'s death, by the legal repredemaf the Participant’s heirs or legatees.
“Permitted transfer” means, as authorized by thas Rnd the Committee in an NQSO, any transfeictdteby the Participant during the
Participant’s lifetime of an interest in such NQB@ only such transfers which are by gift or doriwestlations order. A permitted transfer
does not include any transfer for value and neittfiehe following are transfers for value: (ayantsfer of under a domestic relations order in
settlement of marital property rights or (b) a sf&m to an entity in which more than fifty percefithe voting interests are owned by Family
Members or the Participant in exchange for an @stein that entity.

12. PRIVILEGES OF STOCK OWNERSHIP; RESTRICTIONS ON SHARES.

12.1 Voting and DividendsUnless otherwise provided under Section 7, nmtid@ant will have any of the rights of a
stockholder with respect to any Shares until ther&hare issued to the Participant. After Sharegsaued to the Participant, the Participant
will be a stockholder and have all the rights stackholder with respect to such Shares, incluthegight to vote and receive all dividends or
other distributions made or paid with respect tohs8hares; providedthat the Participant will have no right to retairch stock dividends or
stock distributions with respect to Shares thatrepeirchased at the Participant’s Purchase Priexercise Price pursuant to Section 12.

12.2 Restrictions on Share#t the discretion of the Committee, the Compargy reserve to itself and/or its assignee
(s) in the Award Agreement a right to repurchaperion of or all Unvested Shares held by a Paudict following such Participant’s
Termination at any time within ninety (90) dayseafthe later of Participant’s Termination Date #imel date Participant purchases Shares unde
this Plan, for cash and/or cancellation of purchaeeey indebtedness, at the Participant’s ExeRigze or Purchase Price, as the case may be

13. CERTIFICATES. All certificates for Shares or other securitiedivered under this Plan will be subject to sutcitls
transfer orders, legends and other restrictioth@€ommittee may deem necessary or advisableidimg restrictions under any applicable
federal, state or foreign securities law, or arlgsuregulations and other requirements of the 8E&hy stock exchange or automated quot:
system upon which the Shares may be listed or quote

14. ESCROW:; PLEDGE OF SHARES To enforce any restrictions on a Participantiar®@s, the Committee may require the
Participant to deposit all certificates represemfhares, together with stock powers or otherunstnts of transfer approved by the Commi




appropriately endorsed in blank, with the Compangiroagent designated by the Company to hold iroesantil such restrictions
have lapsed or terminated, and the Committee mageca legend or legends referencing such restrictm be placed on the certificates. Any
Participant who is permitted to execute a promigsmte as partial or full consideration for the ghase of Shares under this Plan will be
required to pledge and deposit with the Companygraliart of the Shares so purchased as collatesddure the payment of Participant’s
obligation to the Company under the promissory natevided, however, that the Committee may require
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or accept other or additional forms of collatemasecure the payment of such obligation and, inesant, the Company will have full recourse
against the Participant under the promissory notevithstanding any pledge of the Participant’s &Rkair other collateral. In connection with
any pledge of the Shares, Participant will be negto execute and deliver a written pledge agre¢imesuch form as the Committee will frc
time to time approve. The Shares purchased wittptbmissory note may be released from the pledgepro rata basis as the promissory

is paid.

15. EXCHANGE AND BUYOUT OF AWARDS. The Committee may, at any time or from timeinoet, authorize the
Company, with the consent of the respective Paditis, to issue new Awards in exchange for theeader and cancellation of any or all
outstanding Awards. The Committee may at any tingfrom a Participant an Award previously grantéth payment in cash, Shares
(including Restricted Stock) or other consideratio&sed on such terms and conditions as the Coeamwitid the Participant may agree.

16. SECURITIES LAW AND OTHER REGULATORY CO MPLIANCE . An Award will not be effective unless such
Award is in compliance with all applicable fedeaald state securities laws, rules and regulatiomspfgovernmental body, and the
requirements of any stock exchange or automatetatjioo system upon which the Shares may then tegllisr quoted, as they are in effect on
the date of grant of the Award and also on the dhé&xercise or other issuance. Notwithstandingather provision in this Plan, the Company
will have no obligation to issue or deliver cer#tes for Shares under this Plan prior to: (adiobtg any approvals from governmental
agencies that the Company determines are necemsadyisable; and/or (b) completion of any registraor other qualification of such Shares
under any state or federal law or ruling of anyeyownental body that the Company determines to bessary or advisable. The Company
be under no obligation to register the Shares thithSEC or to effect compliance with the registratiqualification or listing requirements of
any state securities laws, stock exchange or auémhtpiotation system, and the Company will havéaimlity for any inability or failure to do
s0.

17. NO OBLIGATION TO EMPLQOY . Nothing in this Plan or any Award granted unithés Plan will confer or be deemed to
confer on any Participant any right to continu¢hi@a employ of, or to continue any other relatiopshith, the Company or any Parent or
Subsidiary of the Company or limit in any way thght of the Company or any Parent or SubsidiarthefCompany to terminate Participant’s
employment or other relationship at any time, veittwithout cause.

18. CORPORATE TRANSACTIONS.

18.1 Assumption or Replacement of AwardShgcessor Except for automatic grants to Outside Direcfmrssuant to
Section 9 hereof, in the event of (a) a dissolutipfiquidation of the Company, (b) a merger orsaidation in which the Company is not the
surviving corporation (other than a merger or cdidation with a wholly-owned subsidiary, a reincoration of the Company in a different
jurisdiction, or other transaction in which thesenb substantial change in the stockholders o€dapany or their relative stock holdings ¢
the Awards granted under this Plan are assumedged®a or replaced by the successor corporatioichndssumption will be binding on all
Participants), (c) a merger in
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which the Company is the surviving corporation &fiér which the stockholders of the Company immiedifgorior to such merger (other than
any stockholder that merges, or which owns or amtinother corporation that merges, with the Campa such merger) cease to own their
shares or other equity interest in the Companyth@sale of substantially all of the assets ofCbenpany, or (e) the acquisition, sale, or
transfer of more than 50% of the outstanding shafféise Company by tender offer or similar trangac{each, a Corporate Transactior),
any or all outstanding Awards may be assumed, atewv@r replaced by the successor corporatiomgij,avhich assumption, conversion or
replacement will be binding on all Participants.the alternative, the successor corporation mhgtgute equivalent Awards or provide
substantially similar consideration to Participamtsvas provided to stockholders (after taking atoount the existing provisions of the
Awards). The successor corporation may also isaygace of outstanding Shares of the Company bglihe Participants, substantially
similar shares or other property subject to repaselrestrictions no less favorable to the Partitipén the event such successor corporation (if
any) refuses to assume or substitute Awards, agdaw above, pursuant to a transaction describ#dsrSubSection 18.1, such Awards will
expire on such transaction at such time and on soctitions as the Committee will determine. Ndwianding anything in this Plan to the
contrary, the Committee may, in its sole discretigmovide that the vesting of any or all Awardsrgeal pursuant to this Plan will accelerate
upon a transaction described in this Section 1&hel Committee exercises such discretion witheesfo Options, such Options will become
exercisable in full prior to the consummation ofls@vent at such time and on such conditions a€tmemittee determines, and if such
Options are not exercised prior to the consummaifdhe corporate transaction, they shall termiétguch time as determined by the
Committee.

18.2 Other Treatment of Award$Subject to any greater rights granted to Paitis under the foregoing provisions of
this Section 18, in the event of the occurrencanyf Corporate Transaction described in Section, Byt outstanding Awards will be treated as
provided in the applicable agreement or plan ofgeerconsolidation, dissolution, liquidation, otesaf assets.

18.3 Assumption of Awards by the Companighe Company, from time to time, also may subtibr assume
outstanding awards granted by another company h&hét connection with an acquisition of such otb@mpany or otherwise, by either;
(a) granting an Award under this Plan in substitutdf such other company’s award; or (b) assumirtdp @ward as if it had been granted under
this Plan if the terms of such assumed award coaldpplied to an Award granted under this PlarchSubstitution or assumption will be
permissible if the holder of the substituted omased award would have been eligible to be grantefiveard under this Plan if the other
company had applied the rules of this Plan to gaht. In the event the Company assumes an awandegl by another company, the terms
and conditions of such award will remain unchan@eaept that the exercise price and the numbenande of Shares issuable upon exercise
of any such option will be adjusted appropriatalyguant to Section 424(a) of the Code). In thenetlee Company elects to grant a new
Option rather than assuming an existing optionhswew Option may be granted with a similarly adjdsExercise Price.

19. ADOPTION AND STOCKHOLDER APPROVAL . This Plan will become effective on the date drcl the registration
statement filed by the Company with the SEC
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under the Securities Act registering the initiabjici offering of the Company’s Common Stock is @eetl effective by the SEC (the “
Effective Date”). This Plan shall be approved by the stockhald#rthe Company (excluding Shares issued purgoahis Plan), consistent
with applicable laws, within twelve (12) months tef or after the date this Plan is adopted by tha@& Upon the Effective Date, the
Committee may grant Awards pursuant to this Plaovided, however, that: (a) no Option may be exercised prior tbahstockholder
approval of this Plan; (b) no Option granted punduie an increase in the number of Shares suljabig Plan approved by the Board will be
exercised prior to the time such increase has bpproved by the stockholders of the Company; (¢hénevent that initial stockholder appra
is not obtained within the time period provideddiey all Awards granted hereunder shall be candelay Shares issued pursuant to any
Awards shall be cancelled and any purchase of Stissaed hereunder shall be rescinded; and (tigievent that stockholder approval of s
increase is not obtained within the time periodvited herein, all Awards granted pursuant to sacheiase will be cancelled, any Shares is
pursuant to any Award granted pursuant to sucteass will be cancelled, and any purchase of Sipamssiant to such increase will be
rescinded.

20. TERM OF PLAN/GOVERNING LAW . Unless earlier terminated as provided hereis,Rtan will terminate ten
(10) years from the date this Plan is adopted byBtbard or, if earlier, the date of stockholderrappl. This Plan and all agreements
thereunder shall be governed by and construedciordance with the laws of the State of California.

21. AMENDMENT OR TERMINATION OF PLAN . The Board may at any time terminate or amersiRfan in any respect,
including without limitation amendment of any foohAward Agreement or instrument to be executedpannt to this Plan; provided
however, that the Board will not, without the approvaltbé stockholders of the Company, amend this Plamjynmanner that requires such
stockholder approval.

22. NONEXCLUSIVITY OF THE PLAN . Neither the adoption of this Plan by the Bo#hé, submission of this Plan to the
stockholders of the Company for approval, nor amyigion of this Plan will be construed as creatamy limitations on the power of the Board
to adopt such additional compensation arrangenasnitsmay deem desirable, including, without lii¢ta, the granting of stock options and
bonuses otherwise than under this Plan, and suahgements may be either generally applicable plicgble only in specific cases.

23. INSIDER TRADING POLICY . Each Participant and Outsider Director who reegian Award shall comply with any
policy, adopted by the Company from time to timgering transactions in the Company’s securitiegimployees, officers and/or directors of
the Company.

24. DEFINITIONS. As used in this Plan, the following terms witlve the following meanings:
“ Award” means any award under this Plan, including antiddpRestricted Stock or Restricted Stock Unit.
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“ Award Agreement means, with respect to each Award, the signettevriagreement between the Company and the
Participant setting forth the terms and conditiohthe Award.

“ Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.

“ Cashless Exercisé means, to the extent that a Stock Option Agregme provides and as permitted by applicable &aw,
program approved by the Committee in which paynesay be made all or in part by delivery (on a fonrageribed by the Committee) of an
irrevocable direction to a securities broker td Shlres and to deliver all or part of the saleepeals to the Company in payment of the
aggregate Exercise Price and, if applicable, thewsrnecessary to satisfy the Company’s withholdibligations at the minimum statutory
withholding rates, including, but not limited to,%J federal and state income taxes, payroll texed foreign taxes, if applicable.

“ Cause” means (a) the commission of an act of theft, emalganent, fraud, dishonesty, (b) a breach of fidgcduty to the
Company or a Parent or Subsidiary of the Compar(g)ca failure to materially perform the customdryties of employee’s employment.

“ Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as aetend

“ Committee” means the Compensation Committee of the Board.

“ Company” means FormFactor, Inc. or any successor corgmrati

“ Disability ” means a disability, whether temporary or perméngartial or total, as determined by the Committee
“ Exchange Act’ means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, andet

“ Exercise Price’ means the price at which a holder of an Optioly marchase the Shares issuable upon exercise of the
Option.

“ Fair Market Value” means, as of any date, the value of a shareeo€thmpany’s Common Stock determined as follows:

(@) if such Common Stock is then quoted on the NasdafjabMarket, its closing price on the Nasdaq GldWarket
on the date of determination as reported in Thel Bta¢et Journal

(b) if such Common Stock is publicly traded and is thsted on a national securities exchange, itsitpprice on the
date of determination on the principal nationalsities exchange on which the Common Stock isdisteadmitted
to trading as reported in The Wall Street Journal

(c) if such Common Stock is publicly traded but is gobted on the Nasdag Global Market nor listed onittdd to
trading on a national securities
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exchange, the average of the closing bid and gstkees on the date of determination as reportéhaWall Street
Journal

(d) in the case of an Award made on the Effective Dthte price per share at which shares of the Conip&gymmon
Stock are initially offered for sale to the pulthig the Company’s underwriters in the initial puliditering of the
Company’s Common Stock pursuant to a registratiatesient filed with the SEC under the Securitie§ Ax

(e) if none of the foregoing is applicable, by the Coittee in good faith.

“ Family Member” includes any of the following:

(@) child, stepchild, grandchild, parent, stepparerandparent, spouse, former spouse, sibling, niegghew, mother-

in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-lalarother-in-law, or sister-in-law of the Participaimcluding any
such person with such relationship to the Partittifsy adoption;

(b) any person (other than a tenant or employee) sh#rmParticipant’s household;

(c) a trust in which the persons in (a) and (b) haveentizan fifty percent of the beneficial interest;

(d) a foundation in which the persons in (a) and (therParticipant control the management of aseets;

(e) any other entity in which the persons in (a) andofithe Participant own more than fifty percenttod voting
interest.

“ Insider ” means an officer or director of the Company oy ather person whose transactions in the Compadgamon
Stock are subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act

“ Option” means an award of an option to purchase Shamssi@uot to Section 5.

“ Outside Director’ means a member of the Board who is not an emplayehe Company or any Parent or Subsidiary.

“ Parent” means any corporation (other than the Companghininbroken chain of corporations ending withGoenpany if
each of such corporations other than the Compams®tock possessing 50% or more of the total comtbitoting power of all classes of stc
in one of the other corporations in such chain.

“ Participant” means a person who receives an Award under this P
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“ Performance Factors means the factors selected by the Committee frorong the following measures to determine
whether the performance goals established by tmentitiee and applicable to Awards have been satiisfie

(@)
(b)
(©)
(d)
(e)
(f)

(9)
(h)
(i)

0

(k)

Net revenue and/or net revenue growth;

Earnings before income taxes and amortization aredimings before income taxes and amortizatiowtro
Operating income and/or operating income growth;

Net income and/or net income growth;

Earnings per share and/or earnings per share growth

Total stockholder return and/or total stockholdgum growth;

Return on equity;

Operating cash flow return on income;

Adjusted operating cash flow return on income;

Economic value added; and

Individual confidential business objectives.

“ Performance Period means the period of service determined by the @itae, not to exceed five years, during which
years of service or performance is to be measuneRdstricted Stock Awards Restricted Stock Ui

“ Plan” means this FormFactor, Inc. 2002 Equity Incentitan, as amended from time to time.

“ Restricted Stock Awartimeans an award of Shares pursuant to Section 7.

“ Restricted Stock Unit means a bookkeeping entry representing the etprivaf one Share, as awarded under the Plan

pursuant to Section 8.

“ SEC” means the Securities and Exchange Commission.

“ Securities Act’ means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

“ Shares” means shares of the Company’s Common Stock reddor issuance under this Plan, as adjusted poirsoia
Sections 2 and 18, and any successor security.

“ Subsidiary” means any corporation (other than the Compangniinbroken chain of corporations beginning wlith t
Company if each of the corporations other thardhe
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corporation in the unbroken chain owns stock passgH0% or more of the total combined voting poofeall classes of stock in one of the
other corporations in such chain.

“ Termination” or “ Terminated” means, for purposes of this Plan with respeet Rarticipant, that the Participant has for
any reason ceased to provide services as an eneplofficer, director, consultant, independent cactior, or advisor to the Company or a
Parent or Subsidiary of the Company. An employ#éenat be deemed to have ceased to provide sexvitehe case of (i) sick leave,
(i) military leave, or (iii) any other leave of sénce approved by the Committee, provided, thdt Rave is for a period of not more than 90
days, unless reemployment upon the expiration ol $eave is guaranteed by contract or statute lesarprovided otherwise pursuant to for
policy adopted from time to time by the Company &sdied and promulgated to employees in writimgthe case of any employee on an
approved leave of absence, the Committee may madtegovisions respecting suspension of vesting@fward while on leave from the
employ of the Company or a Subsidiary as it mayrdaeppropriate, except that in no event may an @gimexercised after the expiration of
the term set forth in the Option agreement. Thm@dtee will have sole discretion to determine vileeta Participant has ceased to provide
services and the effective date on which the Rpait ceased to provide services (tHeefmination Date”).

“ Unvested Sharesmeans “Unvested Shares” as defined in the Awagdedment.
“ Vested Share§ means “Vested Shares” as defined in the Awarde&grent.
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EXHIBIT 21.01

LIST OF REGISTRANT'S SUBSIDIARIES

SUBSIDIARY NAME JURISDICTION OF ORGANIZATION
FormFactor Electronics Trading (Shanghai) Co., People's Republic of Chir
FormFactor Germany Gmb Germany

FormFactor Hungary Licensing Limited Liability Cosnpy Hungary

FormFactor International, In Delaware, United State
FormFactor, KK Japar

FormFactor Korea, Inc South Kore:

FormFactor Pte. Ltc Singapore

FormFactor Singapore Pte. L Singapore
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EXHIBIT 23.01
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporationdfgrence in the Registration Statements on Forn{I{$8333-106043, 333-115137, 333-
125918, 333-139074, 333-148198, 333-149411, 33&UBaAnd 33365058) of FormFactor, Inc. of our report datedrbaty 17, 2011 relatir
to the financial statements and the effectivenéasternal control over financial reporting, whieppears in this Form 10-K.

/s/ PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

San Jose, California
February 17, 2011
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EXHIBIT 31.01
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 15 U.S.C. SECTION 7241, AS
ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Thomas St. Dennis, certify that:
1. | have reviewed the annual report on Form 10-KaffFactor, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omdt&te a material fact necessary to

make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$,oéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdth@ periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @efined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and proceduiies ttesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pneszh

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finaha@gaorting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoee with generally accepted accounting principles

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slaisire controls and procedures and presentedsimetport our conclusior
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contants procedures, as of the end of the period cougyeddis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regitsanternal control over financial reporting tloacurred during the registran
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofigital quarter in the case of an annual repod) lttas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regisit's internal control over financial reportingpan

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | badisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationterhal control over financi:
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thatanmmmittee of the registrant's board of direct@ispersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(@)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofmancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the itegig's ability to record, process, summarize aprt financial information; ar

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmagement or other employees who have a signifrodain the registrant
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 17, 2011 /sl THOMAS ST. DENNIS

Thomas St. Dennis
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer and Directo
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EXHIBIT 31.02
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 15 U.S.C. SECTION 7241,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Richard Delateur, certify that:
1. | have reviewed the annual report on Form 10-KafifFactor, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omdt&te a material fact necessary to

make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$oéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdth@ periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @efined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and proceduiies ttesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pneszh

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finaha@gaorting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoee with generally accepted accounting principles

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slaisire controls and procedures and presentedsimetport our conclusior
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contants procedures, as of the end of the period cougyeddis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regitsanternal control over financial reporting tloacurred during the registran
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofigital quarter in the case of an annual repod) lttas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regisit's internal control over financial reportingpan

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | badisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationterhal control over financi:
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thatanmmmittee of the registrant's board of direct@ispersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(@)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofmancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the itegig's ability to record, process, summarize aprt financial information; ar

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmagement or other employees who have a signifrodain the registrant
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 17, 2011 /s/ RICHARD DELATEUR

Richard DeLateur

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accoumtj
Officer)
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EXHIBIT 32.01

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report onrrdi0-K of FormFactor, Inc., a Delaware corporation,the period ended December 25, 2010,
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commigsach of the undersigned officers of FormFadiar, certifies pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 9@&dBarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to his retspe knowledge:

(1) the annual report fully complies with the requirenseof Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securitiestznge Act of 1934, as
amended; and

(2) the information contained in the annual reportiygiresents, in all material respects, the findnmadition and results ¢
operations of FormFactor, Inc. for the periods enésd therein.

Date: February 17, 2011 /sl THOMAS ST. DENNIS

Thomas St. Dennis
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer and Directo

Date: February 17, 201 /s/ RICHARD DELATEUR

Richard DelLateur

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accoumtj
Officer)
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